PROPERLY PROXIMAL GROUPS AND VON NEUMANN ALGEBRAS

By

Changying Ding

Dissertation

Submitted to the Faculty of the
Graduate School of Vanderbilt University
in partial fulfillment of the requirements
for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

Mathematics

May 12th, 2023

Nashville, Tennessee

Approved:

Jesse Peterson, Ph.D.

Dietmar Bisch, Ph.D.

Spencer Dowdall, Ph.D.

Denis Osin, Ph.D.

Robert Scherrer, Ph.D.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I want to start by expressing my sincere gratitude to my advisor Jesse Peterson. I owe him a debt of gratitude for his extraordinary generosity, kindness, and patience for being a crucial part of my career. He was the one who introduced me to a variety of fascinating areas of mathematical research, and I would not have come this far without his unwavering guidance and encouragement.

In addition, I've had the good fortune to learn from a number of talented mathematicians. I want to express my gratitude to Adrian Ioana and Ionut Chifan for their stimulating conversations and unwavering support of my career development. I'd also like to thank Brent Nelson, Sorin Popa, Dimitri Shlyakhtenko, Rolando de Santiago, and Thomas Sinclair for hosting me at their beautiful institutions and for their academic advice. Special thanks to my collaborator and friend Srivatsav Kunnawalkam Elayavalli for the collaboration and his continued encouragement.

I also want to express my gratitude to the other committee members, Dietmar Bisch, Spencer Dowdall, Denis Osin, and Robert Scherrer, for their support throughout my doctoral program.

My stay at Vanderbilt has been very much enjoyed. For this, I must thank all the faculty members and staff, as well as my fellow graduate students.

Last and most importantly, I would like to convey my sincere appreciation to my family whose unconditional support is the best thing I ever have had. I could not finish my Ph.D. without them.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			Page
1	Int	roduction	1
	1.1	Background on von Neumann algebras	1
	1.2	Background on properly proximal groups	2
	1.3	Main results	3
		1.3.1 Chapter 2: Properly proximal von Neumann algebras	
		1.3.2 Chapter 3: Proper proximality and first ℓ^2 -Betti numbers	5
2	Pro	operly proximal von Neumann algebras	7
	2.1	Introduction	7
	2.2	Preliminaries	12
		2.2.1 The extended Haagerup tensor product	12
		2.2.2 Strong operator bimodules	13
		2.2.3 Universal representations of normal <i>M-N</i> bimodules	16
	2.3	Relatively compact operators	19
	2.4	The convolution algebra associated to a von Neumann algebra	25
		2.4.1 Convolution algebras associated to finite von Neumann algebras	26
	2.5	Mixing operator bimodules	28
		2.5.1 A relative topology on the convolution algebra	28
		2.5.2 Relatively mixing bimodules	30
		2.5.3 Mixing Hilbert bimodules	35
	2.6	Properly proximal von Neumann algebras	38
	2.0	2.6.1 Proper proximality relative to the amenable boundary piece	45
	2.7	Biexact groups and properly proximal von Neumann algebras	47
	2.8	Properly proximal actions and crossed products	48
		* * *	
	2.9	Proper proximality and deformation/rigidity theory	59
		2.9.1 Proper proximality via malleable deformations	59
		2.9.2 Proper proximality via closable derivations	63
3	Pro	oper proximality and first ℓ^2 -Betti numbers $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	69
	3.1	Introduction	69
	3.2	Preliminaries	72
		3.2.1 Popa's intertwining-by-bimodules	72
		3.2.2 Relative amenability	72
		3.2.3 Mixing subalgebras of finite von Neumann algebras	72
		3.2.4 Proper proximality	72
		3.2.4.1 Boundary pieces	73
		3.2.4.2 A bidual characterization	74
	3.3	From non-proper proximality to relative amenability	76
	5.5	3.3.1 Boundary pieces in the bidual	76
		3.3.2 Proof of Proposition 3.3.1	78
	3.4		81
	3.4	From relative amenability to rigidity	85
	٥.٥	r 10018 of maili dicolcins	
-			07

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

The purpose of this dissertation is to study the notion of proper proximality in the context of groups and von Neumann algebras, as well as various rigidity phenomena of properly proximal groups and von Neumann algebras.

The content of Chapter 2 is obtained in collaboration with Srivatsa Kunnawalkam Elayavalli and Jesse Peterson. We generalize the notion of proper proximality from groups to von Neumann algebras and provide various examples of such von Neumann algebras that do not arise from the regular representation of properly proximal groups. We also show that any subfactor of a free group factor $L\mathbb{F}_n$ is either amenable or properly proximal.

In Chapter 3, we study connections among properly proximal groups, first ℓ^2 -Betti numbers and orbit equivalence relations, utilizing von Neumann algebraic techniques developed in Chapter 2. While rigidity properties of properly proximal von Neumann algebras are demonstrated in Chapter 2, the goal of this chapter is to show that non-properly proximal groups also possess certain rigidity phenomena. For instance, the orbit equivalence relations of Bernoulli shifts of certain non-properly proximal groups entirely remember the actions, up to conjugacy. Along similar lines, we show exact groups with positive first ℓ^2 -Betti numbers are properly proximal, via cocycle superrigidity of non-properly proximal groups.

1.1 Background on von Neumann algebras

Let \mathscr{H} be a Hilbert space over the complex number \mathbb{C} , and denote by $\mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})$ the set of uniformly bounded linear operators $T:\mathscr{H}\to\mathscr{H}$. Then $\mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})$ forms a unital *-algebra under linear combination, composition and taking adjoint, and its identity is given by the identity map on \mathscr{H} . Besides the norm topology on $\mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})$, one may also consider the weak operator topology: this is a locally convex topology given by seminorms of the form $|\langle T\xi, \eta \rangle|$, where $\xi, \eta \in \mathscr{H}$ and $T \in \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})$.

A *von Neumann algebra* is a *-subalgebra of $\mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ that contains the identity and is closed in the weak operator topology. This notion was first introduced in a series of works of Murray and von Neumann [MvN36, MvN37, vN40, MvN43a]. One of the fundamental theorems in von Neumann algebras is that a *-subalgebra $M \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ that contains the identity is a von Neumann algebra if and only if it equals its bi-commutant: M = M'' where we denote by $S' = \{T \in \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H}) \mid TR = RT \text{ for all } R \in S\}$ for any set $S \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$.

Von Neumann algebras arise naturally from countable groups and their actions on probability spaces [MvN36, MvN43a].

Example 1.1.1 (Group von Neumann algebras). Given a countable group Γ , consider its left regular representation $\lambda:\Gamma\to\mathbb{B}(\ell^2\Gamma)$ satisfying $\lambda_g\delta_t=\delta_{gt}$ for any $g,t\in\Gamma$. The group von Neumann algebra $L\Gamma$ is the von Neumann algebra generated by $\{\lambda_g\mid g\in\Gamma\}$ inside $\mathbb{B}(\ell^2\Gamma)$. In other words, $L\Gamma=\{\lambda_g\mid g\in\Gamma\}''\subset\mathbb{B}(\ell^2\Gamma)$.

Example 1.1.2 (Group measure space construction). Let $\sigma : \Gamma \curvearrowright (X, \mu)$ be a measure preserving action of a countable group Γ on a standard probability space (X, μ) . Consider the associated Koopman representation $\pi : \Gamma \to \mathbb{B}(L^2(X,\mu) \otimes \ell^2\Gamma)$ satisfying $\pi_g(f \otimes \delta_t) = \sigma_g(f) \otimes \delta_{gt}$. The von Neumann algebra generated by $f \otimes 1$, $f \in L^{\infty}(X,\mu)$ and $\pi_g, g \in \Gamma$, denoted by $L^{\infty}(X,\mu) \rtimes_{\sigma} \Gamma$, is called the group measure space construction associated to $\sigma : \Gamma \curvearrowright (X,\mu)$.

A major theme in the area remains to classify $L\Gamma$ in terms of the group Γ , and $L^{\infty}(X) \rtimes \Gamma$ in terms of the group action $\Gamma \curvearrowright (X, \mu)$. A case of emphasis is when the von Neumann algebras are II_1 factors, i.e., their center consists only of multiples of the identity, which corresponds to the groups having infinite nontrivial conjugacy classes (i.c.c.) and is implied by the action being free ergodic and probability measure preserving (p.m.p), respectively. Moreover, under the later assumption, $L^{\infty}(X)$ is a *Cartan subalgebra* of $L^{\infty}(X) \rtimes \Gamma$, that is, a maximal abelian subalgebra whose normalizer generates $L^{\infty}(X) \rtimes \Gamma$.

The classification of Π_1 factors is governed by a strong amenable/nonamenable dichotomy. Early work in this area culminated with Connes' celebrated classification of amenable factors in the 1970's [Con76a], which implies that all Π_1 factors arising from countable infinite amenable groups and their ergodic p.m.p. actions are isomorphic to the hyperfinite Π_1 factor. By contrast, the nonamenable case turned out to be extremely difficult, largely remaining intractable. It was only after Popa's discovery of deformation/rigidity theory in the early 2000s [Pop07b] that drastic advances in classification of von Neumann algebras have been achieved in recent years.

1.2 Background on properly proximal groups

In [Oza04], Ozawa showed that for $n \ge 2$, $L\mathbb{F}_n$ satisfies solidity: if $B \subset L\mathbb{F}_n$ is any nonamenable von Neumann subalgebra, then the relative commutant $B' \cap L\mathbb{F}_n$ is not diffuse (see also [Pop07c, Pet09b]). More generally, he introduced the notion of *biexact* groups and showed that if Γ is biexact, then $L\Gamma$ shares the same solidity property as $L\mathbb{F}_n$, generalizing [Ge96].

Combining biexactness with Popa's deformation/rigidity theory, Ozawa and Popa in [OP10a, OP10b] showed that $L\Gamma$, for $\Gamma = \mathbb{F}_n$, $n \geq 2$, and more generally for Γ weakly amenable and biexact (e.g. hyperbolic), satisfies strong solidity, which implies the absence of Cartan subalgebras for $L\Gamma$ and generalizes [Voi96]. A further generalization showing that every ergodic p.m.p. action $\mathbb{F}_n \curvearrowright (X, \mu)$ gives rise to a crossed product with unique (up to conjugacy) Cartan subalgebra was developed in [PV14a, PV14b], reducing the classi-

fication of such group measure space II_1 factors to the orbit equivalence relations of $\mathbb{F}_n \curvearrowright (X, \mu)$ [Sin55] [Gab00].

In [BIP21], Boutonnet, Ioana and Peterson generalized biexact methods and introduced the class of *properly proximal* groups, which includes $SL_n(\mathbb{Z})$ for all $n \geq 2$, and showed that if Γ is properly proximal, then $L^{\infty}(X) \rtimes \Gamma$ has a unique weakly compact (in the sense of [OP10a]) Cartan subalgebra, for every free ergodic p.m.p. action $\Gamma \curvearrowright (X, \mu)$. Prior to [BIP21], results concerning $SL_n(\mathbb{Z})$, $n \geq 3$ are mostly obtained through Property (T) [Pop06c, Pop06d, Ioa11, Bou13].

Now we recall definitions of biexact and properly proximal groups and gather some examples. For details, see [BO08, Chapter 15] and [BIP21].

Let $\ell^{\infty}\Gamma$ be the set of uniformly bounded complex valued functions on a group Γ , and $c_0\Gamma \subset \ell^{\infty}\Gamma$ is the closure of finitely supported functions under the uniform norm. By $\operatorname{Prob}(\Gamma)$, we mean positive functions in $\ell^1\Gamma$ with ℓ^1 -norm 1. The group Γ admits two commuting actions on $\ell^{\infty}\Gamma$: $L_t f(\cdot) = f(t^{-1}\cdot)$ and $R_t f(\cdot) = f(\cdot t)$ for $t \in \Gamma$ and $f \in \ell^{\infty}\Gamma$. Set $\mathbb{S}(\Gamma) = \{f \in \ell^{\infty}\Gamma \mid f - R_t f \in c_0\Gamma$, for all $t \in \Gamma\}$, which is a unital commutative C^* -algebra, and hence we may identify it with $C(\bar{\Gamma})$ via Gelfand transform, where $\bar{\Gamma}$ is the spectrum of $\mathbb{S}(\Gamma)$ and the action $\Gamma \curvearrowright^L \mathbb{S}(\Gamma)$ naturally induces an action $\Gamma \curvearrowright \bar{\Gamma}$.

We say Γ is biexact if there exists a sequence of continuous map $\mu_n : \bar{\Gamma} \to \operatorname{Prob}(\Gamma)$ such that $\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{x \in \bar{\Gamma}} \|\mu_n(t.x) - L_t \mu_n(x)\| = 0$ for any $t \in \Gamma$, i.e., $\Gamma \curvearrowright \bar{\Gamma}$ is a topologically amenable action.

Examples of biexact groups include amenable groups, hyperbolic groups, $\mathbb{Z}^2 \rtimes SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$, free products of biexact groups and wreath products of amenable groups by biexact groups.

We say Γ is properly proximal if there does not exists a state $\varphi : \mathbb{S}(\Gamma) \to \mathbb{C}$ such that $\varphi_{|c_0\Gamma} = 0$ and Γ -invariant, i.e., $\varphi(L_t \cdot) = \varphi(\cdot)$ for any $t \in \Gamma$.

As a generalization of biexact groups, the family of properly proximal groups contains all nonamenable biexact groups. This family also includes lattices in noncompact semisimple Lie groups, nonamenable biexact groups, nonelementary convergence groups [BIP21], CAT(0) cubical groups, nonelementary mapping class groups [HHL20], wreath products $\Lambda \wr \Gamma$ with Λ nontrivial and Γ nonamenable [DKE22], and is stable under measure equivalence and W*-equivalence [IPR19]. Inner amenable groups are not properly proximal, but this is not the only obstruction [IPR19].

1.3 Main results

This dissertation contains the study of properly proximal groups and von Neumann algebras, emphasizing their rigidity features. We collect the main results from each chapter in the following.

1.3.1 Chapter 2: Properly proximal von Neumann algebras

It was shown in [IPR19] that the class of properly proximal groups is also stable under W*-equivalence, i.e., if Γ and Λ satisfy $L\Gamma \cong L\Lambda$, then Γ is properly proximal if and only if Λ is. This suggests that the notion of proper proximality should be able to be formulated in a purely von Neumann algebraic context. However, the ad hoc argument given in [IPR19] does not give direct evidence on how to achieve this.

One could try an obvious approach to define proper proximality for von Neumann algebras, based on the analogy between groups and von Neumann algebras (see [Con76b]), but [Pop87] immediately implies that this obvious approach fails.

In [DKEP22], we overcame this difficulty by considering instead a strong completion of the compact operators in the sense of Magajna [Mag97, Mag98, Mag00], which we view as both an operator *M*-bimodule and an operator *JMJ*-bimodule. See Section 2.6 for the precise definition of properly proximal von Neumann algebras.

Theorem 1.3.1 (See Theorem 2.6.4). Let Γ be a group. Then Γ is properly proximal if and only if $L\Gamma$ is properly proximal.

Apart from group von Neumann algebras of properly proximal groups, we also provided several other examples of properly proximal von Neumann algebras in the settings of free products, crossed products, and compact quantum groups.

We also obtain the following dichotomy for subalgebras of von Neumann algebras associated with biexact groups.

Theorem 1.3.2 (See Theorem 2.7.1). If Γ is a biexact group, then every von Neumann subalgebra of $L\Gamma$ is either properly proximal or has an amenable direct summand.

To put this into context, Effros established in [Eff75] that if Γ is a group such that $L\Gamma$ has property (Gamma), then Γ must be inner amenable. Vaes constructed in [Vae12] examples of inner amenable groups so that the group von Neumann algebra does not have property (Gamma). Since Ozawa's solidity theorem shows that every nonamenable subalgebra of $L\mathbb{F}_2$ does not have property (Gamma), Popa asked if it is still true that the group von Neumann algebra of a nonamenable inner amenable group cannot embed into $L\mathbb{F}_2$ [Pop21]. We obtained an answer to Popa's question as a corollary of Theorem 2.6.4 and Theorem 1.3.2.

Corollary 1.3.3. Let Γ be a nonamenable biexact group (e.g. $\Gamma = \mathbb{F}_2$) and Λ a nonamenable inner-amenable group. Then there does not exist embeddings of $L\Lambda \hookrightarrow L\Gamma$.

As a consequence of the tools we developed, we were also able to show the equivalence between the Haagerup property defined in [Cho83], and the compact approximation property defined in [AD95] for finite

von Neumann algebras (see also [Jol02, p. 559]). This generalizes Proposition 4.16 in [AD95], where the equivalence was established for group von Neumann algebras by showing that, in this case, both properties are equivalent to the Haagerup property for the group.

Theorem 1.3.4 (See Theorem 2.1.3). Let M be a finite von Neumann algebra with normal faithful trace τ . The following conditions are equivalent:

- 1. M has the Haagerup property.
- 2. *M has the compact approximation property.*
- 3. There exists a net $\{\phi_i\}_i$ of normal completely positive maps from M to M such that
 - (a) for all $x \in M$ we have $\lim_i \phi_i(x) = x$ (σ -weakly);
 - (b) for all $\xi \in L^2M$ and $i \in I$, the map $x \mapsto \phi_i(x)\xi$ is compact from the normed space M to L^1M .

1.3.2 Chapter 3: Proper proximality and first ℓ^2 -Betti numbers

The class of groups with positive first ℓ^2 -Betti numbers has been extensively studied in the context of von Neumann algebras [Pet09b, PS12, Ioa12a, Ioa12b, CP13, CS13, Vae13]. For a nonamenable countable group Γ , having positive first ℓ^2 -Betti number, $\beta_1^{(2)}(\Gamma) > 0$, is equivalent to the existence of unbounded cocycle into its left regular representation.

In [Din22], using techniques developed in [DKEP22, DKE22], the connection between first ℓ^2 -Betti numbers and proper proximality was established, under a mild technical assumption.

Theorem 1.3.5 (See Theorem 3.1.1). Let Γ be a countable exact group. If $\beta_1^{(2)}(\Gamma) > 0$, then Γ is properly proximal.

The approach to Theorem 3.1.1 is rather indirect in [Din22], as it is a combination of [PS12, Corollary 1.2] and the following theorem.

Theorem 1.3.6 (See Theorem 3.1.2). Let Γ be a countable group, (X_0, μ_0) be a diffuse standard probability space and $\Gamma \curvearrowright (X_0^{\Gamma}, \mu_0^{\Gamma}) =: (X, \mu)$ be the Bernoulli action. If Γ is exact and contains a nonamenable non-properly proximal normal subgroup, then $\Gamma \curvearrowright (X, \mu)$ is $\{\mathbb{T}\}$ -cocycle superrigid.

Another theme in [Din22] is the rigidity of Bernoulli shifts of non-properly proximal group.

Theorem 1.3.7 (See Theorem 3.1.3). Let Γ be a countable group with infinite conjugacy classes (i.c.c.), (X_0, μ_0) be a diffuse standard probability space and $\Gamma \curvearrowright (X_0^\Gamma, \mu_0^\Gamma) =: (X, \mu)$ be the Bernoulli action. Let Λ be a countable group and $\Lambda \curvearrowright (Y, V)$ a free ergodic p.m.p. action such that $L^\infty(Y) \rtimes \Lambda \cong (L^\infty(X) \rtimes \Gamma)^t$ for some

 $0 < t \le 1$. If Λ is exact and contains a nonamenable, non-properly proximal normal subgroup, then t = 1 and $\Gamma \curvearrowright X$ and $\Lambda \curvearrowright Y$ are conjugate.

Since proper proximality and exactness is stable under measure equivalence [IPR19, Oza07], Theorem 3.1.3 also implies the following orbit equivalence superrigidity result.

Theorem 1.3.8 (See Theorem 3.1.4). Let Γ be a countable nonamenable i.c.c. group (X_0, μ_0) be a diffuse standard probability space and $\Gamma \curvearrowright (X_0^{\Gamma}, \mu_0^{\Gamma}) =: (X, \mu)$ be the Bernoulli action. If Γ is exact and non-properly proximal, then $\Gamma \curvearrowright X$ is OE-superrigid, i.e., if $\Lambda \curvearrowright (Y, \nu)$ is orbit equivalent to $\Gamma \curvearrowright (X, \mu)$, then these two actions are conjugate.

As a consequence, every nonamenable exact group has at least one desirable rigidity property, depending on whether or not it is properly proximal: either every group measure space Π_1 factor has at most one weakly compact Cartan subalgebra, or else the Bernoulli shift is OE-superrigid.

CHAPTER 2

Properly proximal von Neumann algebras

2.1 Introduction

A fundamental concept in the theory of von Neumann algebras is the notion of property (Gamma) introduced by Murray and von Neumann [MvN43b], which, for a II₁ factors, asserts the existence of nontrivial asymptotic central sequences. The absence of this property for the free group factor $L\mathbb{F}_2$ allowed Murray and von Neumann to distinguish it from the amenable II₁ factor R, giving the first examples of non-isomorphic separable II₁ factors. The subsequent development of the concept played a key role in many of the groundbreaking results advancing the theory of II₁ factors, e.g., [McD69a, McD69b, Con76a, CW80]. The asymptotic central sequence algebra $M' \cap M^{\omega}$ corresponding to a free ultrafilter $\omega \in \beta \mathbb{N} \setminus \mathbb{N}$ continues to be an important tool in the recent study of von Neumann algebras, e.g., [Pop08, Pop10, HI16, Oza16, BCI17, DV18, BMO20].

A strong refutation of property (Gamma) for $L\mathbb{F}_2$ was found by Ozawa in [Oza04], where he showed that if $B \subset L\mathbb{F}_2$ is any nonamenable von Neumann subalgebra, then the asymptotic commutant $B' \cap (L\mathbb{F}_2)^{\omega}$ is not diffuse, i.e., it must possess a minimal projection. In particular, the relative commutant $B' \cap L\mathbb{F}_2$ is also not diffuse, i.e., $L\mathbb{F}_2$ is solid (see also [Pop07c, Pet09b]). The key property that Ozawa was able to exploit was the C^* -algebraic property established by Akemann and Ostrand in [AO75] that the *-homomorphism

$$C_{\lambda}^* \mathbb{F}_2 \otimes C_{\rho}^* \mathbb{F}_2 \ni \sum_{i=1}^n a_i \otimes x_i \mapsto \sum_{i=1}^n a_i x_i \in \mathbb{B}(\ell^2 \mathbb{F}_2),$$

although not continuous with respect to the minimal tensor product, becomes continuous once it is composed with the quotient map onto the Calkin algebra $\mathbb{B}(\ell^2\mathbb{F}_2)/\mathbb{K}(\ell^2\mathbb{F}_2)$.

A compactification $\overline{\Gamma}$ of a group Γ is said to be small at infinity if the right action of Γ on itself extends to the trivial action on the boundary $\partial\Gamma$. Every small at infinity compactification is the equivariant image of a universal such compactification, which can be identified (as a $\Gamma \times \Gamma$ -space) as the spectrum of the C^* -algebra

$$\mathbb{S}(\Gamma) = \{ f \in \ell^{\infty}\Gamma \mid f - R_t(f) \in c_0(\Gamma), \ t \in \Gamma \} \subset \ell^{\infty}\Gamma.$$

A group Γ is biexact if left action of Γ on the spectrum of $\mathbb{S}(\Gamma)$ is topologically amenable in the sense of [AD87]. biexact groups form a robust class of groups that admit a number of different equivalent characterizations (see [BO08, Chapter 15] and the references therein) and Ozawa showed that if Γ is biexact, then $L\Gamma$ shares the same solidity property as $L\mathbb{F}_2$.

Solidity of a nonamenable von Neumann algebra implies, in particular, that it cannot decompose as the tensor product of two II_1 factors. Thus, Ozawa's solidity result for $L\mathbb{F}_2$ generalizes the result of Ge [Ge96], where he deduced primeness using free probability techniques. A further generalization was obtained by Ozawa and Popa in [OP10a, OP10b], where they show that $L\mathbb{F}_2$ is strongly solid in the sense that the normalizer of any diffuse amenable sublagebra generates another amenable sublagebra, which also generalizes Voiculescu's result that $L\mathbb{F}_2$ does not have a Cartan subalgebra [Voi96]. A further generalization showing that every ergodic probability measure preserving (p.m.p.) action of \mathbb{F}_2 gives rise to a crossed product with unique (up to conjugacy) Cartan subalgebra was developed in [PV14a, PV14b]

To establish strong solidity Ozawa and Popa introduced the notion of a weakly compact action $\Gamma \curvearrowright (A, \tau)$ of a group on a tracial von Neumann algebra, which requires the existence of a state φ on $\mathbb{B}(L^2(A,\tau))$ such that $\varphi_{|A} = \tau$, and φ is both A-central and Γ -invariant for the conjugation action of Γ on $\mathbb{B}(L^2(A,\tau))$. They then prove two separate results. First, using weak amenability for \mathbb{F}_2 , they establish that if $A \subset M \subset L\mathbb{F}_2$ is an inclusion with $A \subset M$ diffuse and regular, then the action of the normalizer $\mathscr{N}_M(A) \curvearrowright A$ is weakly compact. Second, they show that if $\mathscr{N}_M(A) \curvearrowright A$ is weakly compact, then M must be amenable. Extending results from [Sin11], the latter result was shown by Chifan and Sinclair to still be the case for all group von Neumann algebras $L\Gamma$ associated with a biexact group Γ [CS13].

In order to generalize Ozawa's biexactness methods to a larger class of groups Boutonnet, Ioana and the third author introduced in [BIP21] the notion of proper proximality for a group Γ by requiring that the C^* -algebra $\mathbb{S}(\Gamma)$ does not have a state that it invariant under the left action of Γ . Since a topologically amenable action has an invariant state if and only if the group is amenable, one sees that all nonamenable biexact groups are properly proximal. The class of properly proximal groups though includes many other groups, including nonelementary relatively hyperbolic groups, convergence groups, lattices in non-compact semi-simple Lie groups with finite center, groups admitting a proper cocycle into a nonamenable representation, mapping class groups, many CAT(0) groups, and wreath products $\Sigma \wr \Lambda$ where Σ is nontrivial and Λ is nonamenable [BIP21, HHL20, DE21]. Moreover, the class of properly proximal groups is closed under extensions, and under measure-equivalence [BIP21, IPR19]. Contrariwise, natural examples of non-properly proximal groups are given by groups that are inner amenable, i.e., for which there exists a conjugation invariant state $\varphi : \ell^\infty \Gamma \to \mathbb{C}$ satisfying $\varphi_{|C_0(\Gamma)} = 0$.

The von Neumann algebras associated with properly proximal groups share some of the rigidity properties of those associated with biexact groups. For example, if Γ is properly proximal, then $L\Gamma$ does not have property (Gamma) and $L\Gamma$ does not have a diffuse regular von Neumann subalgebra $A \subset L\Gamma$ such that $\mathcal{N}_{L\Gamma}(A) \curvearrowright A$ is weakly compact [BIP21]. Although, unlike for biexact groups, these rigidity properties do not pass to nonamenable von Neumann subalgebras.

It was shown in [IPR19] that the class of properly proximal groups is also stable under W^* -equivalence, i.e., if Γ and Λ satisfy $L\Gamma \cong L\Lambda$, then Γ is properly proximal if and only if Λ is. This suggests that the notion of proper proximality should be able to be formulated in a purely von Neumann algebraic context. However, the ad hoc argument given in [IPR19] does not give direct evidence on how to achieve this. Based on the analogy between groups and von Neumann algebras (see [Con76b]), a naive approach would be to ask that there does not exist an M-central state on the C^* -algebra $\{T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M) \mid [T,JxJ] \in \mathbb{K}(L^2M), \text{ for all } x \in M\}$, where J is the conjugation operator. However, Popa showed in [Pop87] that the above C^* -algebra coincides with $M + \mathbb{K}(L^2M)$ (cf. also [JP72]), and it is then easy to see that M-central states will always exist.

Another approach is suggested by Ozawa in [Oza10] where he considers \mathbb{K}_M , the space of operators $T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ such that both T and T^* are compact when viewed as operators from $M \subset L^2M$ with the uniform norm into L^2M . This forms a hereditary C^* -subalgebra that contains M and JMJ in its multiplier algebra $M(\mathbb{K}_M)$, and one may then consider the C^* -algebra $S(M) = \{T \in M(\mathbb{K}_M) \mid [T,JxJ] \in \mathbb{K}_M$, for all $x \in M\}$ as an analogue of $\mathbb{S}(\Gamma)$ in the von Neumann algebra setting. In some cases, this C^* -algebra is robust enough to capture the notion of proper proximality. For example, it is shown in [MR17, Corollary 4.10, (iii)] that for \mathbb{F}_2 , if we view the space of continuous function on the Gromov boundary as a C^* -subalgebra of $\ell^\infty \mathbb{F}_2 \subset \mathbb{B}(\ell^2 \mathbb{F}_2)$, then this is included in $S(L\mathbb{F}_2)$. As a consequence it follows that $S(L\mathbb{F}_2)$ does not have an $L\mathbb{F}_2$ -central state. However, for general groups it is unclear why $\mathbb{S}(\Gamma)$ (or even a sufficiently large C^* -subalgebra) would embed into $S(L\Gamma)$, since even if we know that the commutator [T,JxJ] is in Ozawa's space of compact operators for $x \in C^*_\lambda(\Gamma)$, there are no general techniques to ensure that this holds also for $x \in L\Gamma$.

We overcome these difficulties by considering instead a strong completion of the compact operators in the sense of Magajna [Mag97, Mag98, Mag00], which we view as both an operator M-bimodule and an operator JMJ-bimodule. Using the noncommutative Grothendieck inequality in a similar manner to Ozawa in [Oza10], we show in Corollary 2.3.2 that this completion coincides with the closure $\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M)$ of $\mathbb{K}(L^2M)$ with respect to the $\|\cdot\|_{\infty,1}$ -norm on $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ given by $\|T\|_{\infty,1} = \sup_{x \in M, \|x\| \le 1} \|T\hat{x}\|_1$, where here we consider the natural inclusions $M \subset L^2M \subset L^1M$. (See also [HPP22] for some related independent work, where a similar but slightly different closure of the compact operators is being studied.) We may then consider the corresponding "compactification of M" as

$$\mathbb{S}(M) = \{ T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M) \mid [T, JxJ] \in \mathbb{K}^{\infty, 1}(M), \text{ for all } x \in M \}.$$

Unlike in the group setting, since $\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M)$ is not an ideal in $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$, we see that $\mathbb{S}(M)$ is not a C^* subalgebra of $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$. However, it is still an operator system that is also an M-bimodule, and so we may
define the von Neumann algebra M to be properly proximal if there does not exist an M-central state φ on

 $\mathbb{S}(M)$ such that $\varphi_{|M}$ is normal. Owing to the fact that $\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M)$ is a strong bimodule in the sense of Magajna, it follows that an operator $T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ belongs to $\mathbb{S}(M)$ if $[T,JxJ] \in \mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M)$ holds for all x in a set that generates M as a von Neumann algebra. This allows us to pass between $\mathbb{S}(\Gamma)$ and $\mathbb{S}(L\Gamma)$ so that we may establish in Theorem 2.6.4 the equivalence of proper proximality of a group Γ and its von Neumann algebra $L\Gamma$. The space $\mathbb{S}(M)$ also gives a natural von Neumann algebraic setting to study biexactness properties, and this topic will be taken up in a subsequent paper by a subset of the authors [DP22].

Apart from group von Neumann algebras of properly proximal groups, we also provide several other examples of properly proximal von Neumann algebras in the settings of free products, crossed products, and compact quantum groups. Generalizing results for group von Neumann algebras in [BIP21], we show that properly proximal von Neumann algebras M never have property (Gamma) (Corollary 2.6.9), nor do they admit diffuse regular subalgebras such that the normalizer action is weakly compact (Theorem 2.6.11).

Effros established in [Eff75] that if Γ is a group such that $L\Gamma$ has property (Gamma), then Γ must be inner amenable. Vaes constructed in [Vae12] examples of inner amenable groups so that the group von Neumann algebra does not have property (Gamma). Since Ozawa's solidity theorem shows that every nonamenable subalgebra of $L\mathbb{F}_2$ does not have property (Gamma), Popa asked if it is still true that the group von Neumann algebra of a nonamenable inner amenable group cannot embed into $L\mathbb{F}_2$ [Pop21]. Since by Theorem 2.6.4 the group von Neumann algebra of an inner amenable group is not properly proximal, we obtain a solution to Popa's problem with the following result.

Theorem 2.1.1 (See Theorem 2.7.1). If Γ is a biexact group, then every von Neumann subalgebra of $L\Gamma$ is either properly proximal or has an amenable summand.

We also introduce proper proximality for trace-preserving group actions $\Gamma \curvearrowright (M, \tau)$ by requiring the non-existence of a state φ on $\mathbb{S}(M)$ such that $\varphi_{|M} = \tau$ and φ is both M-central and Γ -invariant for the conjugation action of Γ on $\mathbb{S}(M)$. The notion of a properly proximal action is averse to weak compactness. Moreover, it passes to diffuse Γ -invariant subalgebras, and for actions on separable abelian von Neumann algebras it is an invariant of the orbit equivalence relation (see Proposition 2.8.3).

As in the setting for groups in [BIP21], we also produce versions of these results that are relative to certain boundary pieces. (See Section 2.3 for the definition of a boundary piece in the setting of von Neumann algebras.) Using a certain normal bidual construction related to the work of Magajna [Mag05], we are able to show in Proposition 2.8.11 and Theorem 2.8.12 that if Γ is properly proximal, then an action $\Gamma \curvearrowright (M, \tau)$ of a countable group on a separable tracial von Neumann algebra is properly proximal if and only if the crossed product $M \rtimes \Gamma$ is properly proximal. Using similar methods, we show in Theorem 2.8.8 that a tensor product $M_1 \otimes M_2$ of separable Π_1 factors is properly proximal if and only if M_1 and M_2 are properly proximal.

We also show that proper proximality can also be deduced using Popa's malleable deformations [Pop06b, Pop06c, Pop06d, Pop07b, Pop08]. Gaussian actions corresponding to orthogonal representations have such malleable deformations as noticed in [Fur07] and studied in [PS12]. Using these deformations, we show proper proximality for Gaussian actions associated to orthogonal representations that are nonamenable in the sense of Bekka [Bek90]. When the representation is weakly contained in the left regular representation, we also show proper proximality for any nonamenable subequivalence relation. This then gives a generalization of the results of Chifan and Ioana from [CI10] and Boutonnet from [Bou12], establishing, without additional conditions, solid ergodicity (See Section 5 of [Gab10]) for Gaussian actions associated to representations that are weakly contained in the left regular representation.

Theorem 2.1.2. Let Γ be a nonamenable group, and $\pi: \Gamma \to \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{H})$ an orthogonal representation on a separable real Hilbert space such that some tensor power of π is weakly contained in the left regular representation. Then for every nonamenable subequivalence relation \mathcal{R} of the equivalence relation associated to the Gaussian action $\Gamma \cap A_{\mathcal{H}}$, there exists an \mathcal{R} -invariant projection $p \in A_{\mathcal{H}}$ so that the action $\mathcal{N}_{L\mathcal{R}}(pA_{\mathcal{H}}) \cap pA_{\mathcal{H}}$ is properly proximal and $\mathcal{R}_{p^{\perp}}$ is amenable. In particular, the equivalence relation associated to the Gaussian action $\Gamma \cap A_{\mathcal{H}}$ is solidly ergodic.

As a consequence of the tools we develop, we are also able to show the equivalence between the Haagerup property defined in [Cho83], and the compact approximation property defined in [AD95] for finite von Neumann algebras (see also [Jol02, p. 559]). This generalizes Proposition 4.16 in [AD95], where the equivalence was established for group von Neumann algebras by showing that, in this case, both properties are equivalent to the Haagerup property for the group.

Theorem 2.1.3. Let M be a finite von Neumann algebra with normal faithful trace τ . The following conditions are equivalent:

- 1. M has the Haagerup property, i.e., there exists a net $\{\phi_i\}_i$ of normal completely positive maps from M to M such that
 - (a) $\tau \circ \phi_i(x^*x) \leq \tau(x^*x)$ for all $x \in M$;
 - (b) $\lim_{i} \|\phi_{i}(x) x\|_{2} = 0$ for all $x \in M$;
 - (c) each ϕ_i induces a compact bounded operator on L^2M .
- 2. M has the compact approximation property, i.e., there exists a net $\{\phi_i\}_i$ of normal completely positive maps from M to M such that
 - (a) for all $x \in M$ we have $\lim_i \phi_i(x) = x$ ultraweakly;

- (b) for all $\xi \in L^2M$ and $i \in I$, the map $x \mapsto \phi_i(x)\xi$ is compact from the normed space M to L^2M .
- 3. There exists a net $\{\phi_i\}_i$ of normal completely positive maps from M to M such that
 - (a) for all $x \in M$ we have $\lim_i \phi_i(x) = x$ ultraweakly;
 - (b) for all $\xi \in L^2M$ and $i \in I$, the map $x \mapsto \phi_i(x)\xi$ is compact from the normed space M to L^1M .

2.2 Preliminaries

2.2.1 The extended Haagerup tensor product

If $X \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is an operator space (for us, all operator spaces will be norm closed) and I,J are sets, then we denote by $\mathbb{M}_{I,J}(X)$ the set of $I \times J$ matrices having entries in X that represent bounded operators from $\ell^2 J \overline{\otimes} \mathcal{H}$ into $\ell^2 I \overline{\otimes} \mathcal{H}$. We write $C_I(X) = \mathbb{M}_{I,1}(X)$, and $R_J(X) = \mathbb{M}_{1,J}(X)$, for the column and row matrices respectively. When no confusion will arise, we will identify each matrix in $\mathbb{M}_{I,J}(X)$ with the corresponding operator that it represents, so that we view $\mathbb{M}_{I,J}(X)$ as an operator subspace of $\mathbb{B}(\ell^2 J \overline{\otimes} \mathcal{H}, \ell^2 I \overline{\otimes} \mathcal{H})$. If $a \in \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{H})$, then we let $a^{(J)} \in \mathbb{B}(\ell^2 J \overline{\otimes} \mathcal{H}, \ell^2 J \overline{\otimes} \mathcal{H})$ be the diagonal operator $a^{(J)} = 1 \otimes a$.

If $X \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$, and $Y \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ are operator spaces, $x \in \mathbb{M}_{I,J}(X)$, and $y \in \mathbb{M}_{J,K}(Y)$, then we let $x \odot y$ denote the normal completely bounded operator in $CB^{\sigma}(\mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H},\mathcal{H}),\mathbb{M}_{I,K}(\mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H},\mathcal{H})))$ given by $(x \odot y)(a) = xa^{(J)}y$, for $a \in \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H},\mathcal{H})$.

We take the perspective in [Mag97] and define the extended Haagerup tensor product $X \otimes_{eh} Y$ to consist of all maps of the form $x \odot y$ for $x \in R_J(X)$, $y \in C_J(Y)$, for some set J. The extended Haagerup tensor product is again an operator space, with the norm on $\mathbb{M}_n(X \otimes_{eh} Y)$ inherited from $CB^{\sigma}(\mathbb{B}(\mathcal{K}, \mathcal{H}), \mathbb{M}_n(\mathbb{B}(K, \mathcal{H})))$.

If $M \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ and $N \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ are von Neumann algebras, then each element in $M \otimes_{eh} N$ corresponds to an M'-N'-bimodular map in $CB^{\sigma}(\mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H}))$. Moreover, every M'-N'-bimodular map arises in this way [BS92, Theorem 4.2] so that we have operator space isomorphisms

$$M \otimes_{eh} N = CB^{\sigma}_{M'-N'}(\mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})) \cong CB_{M'-N'}(\mathbb{K}(\mathscr{H}), \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})).$$

Note that composition then turns $M \otimes_{eh} N$ into a Banach algebra, which agrees with the usual algebra structure on the algebraic tensor product $M \otimes N^{op}$, i.e., for $a, b \in M$ and $x, y \in N$ we have $(a \odot x) \circ (b \odot y) = (ab) \odot (yx)$. We also have that $M \otimes_{eh} N$ is naturally a dual Banach space where the weak*-topology on bounded sets is given by ultraweak convergence applied to each compact operator. Multiplication is then weak*-continuous in the second variable, but not in the first variable in general (see the remark before theorem 4.2 in [BS92]) due to the fact that the space of compact operators need not be preserved by maps in $M \otimes_{eh} N$.

2.2.2 Strong operator bimodules

If A and B are unital C^* -algebras, then an operator A-B-bimodule consists of unital *-homomorphisms $\pi:A\to \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$, $\rho:B\to \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$, together with operator subspace $X\subset \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ such that X is a $\pi(A)$ - $\rho(B)$ -bimodule whose bimodule structure is given by composition of operators. We write axb for the element $\pi(a)x\rho(b)$ whenever $a\in A$, $b\in B$, and $x\in X$. If A=B, $\pi=\rho$, and X happens to be on operator system in $\mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ that contains $\pi(A)$, then we say that X is an operator A-system (see [Pau02, p. 215]). We remark that A-B-bimodules and operator A-systems may also be defined abstractly without referring to an explicit Hilbert space \mathcal{H} (see [CES87] and [Pau02, Corollary 15.13] respectively). We say that X is a dual operator A-B-bimodule (resp. dual operator A-system) if X may be realized above as an ultraweak closed subspace of $\mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$.

If M and N are von Neumann algebras, then we say that an operator M-N-bimodule (resp. M-system) is normal if the representations $\pi: M \to \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$, and $\rho: N^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ from above may be taken to be normal and faithful. An M-N sub-bimodule $X \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is strong if whenever $a \in R_I(M)$, $x \in \mathbb{M}_{I,J}(X)$, and $b \in C_J(N)$ for some sets I and J, then we have $axb \in X \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$.

Strong bimodules were introduced by Magajna in [Mag00], generalizing the notion of a strong module (i.e., a strong M- \mathbb{C} bimodule), which were introduced in [ER88] and developed in [Mag97, Mag98]. We summarize here some of Magajna's results from [Mag97, Mag98, Mag00] that we will use involving strong bimodules.

Strong bimodules are automatically norm closed. Moreover, if $X \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is strong, then it is strong under any other realization as a concrete normal M-N operator bimodule. If $X \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is an M-N bimodule, then denote by \overline{X}^{st} the smallest strong bimodule containing X as a sub-bimodule. Dual bimodules are always strong, but there are many strong bimodules that are not dual, e.g., in the case when $M = N = \mathbb{C}$, all closed bimodules are strong.

If X is a normal operator M-N bimodule, then the M-N-topology on X is given by the family of semi-norms

$$s_{\omega}^{\rho}(x) = \inf\{\omega(a^*a)^{1/2} ||y|| \rho(b^*b)^{1/2}\},$$

where ω and ρ are positive normal linear functionals on M and N, respectively, and the infimum is taken over all decompositions $x = a^*yb$ where $a \in M$, $b \in N$, and $y \in X$. It is not clear, a priori, that s_{ω}^{ρ} is a seminorm, but this is indeed the case, and follows from an argument similar to the one showing that the Haagerup norm is a norm.

If $X \subset Y$ is an inclusion of normal operator M-N bimodules, then the restriction of the M-N-topology on Y gives the M-N-topology on X. Moreover, if M and N are normally represented on $\mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$, then an M-N

sub-bimodule is closed in the M-N-topology if and only if it is a strong bimodule [Mag00, Theorem 3.10].

If $M_0 \subset M$ and $N_0 \subset N$ are ultraweakly dense C^* -subalgebras and X is an M_0 - N_0 operator bimodule, then we let $X^{M_0 \sharp N_0} \subset X^*$ denote the space of bounded linear functionals φ such that for each $x \in X$ the map $M_0 \times N_0 \ni (a,b) \mapsto \varphi(axb)$ extends to a map on $M \times N$ that is separately ultraweakly continuous in a and b. Note that $X^{M_0 \sharp N_0}$ is a norm closed subspace of X^* . If X is a normal M-N operator bimodule, then $X^{M\sharp N}$ coincides with the linear functionals that are continuous in the M-N topology [Mag00, Theorem 3.7]. The following proposition generalizes this fact to the situation where X can be made a bimodule in multiple ways, e.g., when M is a Π_1 factor, we may want to view $X = \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ as both an M-M bimodule and a M'-M' bimodule.

If X is a normal M-N operator bimodule, then we will often use the notation X^{\sharp} for $X^{M\sharp N}$ when the bimodule structure is clear from the context. We remark that Magajna favors the notation X^{\sharp} for the continuous dual of X in [Mag97, Mag98, Mag00, Mag05], however no confusion should arise in the present context as we will always denote the continuous dual by X^* .

Proposition 2.2.1. Let \mathscr{H} be a Hilbert space and suppose $M, \tilde{M}, N, \tilde{N} \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})$ are von Neumann algebras such that $\tilde{M} \subset M'$ and $\tilde{N} \subset N'$. Suppose $X \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})$ is an operator space that is both an M-N bimodule and a \tilde{M} - \tilde{N} bimodule. Suppose $\varphi \in X^{M\sharp N} \cap X^{\tilde{M}\sharp \tilde{N}}$, then there exist Hilbert spaces $\mathscr{K}_1, \mathscr{K}_2$, normal and commuting representations of M and \tilde{M} on \mathscr{K}_1 , and of N and \tilde{N} on \mathscr{K}_2 , vectors $\xi \in \mathscr{K}_1$, $\eta \in \mathscr{K}_2$, and a completely bounded map $\varphi : X \to \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{K}_2, \mathscr{K}_1)$ that is both M-N-bimodular and \tilde{M} - \tilde{N} -bimodular, and such that for all $x \in X$ we have $\varphi(x) = \langle \varphi(x) \eta, \xi \rangle$.

Proof. The proof is based on [Mag98, Theorem 4.2] and [ER88, Theorem 3.4]. Set $\mathscr{A} = \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})$ and extend φ to a linear functional $\tilde{\varphi} \in \mathscr{A}^*$ by Hahn-Banach. Since \mathscr{A} is a C^* -algebra, we may then find a Hilbert space \mathscr{L} , a *-representation $\pi : \mathscr{A} \to \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{L})$ and vectors $\xi_0, \eta_0 \in \mathscr{L}$ such that $\tilde{\varphi}(a) = \langle \pi(a)\eta_0, \xi_0 \rangle$, for all $a \in \mathscr{A}$. We may then set \mathscr{L}_1 to be the closure of the subspace spanned by $\pi(X)\eta_0$. Since π is a *-homomorphism on M and \tilde{M} , it follows that $P_{\mathscr{L}_1}$ commutes with $\pi(M)$ and $\pi(\tilde{M})$, and so we obtain commuting *-representations of M and \tilde{M} on \mathscr{L}_1 by restriction.

We define $\tilde{\pi}: X \to \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{L}_1)$ by $\tilde{\pi}(x) = P_{\mathcal{L}_1}\pi(x)$. This is then a completely bounded M-N and \tilde{M} - \tilde{N} -bimodular map. Moreover, if we set $\xi = P_{\mathcal{L}_1}\xi_0$, then we have

$$\varphi(x) = \langle \pi(x)\eta_0, \xi_0 \rangle = \langle P_{\mathcal{L}_1}\pi(x)\eta_0, \xi_0 \rangle = \langle \tilde{\pi}(x)\eta_0, \xi \rangle.$$

Next, we let \mathscr{L}_2 be the closure of the subspace $\tilde{\pi}(X^*)\xi$, and note that, as above, $P_{\mathscr{L}_2}$ commutes with both N and \tilde{N} and hence we obtain *-representations of N and \tilde{N} on \mathscr{L}_2 by restriction. We define $\phi_0: X \to \mathbb{R}$

 $\mathbb{B}(\mathscr{L}_2,\mathscr{L}_1)$ by $\phi_0(x) = \tilde{\pi}(x)P_{\mathscr{L}_2}$. This is then a completely bounded M-N and \tilde{M} - \tilde{N} -bimodular map, and if we set $\eta = P_{\mathscr{L}_2} \eta_0$, then as above we have $\varphi(x) = \langle \phi_0(x) \eta, \xi \rangle$.

Next, we let \mathcal{K}_1 be the closure of the subspace spanned by $\pi(M)\pi(\tilde{M})\xi$, and we let \mathcal{K}_2 be the closure of the subspace spanned by $\pi(N)\pi(\tilde{N})\eta$. We then have that \mathcal{K}_1 is invariant under M and \tilde{M} , and hence we obtain commuting *-representations by restriction. We similarly obtain commuting *-representations of N and \tilde{N} on \mathcal{K}_2 . Since $\eta \in \mathcal{K}_2$ and $\xi \in \mathcal{K}_1$ if we set $\phi(x) = P_{\mathcal{K}_1}\phi_0(x)P_{\mathcal{K}_2}$, then ϕ is M-N and \tilde{M} - \tilde{N} -bimodular and we again have $\phi(x) = \langle \phi(x)\eta, \xi \rangle$ for all $x \in X$.

We note that since $\varphi \in X^{M\sharp N}$, if $x \in X$ and $\zeta = \sum_{j=1}^n \pi(a_i)\pi(b_i)\xi$ for $a_1,\ldots,a_n \in M$, and $b_1,\ldots,b_n \in \tilde{M}$, then the linear functional $M\ni a\mapsto \langle \pi(a)P_{\mathscr{K}_1}\pi(x)\eta_0,\zeta\rangle = \sum_{j=1}^n \varphi(a_i^*ab_i^*x)$ is normal. As $P_{\mathscr{K}_1}\pi(X)\eta_0$ and span $\{\pi(M)\pi(\tilde{M})\xi\}$ are both dense in \mathscr{K}_1 , it follows that M is normally represented on \mathscr{K}_1 . A similar argument shows that \tilde{M} is also normally represented on \mathscr{K}_1 , and that both N and \tilde{N} are normally represented on \mathscr{K}_2 .

If we assume $\varphi \in X^{M\sharp N} \cap X^{\tilde{M}\sharp \tilde{N}}$ is such that $\|\varphi\| \leq 1$, and we let φ be as in the previous proposition, then an application of Paulsen's trick (e.g., Lemma 8.1 in [Pau02]) gives a unital completely positive (u.c.p.) $C^*(M,\tilde{M}) \oplus C^*(N,\tilde{N})$ -bimodular map $\Phi : \mathscr{S}_X \to \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{K}_1 \oplus \mathscr{K}_2)$, where S_X is the operator $C^*(M,\tilde{M}) \oplus C^*(N,\tilde{N})$ -system

$$\mathscr{S}_X = \left\{ \left(\begin{smallmatrix} a & x \\ y^* & b \end{smallmatrix} \right) \mid a \in C^*(M, \tilde{M}), b \in C^*(N, \tilde{N}), x, y \in X \right\}.$$

If X is a subspace of $Y \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ such that Y is also both an M-N and \tilde{M} - \tilde{N} bimodule, then we may use Arveson's extension theorem to extend Φ to a u.c.p. map on \mathcal{S}_Y . Restricting this to the corner Y in \mathcal{S}_Y then gives the analogue of the Hahn-Banach theorem in our setting (See Proposition 4.5 in [Mag98] for another approach). We record this result here for use later.

Proposition 2.2.2. Let \mathscr{H} be a Hilbert space and suppose $M, \tilde{M}, N, \tilde{N} \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})$ are von Neumann algebras such that $\tilde{M} \subset M'$ and $\tilde{N} \subset N'$. Suppose $Y \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})$ is an operator space that is both an M-N bimodule and a \tilde{M} - \tilde{N} bimodule, and suppose that $X \subset Y$ is both an M-N sub-bimodule and a \tilde{M} - \tilde{N} sub-bimodule. If $\varphi \in X^{M\sharp N} \cap X^{\tilde{M}\sharp \tilde{N}}$, then there exists $\psi \in Y^{M\sharp N} \cap Y^{\tilde{M}\sharp \tilde{N}}$ with $\|\psi\| = \|\varphi\|$ such that $\psi_{|X} = \varphi$.

The following descriptions of the strong completion of bimodules will be useful for us later.

Proposition 2.2.3. Let M and N be normally represented in $\mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ and let $X \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ be a M-N sub-bimodule. Fix $x \in \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$. The following are equivalent:

- 1. x is in the strong M-N bimodule generated by X.
- 2. There exist orthogonal families of projections $\{e_i\}_{i\in I} \subset M$ and $\{f_j\}_{j\in J} \subset N$ with $\sum_{i\in I} e_i = 1$ and $\sum_{i\in J} f_i = 1$, such that $e_i x f_j \in \overline{X}$ for any $i \in I$ and $j \in J$.

3. If $\varphi \in \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})^{M \sharp N}$ is any linear functional such that $\varphi_{|X} = 0$, then we also have $\varphi(x) = 0$.

Proof. It is easy to see that $(2) \Longrightarrow (1)$, and since the strong M-N bimodule generated by X is the closure in the M-N-topology, we have that (1) and (3) are equivalent by the Hahn-Banach theorem.

To see (1) \implies (2), note that an M-N bimodule is strong if and only if it is a strong left M-module and a strong right N-module, and we may obtain such families $\{e_i\}_{i\in I}$ and $\{f_j\}_{j\in J}$ by applying [Mag98, Proposition 2.2] twice.

We will also need a version of the previous proposition in the setting of Proposition 2.2.1. We omit the proof, which is similar to the proof of Proposition 2.2.3.

Proposition 2.2.4. Let \mathscr{H} be a Hilbert space and suppose $M, \tilde{M}, N, \tilde{N} \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})$ are von Neumann algebras such that $\tilde{M} \subset M'$ and $\tilde{N} \subset N'$. Suppose $X \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})$ is an operator space that is both an M-N bimodule and a \tilde{M} - \tilde{N} bimodule. For $x \in \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})$, the following are equivalent:

- 1. x is in the smallest subspace containing X that is both a strong M-N bimodule and a strong \tilde{M} - \tilde{N} bimodule.
- 2. There exist orthogonal families of projections $\{e_i\}_{i\in I} \subset M$, $\{\tilde{e}_i\}_{i\in I} \subset \tilde{M}$, $\{f_j\}_{j\in J} \subset N$ and $\{\tilde{f}_j\}_{j\in J} \subset \tilde{N}$ which all sum to 1, such that $e_i\tilde{e}_ix\tilde{f}_jf_j\in \overline{X}$ for any $i\in I$ and $j\in J$.
- 3. If $\varphi \in \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})^{M\sharp N} \cap \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})^{\tilde{M}\sharp \tilde{N}}$ is any linear functional such that $\varphi_{|X}=0$, then we also have $\varphi(x)=0$.

2.2.3 Universal representations of normal M-N bimodules

If X is a normal operator M-N-bimodule, then by a representation of X we mean an M-N-bimodular complete contraction $\pi: X \to \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{H})$ where M and N are normally represented in $\mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ and $\mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ respectively. We let $\operatorname{Rep}(X)$ denote the space of all representations on some fixed Hilbert space of sufficiently large dimension. Note that direct sums of representations again give representations, and hence we may define the universal representation of X to be $\pi_u = \bigoplus_{\pi \in \operatorname{Rep}(X)} \pi$.

By Proposition 2.2.1 (or in this case by [Mag00, Theorem 3.10]), the space X^{\sharp} coincides with the coefficient linear functionals corresponding to representations. Although the space X^{\sharp} need not be an operator M-N bimodule, it is still naturally a N-M bimodule under the action $(a \cdot \varphi \cdot b)(x) = \varphi(bxa)$. We then have that $(X^{\sharp})^*$ is a dual M-N bimodule. The following proposition is easily deduced.

Proposition 2.2.5. The universal representation π_u induces a weak* homeomorphic isometric M-N bimodular mapping of $(X^{\sharp})^*$ onto the ultraweak closure $\overline{\pi_u(X)}$.

We may then give $(X^{\sharp})^*$ the normal dual operator M-N-bimodule structure coming from this isomorphism and we note that this satisfies the universal property that if $\pi: X \to Y$ is an N-M bimodular complete contraction and Y is a dual normal operator M-N-bimodule, then there exists a unique normal M-N-bimodular complete contraction $\tilde{\pi}: (X^{\sharp})^* \to Y$ such that $\tilde{\pi}_{|X} = \pi$.

If Y is a normal operator M-N bimodule containing X as a sub-bimodule, then it follows from Proposition 2.2.2 (or in this case by [Mag98, Proposition 4.5]) that the identity map from X to Y extends to an M-N-bimodular completely isometric normal map from $(X^{\sharp})^*$ into $(Y^{\sharp})^*$, and so we will identify $(X^{\sharp})^*$ as a sub-bimodule of $(Y^{\sharp})^*$.

An alternative construction for the "bidual" is given by Magajna in [Mag05]. There he introduces the bimodule dual of X as $X^{\natural} = CB_{M-N}(X, \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M))$. This is an abstract dual normal operator M'-N'-bimodule and hence the bimodule bidual $X^{\natural\natural}$ gives an abstract dual normal operator M-N-bimodule. The following result of Magajna shows that these two notions of biduals agree.

Proposition 2.2.6 (Magajna [Mag05, Corollary 3.5(iii)]). For any normal operator M-N-bimodule X, the identity map on X induces a weak* homeomorphic completely isometric M-N bimodular isomorphism $X^{\dagger \dagger} \cong (X^{\sharp})^*$.

If E is a normal operator M-system, then by a representation of E we mean an M-bimodular u.c.p. map $\pi: E \to \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})$ where M is normally represented on \mathscr{H} . We similarly define the space $\operatorname{Rep}(E)$ and the universal representation $\pi_u = \bigoplus_{\pi \in \operatorname{Rep}(E)} \pi$.

Proposition 2.2.7. The universal representation of a normal operator M-system E induces a weak* homeomorphic isometric M-M bimodular mapping of $(E^{\sharp})^*$ onto the ultraweak closure $\overline{\pi_u(E)}$. In particular, $(E^{\sharp})^*$ carries the structure of a dual normal operator M-system.

Proof. To each $\varphi \in E^{\sharp}$ with $\|\varphi\| \leq 1$ there exists a normal state $\eta \in M_{*,+}$ and an M-bimodular completely bounded map $\psi : E \to \mathbb{B}(L^2(M,\eta))$ such that $\varphi(x) = \langle \psi(x)\hat{1},\hat{1} \rangle$. Indeed, if $\omega, \rho \in M_{*,+}$ are such that $|\varphi(a^*xb)| \leq \omega(a^*a)^{1/2} \|x\| \rho(b^*b)^{1/2}$, then setting $\eta = (\omega(1) + \rho(1))^{-1}(\omega + \rho)$ we have that for each $x \in E$ the map $M \times M \ni (a^*,b^*) \mapsto \varphi(a^*xb)$ extends to a bounded sesquilinear map on $L^2(M,\eta) \times L^2(M,\eta)$, and hence there is a bounded operator $\psi(x) \in \mathbb{B}(L^2(M,\eta))$ such that $\varphi(x) = \langle \psi(x)\hat{1},\hat{1} \rangle$ for $x \in M$. The map $E \ni x \mapsto \psi(x) \in \mathbb{B}(L^2(M,\eta))$ is then easily seen to be M-bimodular and bounded, hence also completely bounded by Smith's theorem.

By Wittstock's theorem, there then exist M-bimodular completely positive maps $\tilde{\psi}_i : E \to \mathbb{B}(L^2(M, \eta))$, i = 1, 2 such that $\tilde{\psi}_1 \pm \mathfrak{R}(\psi)$ and $\tilde{\psi}_2 \pm \mathfrak{I}(\psi)$ are completely positive. Moreover, if E is concretely realized in $\mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$, then by Arveson's extension theorem we may assume that ψ and $\tilde{\psi}$ are defined on $\mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$.

Considering the corresponding Stinespring dilations associated to these maps, we see that φ is implemented by vectors in the M-system universal representation π_u . We therefore see that the universal representations for E as an M-system or as an M-bimodule coincide and the result follows.

By the previous proposition, we have that, as a dual normal operator M-system, $(E^{\sharp})^*$ satisfies the universal property that if $\pi: E \to F$ is an M-bimodular u.c.p. map where F is a dual normal operator M-system, then there is a unique normal M-bimodular u.c.p. map $\tilde{\pi}: (E^{\sharp})^* \to F$ such that $\tilde{\pi}_{|E} = \pi$.

An M- C^* -algebra consists of a C^* -algebra A, together with a faithful unital *-homomorphism mapping M into the multiplier algebra M(A). We say that the M- C^* -algebra is normal if M(A) is normal as an operator M-system.

We let $p_{\text{nor}} \in M(A)^{**}$ denote the supremum of the support projections of states in $M(A)^{*}$ that restrict to normal states on M, so that M may be viewed as a von Neumann subalgebra of $p_{\text{nor}}M(A)^{**}p_{\text{nor}}$, and we have a canonical identification between $(M(A)^{\sharp})^{*}$ and the predual of $p_{\text{nor}}M(A)^{**}p_{\text{nor}}$. Equivalently, $p_{\text{nor}} \in M^{**} \subset M(A)^{**}$ is the projection such that $M^{**}p_{\text{nor}}$ is naturally isomorphic to M and a state $\varphi \in M(A)^{\sharp}$ if and only if $\varphi_{|M}$ is normal if and only if $\varphi(p_{\text{nor}}) = 1$. We let $q_A \in \mathscr{P}(M(A)^{**})$ denote the central projection in $M(A)^{**}$ that gives the identity projection for $A^{**} \subset M(A)^{**}$. We then have that the map $M \ni x \mapsto p_{\text{nor}}q_AM(A)^{**}q_Ap_{\text{nor}} = p_{\text{nor}}A^{**}p_{\text{nor}}$ gives an embedding of M as a von Neumann subalgebra of $p_{\text{nor}}A^{**}p_{\text{nor}}$. We therefore may think of $(A^{\sharp})^{*} \cong p_{\text{nor}}A^{**}p_{\text{nor}}$ as a von Neumann algebra that contains M as a von Neumann subalgebra (see also [BC15] where similar techniques are introduced).

If A is a normal M- C^* -algebra and $B \subset A$ is a C^* -subalgebra that is an M-M bimodule such that the natural *-homomorphism $M \to M(B)$ is faithful, then B is also a normal M- C^* -algebra. If we let q_B denote the support of B^{**} in A^{**} , then q_B and p_{nor} commute and we obtain an embedding (again as a non-unital von Neumann subalgebra) $(B^{\sharp})^* \cong q_B p_{nor} A^{**} p_{nor} q_B \subset p_{nor} A^{**} p_{nor} \cong (A^{\sharp})^*$.

Remark 2.2.8. If A is an M- C^* -algebra, then $(A^{\sharp})^*$ is a von Neumann algebra that contains M as a von Neumann subalgebra. However, one difference between this "normal enveloping von Neumann algebra" and the more familiar A^{**} is that while the canonical embedding $A \to (A^{\sharp})^*$ is a complete order isomorphism onto its range (and hence we may think of A as an M-subsystem of $(A^{\sharp})^*$), it is not a *-homomorphism in general, due to the fact that the projection $p_{\text{nor}} \in M(A)^{**}$ need not be central. As a consequence, if q_Q denotes the support of A^{**} in $M(A)^{**}$, then, in general, we have $q_Q(M(A)^{\sharp})^*q_Q \cap M(A) \neq A$.

In light of Proposition 2.2.1, the same arguments above regarding the universal representations of normal operator M-N bimodule, normal M-systems, and normal M-C*-algebras work in the setting where our object is also a \tilde{M} - \tilde{N} bimodule, normal \tilde{M} -system, and normal \tilde{M} -C*-algebra respectively. The main example relevant in this work is the case when $\tilde{M} = M' \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$, in which case we may consider the space

 $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)^{M\sharp M}\cap \mathbb{B}(L^2M)^{M'\sharp M'}$. For use in the sequel, we end this section by recording these results.

Suppose that \mathscr{H} is a Hilbert space and $M, \tilde{M}, N, \tilde{N} \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})$ are von Neumann algebras such that $\tilde{M} \subset M'$ and $\tilde{N} \subset N'$. Suppose $X \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})$ is an operator space that is both an M-N bimodule and a \tilde{M} - \tilde{N} bimodule. Then we may also consider the space of representations in this category, which consists of complete contractions $\phi: X \to \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{K})$, such that M, \tilde{M}, N and \tilde{N} are normally represented in $\mathbb{B}(\mathscr{K})$, with $\tilde{M} \subset M'$, and $\tilde{N} \subset N'$, and such that ϕ is both M-N bimodular and \tilde{M} - \tilde{N} bimodular.

Proposition 2.2.9. Let $M, N, \tilde{M}, \tilde{N} \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ and $X \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ be as above. Then the universal representation induces a weak*-homeomorphic completely isometric M-N and \tilde{M} - \tilde{N} bimodular mapping of $(X^{M\sharp N} \cap X^{\tilde{M}\sharp \tilde{N}})^*$ onto the ultraweak closure $\overline{\pi_u(X)}$.

Moreover, if X is an operator system and contains M = N, and $\tilde{M} = \tilde{N}$, then $\overline{\pi_u(X)}$ is a both a dual normal M-system and a dual normal \tilde{M} -system.

Proposition 2.2.10. Let M and \tilde{M} be von Neumann algebras and let A be a C^* -algebra together with faithful unital *-homomorphisms of M and \tilde{M} into M(A) such that $\tilde{M} \subset M' \cap M(A)$. Then considering the canonical inclusions $(A^{M\sharp M} \cap A^{\tilde{M}\sharp \tilde{M}})^*, (A^{M\sharp M})^*, (A^{\tilde{M}\sharp \tilde{M}})^* \subset M(A)^{**}$, we have that

$$(A^{M\sharp M}\cap A^{\tilde{M}\sharp \tilde{M}})^*=(A^{M\sharp M})^*\cap (A^{\tilde{M}\sharp \tilde{M}})^*\subset M(A)^{**}.$$

Also, if $B \subset A$ is a C^* -subalgebra such that B is both an M-bimodule and a \tilde{M} -bimodule and such that the corresponding representations of M and \tilde{M} into M(B) are faithful, then we have a (non unital) inclusion of von Neumann algebras $(B^{M\sharp M}\cap B^{\tilde{M}\sharp \tilde{M}})^*\subset (A^{M\sharp M}\cap A^{\tilde{M}\sharp \tilde{M}})^*$.

2.3 Relatively compact operators

If (M, τ) is a finite von Neumann algebra, \mathscr{H} is a Hilbert space, and $x \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M, \mathscr{H})$, then we denote by $\|x\|_{\infty,2}$ the norm of x when viewed as an operator from $M \subset L^2M$ into \mathscr{H} . If $\mathscr{H} = L^2(N, \tau)$ for some finite von Neumann algebra N, then we let $\|x\|_{\infty,1}$ denote the norm of x when viewed as an operator from $M \subset L^2M$ into $L^1N \supset L^2N$. Ozawa proved in [Oza10] that for $x \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M, \mathscr{H})$ we have

$$||x||_{\infty,2} \le \inf\{||z||(||c||_2^2 + ||d||_2^2)^{1/2}\} \le 4||x||_{\infty,2},$$
 (2.1)

where the infimum is taken over all decompositions $x = z \binom{JcJ}{d}$, where $z \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M \oplus L^2M, \mathcal{H})$ and $c, d \in M$. The following proposition adapts Ozawa's argument for the case of the $\|\cdot\|_{\infty,1}$ -norm.

Proposition 2.3.1. *Suppose* (M, τ) *is a finite von Neumann algebra and* $x \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ *. Then*

$$||x||_{\infty,1} \le \inf\left\{\left(||a||_2^2 + ||b||_2^2\right)^{1/2} ||z|| \left(||c||_2^2 + ||d||_2^2\right)^{1/2}\right\} \le 4||x||_{\infty,1}$$

where the infimum is over all $z \in \mathbb{M}_2(\mathbb{B}(L^2M))$, and $a,b,c,d \in M$ such that $x = \binom{JaJ}{b}^* z \binom{JcJ}{d}$.

Proof. If $x = \binom{JaJ}{b}^* z \binom{JcJ}{d}$ such that $z \in \mathbb{M}_2(\mathbb{B}(L^2M))$, and $a, b, c, d \in M$, then for all $e, f \in M$ we have

$$\begin{split} |\langle x \hat{e}, \hat{f} \rangle| &= \left| \left\langle z \left(\frac{e \hat{c^*}}{\hat{d} e} \right), \left(\frac{\hat{f} a^*}{\hat{b} \hat{f}} \right) \right\rangle \right| \\ &\leq \|z\| \left(\|e c^*\|_2^2 + \|d e\|_2^2 \right)^{1/2} \left(\|f a^*\|_2^2 + \|b f\|_2^2 \right)^{1/2} \\ &\leq \|e\| \|f\| \|z\| \left(\|c^*\|_2^2 + \|d\|_2^2 \right)^{1/2} \left(\|a^*\|_2^2 + \|b\|_2^2 \right)^{1/2}. \end{split}$$

Taking the supremum over all $e, f \in M$ such that $||e||, ||f|| \le 1$ then shows that

$$||x||_{\infty,1} \le (||a||_2^2 + ||b||_2^2)^{1/2} ||z|| (||c||_2^2 + ||d||_2^2)^{1/2}.$$

For the second inequality, consider the normal bilinear form on $M \times M$ given by $\varphi(a,b) = \langle x\hat{a},\hat{b}\rangle$ and note that we have $\|x\|_{\infty,1} = \|\varphi\|$. By the noncommutative Grothendieck Theorem, there exist unit vectors $\xi_1, \xi_2, \eta_1, \eta_2 \in L^2M$ such that

$$|\varphi(a,b)| \le \|\varphi\| \left(\|a\xi_1\|_2^2 + \|\xi_2 a\|_2^2 \right)^{1/2} \left(\|b\eta_1\|_2^2 + \|\eta_2 b\|_2^2 \right)^{1/2}.$$

Thinking of L^2M as a subspace of unbounded affiliated operators, we let $p_1 = \chi_{[\parallel x \parallel^4, \infty)}(\xi_1 \xi_1^*)$. We then have

$$\begin{split} |\varphi(e,f)| &\leq |\varphi(ep_{1}^{\perp},f) + \varphi(ep_{1},f)| \\ &\leq \|\varphi\| \left(\|ep_{1}^{\perp}\xi_{1}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\xi_{2}e\|_{2}^{2} \right)^{1/2} \left(\|f\eta_{1}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\eta_{2}f\|_{2}^{2} \right)^{1/2} + \|x\| \|ep_{1}\|_{2} \|f\|_{2} \\ &\leq \|\varphi\| \left(\|ep_{1}^{\perp}\xi_{1}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\xi_{2}e\|_{2}^{2} + \|x\|^{2} \|ep_{1}\|_{2}^{2} \right)^{1/2} \left(\|f\eta_{1}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\eta_{2}f\|_{2}^{2} + \|f\|_{2}^{2} \right)^{1/2} \\ &= \|\varphi\| \left(\|ea_{0}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\xi_{2}e\|_{2}^{2} \right)^{1/2} \left(\|f\tilde{\eta}_{1}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\eta_{2}f\|_{2}^{2} \right)^{1/2}, \end{split}$$

where $a_0 = (p_1^{\perp} \xi_1 \xi_1^* p_1^{\perp} + \|x\|^4 p_1)^{1/2}$, and $\tilde{\eta}_1 = (\eta_1 \eta_1^* + 1)^{1/2}$. Note that $\|a_0\| \le \|x\|^2$ and $\|a_0\|_2 \le \|\xi_1\|_2 \le 1$, while $\|\tilde{\eta}_1\|_2^2 \le \|\eta_1\|_2^2 + 1 = 2$.

Similarly, if we let $p_2 = \chi_{[\|x\|^4,\infty)}(\xi_2^*\xi_2)$, then we see that

$$|\varphi(e,f)| \le \|\varphi\| \left(\|ea_0\|_2^2 + \|b_0e\|_2^2 \right)^{1/2} \left(\|f\tilde{\eta}_1\|_2^2 + \|\tilde{\eta}_2f\|_2^2 \right)^{1/2},$$

where $b_0 = (p_2^{\perp} \xi_2^* \xi_2 p_2^{\perp} + \|x\|^4 p_2)^{1/2}$ satisfies $\|b_0\| \le \|x\|^2$ and $\|b_0\|_2 \le 1$, and where $\tilde{\eta}_2 = (\eta_2^* \eta_2 + 1)^{1/2}$ satisfies $\|\tilde{\eta}_2\|_2 \le \sqrt{2}$.

Repeating this argument with $\tilde{\eta}_1$ and $\tilde{\eta}_2$, we obtain an inequality of the form

$$|\varphi(e,f)| \le \|\varphi\| \left(\|ea\|_2^2 + \|be\|_2^2 \right)^{1/2} \left(\|fc\|_2^2 + \|df\|_2^2 \right)^{1/2},$$
 (2.2)

where $a, b, c, d \in M$ are bounded with $||a||_2, ||b||_2, ||c||_2, ||d||_2 \le \sqrt{2}$.

If we let $V \subset L^2M \oplus L^2M$ denote the closed subspace spanned by elements of the form $ea \oplus be$, for $e \in M$, and if we let $W \subset L^2M \oplus L^2M$ denote the closed subspace spanned by elements of the form $fc \oplus df$, for $f \in M$, then from (2.2) we see that $\varphi(e,f)$ defines a bounded quadratic form on $V \times W$ and we therefore obtain a bounded operator $z \in \mathbb{M}_2(\mathbb{B}(L^2M))$ with $||z|| \leq ||\varphi||$ such that for all $e, f \in M$ we have

$$\varphi(e, f) = \langle z(ea \oplus be), (fc \oplus df) \rangle.$$

Hence we have
$$x = {JaJ \choose b}^* z {JcJ \choose d}$$
.

Corollary 2.3.2. Let M and N be finite von Neumann algebras, and $X \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)$ a subspace. If $T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)$, and $\{T_i\}_i \subset X$ is uniformly bounded such that $\|T_i - T\|_{\infty,1} \to 0$, then T is in the smallest subspace of $\mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)$ that contains X and is both a strong M-N bimodule and a strong JMJ-JNJ bimodule.

Also, if \mathcal{H} is a Hilbert space, $Y \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2N,\mathcal{H})$ is a subspace, $T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M,\mathcal{H})$, and $\{T_i\}_i \subset Y$ is uniformly bounded such that $||T - T_i||_{\infty,2} \to 0$, then T is in the smallest subspace of $\mathbb{B}(L^2N,\mathcal{H})$ that contains Y and is both a strong right N module and a strong right JNJ module.

Proof. Note there is no loss in generality by assuming that *X* is an *M-N* bimodule, and a *JMJ-JNJ* bimodule. By Proposition 2.2.1 we have

$$\mathbb{B}(L^2N,L^2M)^{M\sharp N}\cap\mathbb{B}(L^2N,L^2M)^{JMJ\sharp JNJ}=\mathbb{B}(L^2N,L^2M)^{M\sharp JNJ}\cap\mathbb{B}(L^2N,L^2M)^{JMJ\sharp N}.$$

Using this fact, we then see that Propositions 2.2.4 and 2.3.1 give the result for the case $X \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)$. The case $Y \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2N, \mathcal{H})$ follows similarly by using Ozawa's Lemma in [Oza10] instead of Proposition 2.3.1. Let M be a von Neumann algebra. If \mathbb{X} is a hereditary C^* -subalgebra of $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$, then we denote by $M(\mathbb{X})$ the multiplier algebra in $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$. An M-boundary piece is a hereditary C^* -subalgebra $\mathbb{X} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ such that $M(\mathbb{X}) \cap M$ and $M(\mathbb{X}) \cap JMJ$ are ultraweakly dense in M and JMJ respectively. To avoid pathological examples, we will always assume that $\mathbb{X} \neq \{0\}$, so that we then have $\mathbb{K}(L^2M) \subset \mathbb{X}$. The following are two motivating examples for this definition.

Example 2.3.3 (See [BIP21] and Section 15.1 in [BO08]). Suppose Γ is a group and $I \subset \ell^{\infty}\Gamma$ is a closed ideal that is invariant under the left and right actions of Γ and contains $c_0\Gamma$. Then $\mathbb{X}_I = I\mathbb{B}(\ell^2\Gamma)I$ gives a boundary piece for $L\Gamma$. Note that $C_{\lambda}^*\Gamma$ and $C_{\rho}^*\Gamma$ are contained in the multiplier algebra of $I\mathbb{B}(\ell^2\Gamma)I$

Example 2.3.4. Suppose $B \subset M$ is a von Neumann subalgebra and let $e_b \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ denote the orthogonal projection onto the space $L^2B \subset L^2M$. Then the algebraic span of operators of the form $x_1Jy_1JTJy_2Jx_2$, with $x_1, x_2, y_1, y_2 \in M$ and $T \in e_B\mathbb{B}(L^2M)e_B \cong \mathbb{B}(L^2B)$, forms a *-subalgebra, and its closure then forms a C^* -subalgebra of $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$, which we denote by \mathbb{X}_B . The C^* -algebra \mathbb{X}_B clearly contains M and JMJ in its multiplier algebra, and to see that it is hereditary we just note that it can be identified with the hereditary C^* -subalgebra of $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ that is generated by all operators of the form $xJyJe_B$ with $x,y \in M$.

We now fix an M-boundary piece \mathbb{X} and let $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^L = \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^L(M) \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ denote the $\|\cdot\|_{\infty,2}$ -closure of the closed left ideal $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)\mathbb{X}$, i.e.,

$$\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{L} = \overline{\mathbb{B}(L^{2}M)\mathbb{X}}^{\|\cdot\|_{\infty,2}}.$$

Proposition 2.3.5. The space $\mathbb{K}^L_{\mathbb{X}}$ is a closed left ideal in $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ such that M and JMJ are contained in the space of right multipliers.

Proof. First notice that $\|\cdot\|_{\infty,2} \leq \|\cdot\|$ on $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ and hence $\mathbb{K}^L_{\mathbb{X}}$ is closed. The fact that $\mathbb{K}^L_{\mathbb{X}}$ is a left ideal follows from the inequality $\|ST\|_{\infty,2} \leq \|S\|\|T\|_{\infty,2}$, for any $S \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ and $T \in \mathbb{K}^L_{\mathbb{X}}$.

To see M is in the right multiplier of $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{L}$, let $x \in M$ and $T \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{L}$ be given. Then, using Kaplansky's theorem, there exist sequences $\{T_n\} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)\mathbb{X}$ and $x_n \subset M(\mathbb{X}) \cap M$ such that $\|T_n - T\|_{\infty,2} \to 0$, $\|x_n\| \le \|x\|$ and $\|x_n - x\|_2 \to 0$. Notice that $T_n x_n \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)\mathbb{X}$ and

$$||T_n x_n - Tx||_{\infty,2} \le ||(T_n - T)x_n||_{\infty,2} + ||T(x - x_n)||_{\infty,2}$$

$$\le ||T_n - T||_{\infty,2} ||x|| + ||T|| ||x_n - x||_2 \to 0,$$

and thus $Tx \in \mathbb{K}^L_{\mathbb{X}}$. It similarly follows that JMJ is in the space of right multipliers.

We let $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}=\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ denote the hereditary C^* -algebra associated to $\mathbb{K}^L_{\mathbb{X}}$, i.e.,

$$\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}} = (\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{L})^* \cdot \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{L} = (\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{L})^* \cap \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{L}. \tag{2.3}$$

Note that from Proposition 2.3.5 we have that M and JMJ are contained in the multiplier algebra of $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}$. We let $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1} = \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(M) \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ denote the closure of \mathbb{X} in the $\|\cdot\|_{\infty,1}$ norm, i.e.,

$$\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1} = \overline{\mathbb{X}}^{\|\cdot\|_{\infty,1}}.\tag{2.4}$$

Proposition 2.3.6. We have $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1} = \overline{\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}}^{\|\cdot\|_{\infty,1}}$, and this is a self-adjoint closed strong M-M and JMJ-JMJ bimodule.

Proof. It is clear that $\mathbb{X} \subset \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}$ and hence it suffices to show $\overline{\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}}^{\|\cdot\|_{\infty,1}} \subset \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}$. For each $T \in \overline{\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}}^{\|\cdot\|_{\infty,1}}$, there exists $\{S_n\}$, $\{R_n\} \subset \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^L$ such that $\|S_n^*R_n - T\|_{\infty,1} \to 0$. Furthermore, for each n we have sequences $\{S_n^i\}$ and $\{R_n^i\}$ in $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)\mathbb{X}$ that converge to S_n and R_n in $\|\cdot\|_{\infty,2}$, respectively. By the polarization identity, we have $(S_n^i)^*R_n^i \in \mathbb{X}$ for each i and n. Note that for each n we have

$$\begin{split} \|(S_n^i)^*R_n^i - T\|_{\infty,1} &\leq \|((S_n^i)^* - S_n^*)R_n^i\|_{\infty,1} + \|S_n^*(R_n^n - R_n)\|_{\infty,1} + \|S_n^*R_n - T\|_{\infty,1} \\ &\leq \|S_n - S_n^i\|_{\infty,2} \|R_n^i\|_{\infty,2} + \|S_n\|_{\infty,2} \|R_n^i - R_n\|_{\infty,2} + \|S_n^*R_n - T\|_{\infty,1}, \end{split}$$

i.e., $\lim_{i\to\infty}\|(S_n^i)^*R_n^i-T\|_{\infty,1}\leq\|S_n^*R_n-T\|_{\infty,1}$. Thus for each n, we may pick i(n) such that $\|(S_n^{i(n)})^*R_n^{i(n)}-T\|_{\infty,1}\leq\|S_n^*R_n-T\|_{\infty,1}+2^{-n}$ and therefore $\lim_{n\to\infty}\|(S_n^{i(n)})^*R_n^{i(n)}-T\|_{\infty,1}=0$.

The fact that it is closed follows from the inequality $\|\cdot\|_{\infty,1} \le \|\cdot\|$ on $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$; since one also has $\|T\|_{\infty,1} = \|T^*\|_{\infty,1}$ for any $T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$, $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}$ is self-adjoint.

Since we have now established that $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1} = \overline{\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}}^{\|\cdot\|_{\infty,1}}$, Proposition 2.2.4 and Corollary 2.3.2 then show that $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1} = \overline{\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}}^{M-M JMJ-JMJ}$, which is a strong M-M and JMJ-JMJ bimodule.

Example 2.3.7. The space $\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M)$ is, in general, considerably larger than $\mathbb{K}(L^2M)$. For example, $\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M)$ may contain isometries. Indeed, if $\{p_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\subset \mathscr{P}(M)$ is an infinite partition of unity consisting of non-zero projections, and we let $V\in\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ be an isometry from L^2M onto the closed span of $\{p_n\}_n\subset L^2M$, and if we set $q_k=\sum_{n=k}^\infty p_n$, then we have $q_k^{\perp}V\in\mathbb{K}(L^2M)$ for each $k\geq 1$, and hence by Proposition 2.3.6 we have $V\in\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M)$.

If \mathscr{H} is a Hilbert space, then we also let $\mathbb{K}^L_{\mathbb{X}}(M,\mathscr{H}) = \overline{\mathbb{B}(L^2M,\mathscr{H})\mathbb{X}}^{\|\cdot\|_{\infty,2}}$. Note that by considering polar decomposition we have $T \in \mathbb{K}^L_{\mathbb{X}}(M,\mathscr{H})$ if and only if $|T| \in \mathbb{K}^L_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$.

Proposition 2.3.8. Let M be a finite von Neumann algebra, $\mathbb{X} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ a boundary piece, and \mathcal{H} a Hilbert space. If $T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M, \mathcal{H})$, then the following conditions are equivalent:

- 1. $T \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{L}(M, \mathcal{H})$.
- 2. $T^*T \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}$.
- 3. $T^*T \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}$.

Proof. The implications $(1) \Longrightarrow (2) \Longrightarrow (3)$ are clear. To see $(3) \Longrightarrow (1)$, recall from the proof of Proposition 2.3.6 that $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1} = \overline{\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{M-M}}^{JMJ-JMJ}$. It follows from Proposition 2.2.4 that there exist sequences of projections $\{p_n\}_n \subset \mathscr{P}(M)$ and $\{q_n\}_n \subset \mathscr{P}(JMJ)$ with $p_n \to 1$ and $q_n \to 1$ such that $p_nq_nT^*Tq_np_n \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}$. In particular, we then have $|T|q_np_n \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^L$ (see Proposition II.5.3.2 in [Bla06]), and it then follows that $|T| \in \overline{\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{L^{C-M}C-JMJ}}$, which coincides with $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^L$ by Proposition 2.2.4 and Corollary 2.3.2. By the remark before this proposition, we then have $T \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^L(M,\mathscr{H})$.

Lemma 2.3.9. Let M and N be finite von Neumann algebras and let $\phi: N \to M$ be a bounded map such that ϕ has a continuous extension $T_{\phi} \in \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)$. Then T_{ϕ} is compact as an operator from N into L^1M if and only if T_{ϕ} is compact as an operator from N into L^2M .

Proof. Suppose T_{ϕ} is compact as an operator from N into $L^{1}M$. Since $T_{\phi}^{*}: M \to L^{1}N$ is also compact, and since $\phi: N \to M$ is bounded, it follows that $T_{\phi}^{*}T_{\phi}$ is compact as an operator from N to $L^{1}N$.

Hence for any bounded sequence $\{x_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\subset N$ such that $x_n\to 0$ ultraweakly we have

$$||T_{\phi}(x_n)||_2^2 = \langle T_{\phi}^* T_{\phi} \widehat{x_n}, \widehat{x_n} \rangle \le ||T_{\phi}^* T_{\phi}(\widehat{x_n})||_1 \to 0.$$

Therefore T_{ϕ} is compact as an operator from N into L^2N .

Proof of Theorem 2.1.3. The implications $(1) \Longrightarrow (2) \Longrightarrow (3)$ are obvious, and we will show $(3) \Longrightarrow (1)$. Let $\{\phi_i\}_i$ be given as in (3). By a standard convexity argument (e.g., [OP10a, Theorem 2.1]), we may assume that ϕ_i satisfy $\phi_i(1) \le 1$ and $\tau \circ \phi_i \le \tau$. By Kadison's inequality, we then have that that each ϕ_i induces a bounded operator on L^2M , and by Lemma 2.3.9 each ϕ_i is compact as an operator from M to L^2M and hence, as in [Oza10], each ϕ_i is in the $\|\cdot\|_{\infty,2}$ -closure of $\mathbb{K}(L^2M)$. By Corollary 2.3.2, for each i and i0 there exists a projection i1 projection i2 projection i3 projection i4 projection i5 projection i6 projection i7 projection i8 projection i9 projection

In Section 2.5.3 we will give another perspective on Theorem 2.1.3 through the use of mixing Hilbert bimodules.

2.4 The convolution algebra associated to a von Neumann algebra

Let M and N be von Neumann algebras. We let $M \otimes_{Con} N^{op}$ be the subset of $M \otimes_{eh} N = CB^{\sigma}_{M'-N'}(\mathbb{B}(L^2N,L^2M))$ consisting of normal M'-N' bimodular completely bounded maps that preserve the space of trace-class operators¹. If $\mu \in M \otimes_{Con} N^{op}$, then we let $\mu^* \in CB^{\sigma}_{M'-N'}(\mathbb{B}(L^2N,L^2M)) = M \otimes_{eh} N$ denote the adjoint of the operator μ when restricted to the space of trace-class operators under the usual conjugate linear pairing between $\mathbb{B}(L^2N,L^2M)$ and the space of trace-class operators in $\mathbb{B}(L^2N,L^2M)$, i.e., $\mathrm{Tr}(\mu(S)T^*) = \mathrm{Tr}(S(\mu^*(T))^*)$ for each $S,T\in\mathbb{B}(L^2N,L^2M)$ with S trace-class. Note that since μ is continuous and preserves the trace-class operators, then μ also preserves the space of compact operators and hence the dual map μ^* again preserves the trace-class operators, thus the map $M\otimes_{Con}N^{op}\ni\mu\mapsto\mu^*\in M\otimes_{Con}N^{op}$ defines an involutive antilinear algebra-isomorphism.

Note that the involution $\mu \mapsto \mu^*$ extends the usual involution on the algebraic tensor product $M \otimes N^{op}$. We define a norm $\|\cdot\|_{Con}$ on $M \otimes_{Con} N^{op}$ by

$$\|\mu\|_{Con} = \max\{\|\mu\|_{M\otimes_{eh}N}, \|\mu^*\|_{M\otimes_{eh}N}\}.$$

We denote by J both the Tomita conjugation operator for M and for N. We let $\mathscr{J}: \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M) \to \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)$ denote the anti-linear isometry given by $\mathscr{J}(T) = JTJ$. We then have that $M \otimes_{eh} N \ni v \mapsto \mathscr{J}v\mathscr{J}$ gives an isometric anti-isomorphism between $M \otimes_{eh} N$ and $(JMJ) \otimes_{eh} (JNJ)$. We may therefore view $M \otimes_{Con} N^{op}$ as subspace of the ℓ^{∞} -direct sum

$$(M \otimes_{eh} N) \oplus^{\infty} ((JMJ) \otimes_{eh} (JNJ))$$

under the diagonal embedding $M \otimes_{Con} N^{op} \ni \mu \mapsto \mu \oplus \mathcal{J} \mu^* \mathcal{J}$. It is easy to check that this is a weak*-closed (and hence also norm closed) subspace, so that $M \otimes_{Con} N^{op}$ is a dual Banach space where the weak*-topology on bounded sets is given by point-ultraweak convergence applied to compact operators for a net $\{\mu_i^*\}_i$ and its adjoint net $\{\mu_i^*\}_i$.

Since $M \otimes_{eh} N = CB^{\sigma}_{M'-N'}(\mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M))$ is a Banach algebra under composition, it then follows that $M \otimes_{Con} N^{\text{op}}$ is a Banach *-algebra. Moreover, since the maps in $\mu \in M \otimes_{Con} N^{\text{op}}$ preserve the space of compact operators, it follows that multiplication in $M \otimes_{Con} N^{\text{op}}$ is separately weak*-continuous in each variable, and so we view $M \otimes_{Con} N^{\text{op}}$ as a dual Banach *-algebra.

¹The change in notation from N to N^{op} is to emphasize the fact that we will mainly consider $M \otimes_{Con} N^{op}$ not as a subspace of $M \otimes_{eh} N$, but rather as an algebra that contains the algebraic tensor product $M \otimes N^{op}$ as a subalgebra.

2.4.1 Convolution algebras associated to finite von Neumann algebras

Suppose now that M and N are finite von Neumann algebras with normal faithful traces. Let \mathcal{V} be a normal Banach M,N-bimodule. Following Connes [Con78] we consider the space $\mathcal{V}^{M
abla N} \subset \mathcal{V}^*$ consisting of continuous linear functionals φ such that there exists $K \geq 0$ for which we have

$$|\varphi(x^*\xi y)| \le K||x||_2 ||\xi|| ||y||_2, \quad x \in M, \quad \xi \in \mathcal{V}, \quad y \in N.$$
 (2.5)

When no confusion will arise, we will denote $\mathscr{V}^{M\natural N}$ simply by \mathscr{V}^{\natural} . We define the norm $\|\varphi\|_{\natural}$ to be the smallest $K \geq 0$ for which (2.5) holds. Note that $\|\varphi\| \leq \|\varphi\|_{\natural}$ and it then follows that the unit ball in \mathscr{V}^{\natural} is compact for the weak-* topology $\sigma(\mathscr{V}^{\natural},\mathscr{V})$. Thus, if we define a semi-norm on \mathscr{V} by $\|\xi\|_{\flat} = \sup_{\varphi \in \mathscr{V}^{\natural}, \|\varphi\|_{\natural} \leq 1} |\varphi(\xi)|$, then with this semi-norm \mathscr{V} has dense image in a Banach space \mathscr{V}_{\flat} such that \mathscr{V}^{\natural} is dual to \mathscr{V}_{\flat} .

The space \mathscr{V}^{\natural} inherits an N,M-bimodule structure from \mathscr{V}^* , i.e., if $\varphi \in \mathscr{V}^{\natural}$ and $x \in N$, $y \in M$, then $(x\varphi y)(\xi) = \varphi(y\xi x)$. Since $||xa||_2 \le ||x|| ||a||_2$ and $||by||_2 \le ||y|| ||b||_2$ for $a \in N$, $b \in M$, we then have $||x\varphi y||_{\natural} \le ||x|| ||\varphi||_{\natural} ||y||$ for $\varphi \in \mathscr{V}^{\natural}$, and hence also $||x\xi y||_{\flat} \le ||x|| ||\xi||_{\flat} ||y||$ for $\xi \in \mathscr{V}_{\flat}$. Thus, \mathscr{V}_{\flat} is a Banach M,N-bimodule and \mathscr{V}^{\natural} is a dual Banach N,M-bimodule. Also, for fixed $\varphi \in \mathscr{V}^{\natural}$, $\xi \in \mathscr{V}$, $x \in M$, and $y \in N$, we have $||\varphi(\xi y)|| \le ||\varphi||_{\flat} ||y||_2 ||\xi||$, and $||\varphi(x\xi)|| \le ||\varphi||_{\flat} ||x||_2 ||\xi||$ so that \mathscr{V}^{\natural} is a normal dual Banach N,M-bimodule.

From (2.5) we see that for each $\varphi \in \mathscr{V}^{\natural}$ we obtain a map $\Psi_{\varphi} : \mathscr{V} \to \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)$ such that for all $\xi \in \mathscr{V}$ we have

$$\langle \Psi_{\varphi}(\xi)\hat{y},\hat{x}\rangle = \varphi(x^*\xi y).$$

Moreover, we see that Ψ_{φ} is M,N-bimodular and $\|\Psi_{\varphi}\| = \|\varphi\|_{\natural}$. Conversely, to every M,N-bimodular bounded map Ψ we obtain a linear functional $\varphi_{\Psi} \in \mathscr{V}^{\natural}$ by $\varphi_{\Psi}(\xi) = \langle \Psi(\xi)\hat{1},\hat{1} \rangle$. These maps are inverses of each other so that we have an isometric isomorphism between \mathscr{V}^{\natural} and the bimodule dual considered in [Mag05].

$$\mathscr{V}^{\natural} \cong \mathbb{B}_{M-N}(\mathscr{V}, \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)).$$

We may also view $\mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)$ as an N, M-bimodule with the bimodule structure given by $x \cdot T \cdot y = Jy^*JTJx^*J$. This then induces a bimodule structure on $\mathbb{B}_{M-N}(\mathscr{V}, \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M))$ by post composition. It is then easy to see that $\mathscr{V}^{\natural} \ni \varphi \mapsto \Psi_{\varphi}$ is an N, M-bimodular map.

Moreover, for a uniformly bounded net $\{\varphi_i\}_i$ we see that $\varphi_i \to \varphi$ weak* if and only if $\Psi_{\varphi_i}(\xi) \to \Psi_{\varphi}(\xi)$ in the ultraweak topology for each $\xi \in \mathscr{V}$. Thus, the map $\mathscr{V}^{\natural} \ni \varphi \mapsto \Psi_{\varphi} \in \mathbb{B}_{M,N}(\mathscr{V},\mathbb{B}(L^2N,L^2M))$ gives an isomorphism of dual Banach N,M-bimodules

$$\mathscr{V}^{\natural} \cong \mathbb{B}_{M-N}(\mathscr{V}, \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)).$$

Note that the latter space is naturally a dual normal operator N, M-bimodule [ER88], and we endow \mathcal{V}^{\natural} with this operator bimodule structure.

If \mathscr{V} is an operator M, N-bimodule, then by Smith's theorem [Smi91] we have

$$\mathbb{B}_{M-N}(\mathcal{V}, \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)) = CB_{M-N}(\mathcal{V}, \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)),$$

and hence we may rewrite the semi-norm $\|\cdot\|_{\flat}$ on $\mathscr V$ as

$$\|\xi\|_{\flat} = \sup_{\substack{\phi: \mathcal{V} \to \mathbb{B}(L^{2}N, L^{2}M), \\ M-N \text{ bimodular, } \|\phi\|_{L^{\flat}} \le 1}} |\langle \phi(\xi)\hat{1}, \hat{1} \rangle|. \tag{2.6}$$

It then follows from Wittstock's extension theorem that if $\mathcal{W} \subset \mathcal{V}$ is an operator M, N-sub-bimodule, then we have an isometric inclusion $\mathcal{W}_{\flat} \subset \mathcal{V}_{\flat}$.

From the discussion above, we obtain a completely isometric isomorphism

$$M \otimes_{eh} N = CB_{M'-N'}(\mathbb{K}(L^2N, L^2M), \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)) \cong \mathbb{K}(L^2N, L^2M)^{M' \nmid N'}.$$

Note that $\mathbb{K}(L^2N, L^2M)$ and $\mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)$ are also natural M, N-bimodules. We set

$$\mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)^{\natural}_I = \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)^{M\natural N} \cap \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)^{M'\natural N'}$$

and

$$\mathbb{K}(L^2N, L^2M)_J^{\natural} = \mathbb{K}(L^2N, L^2M)^{M\natural N} \cap \mathbb{K}(L^2N, L^2M)^{M'\natural N'}.$$

We endow these spaces with their natural norms coming from interpolation theory.

Restricting the isomorphism $M \otimes_{eh} N \cong \mathbb{K}(L^2N, L^2M)^{M'
above then gives an isometric isomorphism$

$$M \otimes_{Con} N^{\operatorname{op}} \cong \mathbb{K}(L^2N, L^2M)_J^{\natural},$$

and one can check easily that $\Psi_{\phi^*} = (\Psi_{\phi})^*$ and $\phi_{\Psi^*} = (\phi_{\Psi})^*$ for any $\phi \in \mathbb{K}(L^2N, L^2M)_J^{\natural}$ and $\Psi \in M \otimes_{Con} N^{\operatorname{op}}$, where $\phi^*(\cdot) := \overline{\phi(J \cdot J)}$.

The advantage of viewing $M \otimes_{Con} N^{op}$ as a subspace of the dual of $\mathbb{K}(L^2N, L^2M)$ is that we may then use techniques for linear functionals, e.g., Jordan decomposition, when working with elements in $M \otimes_{Con} N^{op}$, see, e.g., Lemma 2.5.4 below or [DP20] where similar techniques are developed.

Lemma 2.4.1. Let M and N be tracial von Neumann algebras and suppose we have faithful normal repre-

sentations $M \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ and $N \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{K})$, then $\mathbb{K}(\mathcal{K}, \mathcal{H})^{\natural}$ is norm dense in $\mathbb{K}(\mathcal{K}, \mathcal{H})^*$.

Proof. If $\xi \in \mathcal{H}$ and $\eta \in \mathcal{K}$ are unit vectors such that $\langle a\xi, \xi \rangle \leq K \|a\|_1$ for all $0 \leq a \in M$, and $\langle b\eta, \eta \rangle \leq L \|b\|_1$ for all $0 \leq b \in N$, and if we take $x \in M$ and $y \in N$, then if we denote by $V_{\xi,\eta}$ the rank-1 partial isometry mapping η to ξ we see that the rank-1 operator $xV_{\xi,\eta}y$ corresponds to a linear functional in $\mathbb{K}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{H})^{\natural}$, and a simple computation shows that $\|xV_{\xi,\eta}y\|_{\natural} \leq K^{1/2}L^{1/2}\|x\|\|y\|$. The lemma is then established by simply noting that the span of such operators is dense in the space of trace-class operators in $\mathbb{B}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{H})$.

Lemma 2.4.2. Let M and N be tracial von Neumann algebras, suppose we have a uniformly bounded net $\{x_i\}_i \subset M$ with $\|x_i\|_2 \to 0$, and a uniformly bounded net $\{\mu_i\}_i \subset M \otimes_{Con} N^{\operatorname{op}}$. If \mathscr{W} is a normal dual operator M-N-bimodule, then for all $v \in \mathscr{W}$ we have weak*-convergence $\mu_i \circ (x_i \otimes 1)(v) \to 0$ and $(x_i \otimes 1) \circ \mu_i(v) \to 0$.

Proof. We suppose $M \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$, $N \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ and $\mathcal{W} \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{K}, \mathcal{H})$ is a weak*-closed M-N-bimodule. Suppose $v \in \mathcal{W}$ and $\varphi \in \mathbb{K}(\mathcal{K}, \mathcal{H})^{\natural}$, then

$$\begin{aligned} |\varphi(\mu_{i} \circ (x_{i} \otimes 1)(v))| &\leq ||v|| ||\varphi \circ \mu_{i}||_{\natural} ||x_{i}||_{2} \\ &\leq ||v|| ||\varphi||_{\natural} ||\mu_{i}||_{Con} ||x_{i}||_{2} \to 0. \end{aligned}$$

We similarly have

$$\begin{aligned} |\varphi((x_i \otimes 1) \circ \mu_i(v))| &\leq ||\mu_i(v)|| ||\varphi||_{\natural} ||x_i||_2 \\ &\leq ||v|| ||\mu_i||_{Con} ||\varphi||_{\natural} ||x_i||_2 \to 0. \end{aligned}$$

By Lemma 2.4.1 we have that $\mathbb{K}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{H})^{\natural}$ is dense in $\mathbb{K}(\mathcal{K},\mathcal{H})^*$ and hence we have ultraweak convergence $\mu_i \circ (x_i \otimes 1)(v) \to 0$ and $(x_i^* \otimes 1) \circ \mu_i(v) \to 0$.

2.5 Mixing operator bimodules

2.5.1 A relative topology on the convolution algebra

If M and N are finite von Neumann algebras and if $\mathbb{X} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ and $\mathbb{Y} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2N)$ are boundary pieces for M and N respectively, then we may generalize (2.3) and (2.4) as in Proposition 2.3.6 and define the spaces

$$\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X},\mathbb{Y}}(N,M) = \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)\mathbb{B}(L^{2}N,L^{2}M)\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{Y}}(N);$$

$$\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{Y},\mathbb{V}}^{\infty,1}(N,M) = \overline{\mathbb{X}}\mathbb{B}(L^{2}N,L^{2}M)\overline{\mathbb{Y}}^{\|\cdot\|_{\infty,1}} = \overline{\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{Y}}^{L}(M)^{*}\mathbb{B}(L^{2}N,L^{2}M)\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{Y}}^{L}(N)}^{\|\cdot\|_{\infty,1}}.$$

When \mathbb{X} and \mathbb{Y} are the spaces of compact operators on L^2M and L^2N respectively we denote the space $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(N,M)$ by $\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(N,M)$.

Realizing the extended Haagerup tensor product as a space of normal completely bounded operators $M \otimes_{eh} N \cong CB^{\sigma}_{M'-N'}(\mathbb{B}(L^2N,L^2M))$ we may restrict to $\mathbb{XB}(L^2N,L^2M)\mathbb{Y}$ to obtain an isometric embedding into a dual operator space

$$M \otimes_{eh} N \subset CB_{M'-N'}(\mathbb{X}\mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)\mathbb{Y}, \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M))$$
$$\subset CB(\mathbb{X}\mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)\mathbb{Y}, \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M))$$
$$= ((\mathbb{X}\mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)\mathbb{Y}) \otimes_{\pi} \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)_*)^*$$

where \otimes_{π} denotes the operator space projective tensor product. We introduce the \mathbb{X} - \mathbb{Y} -topology on $M \otimes_{eh} N$ as the restriction to $M \otimes_{eh} N$ of the weak*-topology in $CB(\mathbb{X}\mathbb{B}(L^2N,L^2M)\mathbb{Y},\mathbb{B}(L^2N,L^2M))$, so that a uniformly bounded net $\{\mu_i\}_i \subset M \otimes_{eh} N$ will converge to $\mu \in M \otimes_{eh} N$ in the \mathbb{X} - \mathbb{Y} -topology if and only if we have ultraweak convergence $\mu_i(T) \to \mu(T)$ for each $T \in \mathbb{X}\mathbb{B}(L^2N,L^2M)\mathbb{Y}$. In the case when M = N and $\mathbb{X} = \mathbb{Y}$ we refer to the \mathbb{X} -topology on $M \otimes_{eh} M$.

Note that by the Krein-Šmulian Theorem if $A \subset M \otimes_{eh} N$ is convex, then A is closed in the \mathbb{X} - \mathbb{Y} -topology if and only if the intersection of A with each closed ball in $M \otimes_{eh} N$ is closed in the \mathbb{X} - \mathbb{Y} -topology. As a consequence it follows that the space of bounded linear functionals in $(M \otimes_{eh} N)^*$ that are continuous with respect to the \mathbb{X} - \mathbb{Y} -topology forms a norm closed set. From this one then deduces from Lemma 1.2(iv) in [SZ79] that a bounded linear functional $\varphi \in (M \otimes_{eh} N)^*$ is continuous in the \mathbb{X} - \mathbb{Y} -topology when restricted to any bounded set.

If we consider the isometric embedding

$$M \otimes_{Con} N^{\operatorname{op}} \ni \mu \mapsto \mu \oplus \mathscr{J} \mu^* \mathscr{J} \in (M \otimes_{eh} N) \oplus^{\infty} ((JMJ) \otimes_{eh} (JNJ)),$$

then endowing $M \otimes_{eh} N$ and and $(JMJ) \otimes_{eh} (JNJ)$ with their \mathbb{X} - \mathbb{Y} -topologies we may restrict to obtain a topology on $M \otimes_{eh} N$, which we will, by abuse of terminology, also call the \mathbb{X} - \mathbb{Y} -topology on $M \otimes_{Con} N^{op}$.

The same analysis applies for $M \otimes_{Con} N^{op}$ as for $M \otimes_{eh} N$, so that, in particular, a bounded linear functional $\varphi \in (M \otimes_{Con} N^{op})^*$ is continuous in the \mathbb{X} - \mathbb{Y} -topology if and only if φ is continuous in the \mathbb{X} - \mathbb{Y} -topology when restricted to any bounded set.

We let $P_{\hat{1}} \in \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)$ denote the rank-one partial isometry given by $P_{\hat{1}}(\xi) = \langle \xi, \hat{1} \rangle \hat{1}$. If $\mu \in M \otimes_{Con} \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)$

 N^{op} , $a \in M$ and $b \in N$, then

$$\langle \mu^*(JaP_{\hat{1}}bJ)\hat{1}, \hat{1} \rangle = \operatorname{Tr}(\mu^*(JaJP_{\hat{1}}JbJ)P_{\hat{1}}) = \operatorname{Tr}(\mu^*(P_{\hat{1}})JbJP_{\hat{1}}JaJ)$$
$$= \overline{\operatorname{Tr}(\mu(aP_{\hat{1}}b)P_{\hat{1}})} = \langle \hat{1}, \mu(aP_{\hat{1}}b)\hat{1} \rangle.$$

Taking spans and using weak*-density it then follows that for all $T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)$ we have

$$\langle \mu^*(JTJ)\hat{1}, \hat{1} \rangle = \langle \hat{1}, \mu(T)\hat{1} \rangle,$$
 (2.7)

If we now have a uniformly bounded net $\{\mu_i\}_i \subset M \otimes_{Con} N^{\operatorname{op}}$, then $\mu_i \to 0$ in the \mathbb{X} - \mathbb{Y} -topology (in $M \otimes_{Con} N^{\operatorname{op}}$) if and only if for all $T \in \mathbb{XB}(L^2N, L^2M)\mathbb{Y}$ we have $\mu_i(T) \to 0$ ultraweakly, and $\mu_i^*(JTJ) \to 0$ ultraweakly. Note however, that since each μ_i is M'-N' bimodular we have that $\mu_i(T) \to 0$ ultraweakly if and only if $\langle \mu_i(T) \hat{1}, \hat{1} \rangle \to 0$. However, by (2.7) we have that $\mu_i^*(JTJ) \to 0$ ultraweakly if and only if $\langle \hat{1}, \mu_i(T) \hat{1} \rangle = \langle \mu_i^*(JTJ) \hat{1}, \hat{1} \rangle \to 0$, and hence this already occurs when $\mu_i(T) \to 0$ ultraweakly. Thus, we see that $\mu_i \to 0$ in the \mathbb{X} - \mathbb{Y} -topology in $M \otimes_{Con} N^{\operatorname{op}}$ if and only if $\mu_i \to 0$ in the \mathbb{X} - \mathbb{Y} -topology in $M \otimes_{Con} N^{\operatorname{op}}$.

2.5.2 Relatively mixing bimodules

Given a dual normal operator M-N-bimodule $\mathscr{W} \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})$ we say that a vector $w \in \mathscr{W}$ is mixing relative to $\mathbb{X} \times \mathbb{Y}$ (or just mixing if $\mathbb{X} = \mathbb{K}(L^2M)$ and $\mathbb{Y} = \mathbb{K}(L^2N)$) if the map $M \otimes_{Con} N^{op} \ni \mu \mapsto \mu(w) \in \mathscr{W}$ is continuous from the \mathbb{X} - \mathbb{Y} -topology to the weak*-topology. We note that this is equivalent to the map $M \otimes_{Con} N^{op} \ni \mu \mapsto \mu(w)$ being continuous on uniformly bounded subsets. We let $\mathscr{W}_{\mathbb{X}-\mathbb{Y}-\text{mix}}$ denote the set of vectors that are mixing relative to $\mathbb{X} \times \mathbb{Y}$ (we denote this space by \mathscr{W}_{mix} in the case when $\mathbb{X} = \mathbb{K}(L^2M)$ and $\mathbb{Y} = \mathbb{K}(L^2N)$). It is easy to see that this is a norm closed subspace of \mathscr{W} . We say that \mathscr{W} is mixing relative to $\mathbb{X} \times \mathbb{Y}$ if $\mathscr{W}_{\mathbb{X}-\mathbb{Y}-\text{mix}} = \mathscr{W}$.

The bimodule \mathcal{W}_{mix} need not be weak*-closed in general. However, it will always be closed in the M-N-topology, so that it is a strong operator M-N-bimodule.

Proposition 2.5.1. Let M and N be a finite von Neumann algebras, and $\mathbb{X} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ and $\mathbb{Y} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2N)$ boundary pieces for M and N respectively. Suppose $\mathcal{W} \subset \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is a dual normal operator M-N-bimodule, then $\mathcal{W}_{\mathbb{X}-\mathbb{Y}-\min}$ is a strong operator M-N-bimodule.

Proof. First note that since $\mathbb{XB}(L^2N, L^2M)\mathbb{Y}$ is an $(M(\mathbb{X}) \cap M)$ - $(M(\mathbb{Y}) \cap N)$ bimodule it follows that $\mathcal{W}_{\mathbb{X}-\mathbb{Y}-\text{mix}}$ is also an $(M(\mathbb{X}) \cap M)$ - $(M(\mathbb{Y}) \cap N)$ bimodule.

We now fix $x \in M$ and $v \in \mathcal{W}_{\mathbb{X}-\mathbb{Y}-\text{mix}}$, then by Kaplansky's Density Theorem there exists a uniformly bounded net $\{x_i\}_i \subset M(\mathbb{X}) \cap M$ such that $\|x-x_i\|_2 \to 0$.

If $\{\mu_j\}_j \subset M \otimes_{Con} N^{\operatorname{op}}$ is uniformly bounded such that $\mu_j \to 0$ in the \mathbb{X} - \mathbb{Y} -topology, then by Lemma 2.4.2, for each $\varphi \in \mathscr{W}_*$ we have

$$\lim_{i\to\infty}\sup_{j}|\varphi(\mu_{j}((x-x_{i})v))|=0.$$

It then follows that $\lim_{i\to\infty} \varphi(\mu_j(xv)) = 0$, and since the net $\{\mu_j\}_j \subset M \otimes_{Con} N^{op}$ was arbitrary we then have that $xv \in \mathcal{W}_{\mathbb{X}-\mathbb{Y}-\text{mix}}$. Thus $\mathcal{W}_{\mathbb{X}-\mathbb{Y}-\text{mix}}$ is a left M-module, and a similar argument shows that it is also a right N-module.

We now fix $v \in \mathcal{W}$ and suppose $\{p_i\}_i \subset M$ is an increasing sequence of projections which converge to 1 and such that $p_i v \in \mathcal{W}_{\mathbb{X}-\mathbb{Y}-\text{mix}}$ for all i. Let $\mu_j \in M \otimes_{Con} N^{\text{op}}$ be uniformly bounded such that $\mu_j \to 0$ in the \mathbb{X} - \mathbb{Y} -topology. Another application of Lemma 2.4.2 shows that for each $\varphi \in \mathcal{W}_*$ we have

$$\lim_{i\to\infty}\sup_{j}|\varphi(\mu_{j}(p_{i}^{\perp}v))|=0,$$

and it then follows just as above that $\lim_{j\to\infty} \varphi(\mu_j(v)) = 0$, so that $v \in \mathscr{W}_{\mathbb{X}-\text{mix}}$. By Theorem 2.1 in [Mag98] it then follows that $\mathscr{W}_{\mathbb{X}-\mathbb{Y}-\text{mix}}$ is a strong left M-module. The fact that $\mathscr{W}_{\mathbb{X}-\mathbb{Y}-\text{mix}}$ is a strong right N-module follows similarly.

Corollary 2.5.2. *Under the hypotheses of the previous lemma, multiplication in* $M \otimes_{Con} N^{op}$ *is separately continuous in the* \mathbb{X} - \mathbb{Y} -topology.

Proof. If $\mu \in M \otimes_{Con} N^{\operatorname{op}}$ and $\{\mu_i\}_i \subset M \otimes_{Con} N^{\operatorname{op}}$ is uniformly bounded such that $\mu_i \to 0$ in the \mathbb{X} - \mathbb{Y} -topology, then as $\mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M) \ni S \mapsto \mu(S)$ is a normal map it then follows that $\mu(\mu_i(T)) \to 0$ ultraweakly for all $T \in \mathbb{XB}(L^2N, L^2M)\mathbb{Y}$, and hence, $\mu \cdot \mu_i \to 0$ in the \mathbb{X} - \mathbb{Y} -topology.

We also have that $\mu_i(T) \to 0$ ultraweakly for each $T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)_{\mathbb{X}\text{-}\mathbb{Y}-\text{mix}}$, and by the previous proposition $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_{\mathbb{X}-\text{mix}}$ is an $M \otimes_{Con} M^{\text{op}}$ -module, which then shows that $\mu_i(\mu(T)) \to 0$ ultraweakly for all $T \in \mathbb{X}\mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)\mathbb{Y}$, hence $\mu_i \cdot \mu \to 0$ in the \mathbb{X} - \mathbb{Y} -topology.

We recall that $\mathbb{B}(L^2N,L^2M)^{M\sharp N}$ denotes the space of bounded linear functionals $\varphi\in\mathbb{B}(L^2N,L^2M)^*$ such that for each $T\in\mathbb{B}(L^2N,L^2M)$ the map $M\times M\ni(a,b)\mapsto\varphi(aTb)$ is separately normal in each variable. We let

$$\mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)_J^{\sharp} = \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)^{M\sharp N} \cap \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)^{M'\sharp N'}.$$

Note that by Theorem 4.2 in [Mag98] if \mathscr{A} is a unital C^* -algebra with $M \subset \mathscr{A}$, then we have $\varphi \in \mathscr{A}^{\sharp}$ if and only if the maps $L_{\varphi}: M \to \mathscr{A}^*$, $R_{\varphi}: M \to \mathscr{A}^*$ defined by $L_{\varphi}(x)(T) = \varphi(x^*T)$, and $R_{\varphi}(x)(T) = \varphi(Tx)$ are

continuous from the ultrastrong topology on M to the norm topology on \mathscr{A}^* . In particular, it follows that if $\varphi \in \mathscr{A}^{\sharp}$, then for each $T \in \mathscr{A}$ the map $M^2 \ni (x,y) \mapsto \varphi(x^*Ty)$ is jointly strong operator topology continuous on bounded sets.

Lemma 2.5.3. Suppose \mathscr{A} is a unital normal M- C^* -algebra. If $\varphi \in \mathscr{A}^{\sharp}$ is Hermitian with Jordan decomposition $\varphi = \varphi_+ - \varphi_-$, then $\varphi_+, \varphi_- \in \mathscr{A}^{\sharp}$.

Proof. Suppose first that $\varphi \in \mathscr{A}^{\sharp}$. Take $x_i \in M_+$ increasing with $x_i \to 1$ strongly. For all $T \in \mathscr{A}$ we then have $\varphi(x_i^{1/2}Tx_i^{1/2}) \to \varphi(T)$. Take arbitrary subnets such that ψ_+ , and ψ_- are weak* limits of $\mathscr{A} \ni T \mapsto \varphi_+(x_i^{1/2}Tx_i^{1/2})$ and $\mathscr{A} \ni T \mapsto \varphi_-(x_i^{1/2}Tx_i^{1/2})$ respectively. Then $\varphi = \psi_+ - \psi_-$ and $\|\psi_+\| + \|\psi_-\| \le \|\varphi_+\| + \|\varphi_-\| = \|\varphi\|$ so that we have $\psi_+ = \varphi_+$ and $\psi_- = \varphi_-$ by uniqueness of Jordan decomposition. As the subnets were arbitrary we then have $\varphi_+(x_i) \to \varphi_+(1)$, and $\varphi_-(x_i) \to \varphi_-(1)$. It therefore follows that $\varphi_+|_M, \varphi_-|_M \in M_*$ and hence $\varphi_+, \varphi_- \in \mathscr{A}^{\sharp}$.

Recall that we may view $\mathbb{K}(L^2(M,\tau))^{\natural}$ as a subspace of $\mathbb{B}(L^2(M,\tau))^{\natural}$. Indeed, by the discussion in Section 2.4.1, we have natural operator space isomorphisms

$$\mathbb{K}(L^2(M,\tau))^{\natural} \cong CB_{M-M}(\mathbb{K}(L^2(M,\tau)), \mathbb{B}(L^2(M,\tau))) \cong CB_{M-M}^{\sigma}(\mathbb{B}(L^2(M,\tau)))$$

and $\mathbb{B}(L^2(M,\tau))^{\natural} \cong CB_{M-M}(\mathbb{B}(L^2(M,\tau)))$. In the saem way, we may view $\mathbb{K}(L^2(M,\tau))^{\natural}_J$ as a subspace of $\mathbb{B}(L^2(M,\tau))^{\natural}_J$.

Lemma 2.5.4. Let (M, τ) be a tracial von Neumann algebra. Given a state $\varphi \in \mathbb{B}(L^2(M, \tau))^{\natural}$ (resp. $\mathbb{B}(L^2(M, \tau))^{\natural}_J$) there exists a net of states $\mu_i \in \mathbb{K}(L^2(M, \tau))^{\natural}$ (resp. $\mathbb{K}(L^2(M, \tau))^{\natural}_J$) such that $\mu_i \to \varphi$ weak* and $\|\mu_i\|_{\natural} \le 2\|\varphi\|_{\natural}$ (resp. $\|\mu_i\|_{Con} \le 4\|\varphi\|_{Con}$).

Proof. Given a state $\varphi \in \mathbb{B}(L^2(M,\tau))^{\natural}$, we may find a net of positive functionals $\mu_i^0 \in \mathbb{K}(L^2M)^*$ converging weak* to φ , with $\|\mu_i^0\| \leq \|\varphi\|$. Since $\varphi_{|M}$ is normal we have that $\mu_{i|M} \to \varphi_{|M}$ in the weak topology in M_* and hence by taking convex combinations we may assume that $\|\mu_{i|M} - \varphi_{|M}\| \to 0$. If $a_i \in M_+$ is such that $\mu_i(x) = \tau(xa_i)$ for $x \in M$, then setting $p_i = 1_{[0,2\|\varphi\|_{\natural}]}(a_i)$ and $\tilde{\mu}_i(\cdot) = \mu_i(p_i \cdot p_i)/\tau(p_ia_i)$ we have that $\|\tilde{\mu}_i\|_{\natural} \leq 2\|\varphi\|_{\natural}$. Moreover, since $\|\mu_{i|M} - \varphi_{|M}\| \to 0$ we have $\mu_i(p_i) \to 1$ so that the Cauchy-Schwarz Inequality gives $\|\mu_i - \tilde{\mu}_i\| \to 0$. Hence, $\tilde{\mu}_i \to \varphi$ in the weak*-topology.

In the case when $\varphi \in \mathbb{B}(L^2(M,\tau))_J^{\natural}$ we may also assume that $\|\mu_{i|JMJ} - \varphi_{|JMJ}\| \to 0$ and repeat the above argument by considering $\tilde{\mu}_{i|JMJ}$ to construct $\tilde{\tilde{\mu}}_i \in \mathbb{K}(L^2(M,\tau))_J^{\natural}$ with $\|\tilde{\tilde{\mu}}_i\|_{Con} \le 4\|\varphi\|_{Con}$.

Lemma 2.5.5. Let M and N be tracial von Neumann algebras. If $\varphi \in \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)_J^{\sharp}$, then there is a uniformly bounded net $\{\mu_i\}_i \subset \mathbb{K}(L^2N, L^2M)_J^{\sharp}$ such that φ is the weak* limit of $\{\mu_i\}_i$.

Proof. We first consider the case when M=N. By considering the real and imaginary parts separately, it suffices to consider the case when φ is Hermitian. Moreover, by Lemma 2.5.3 it then suffices to consider the case when φ is positive. So suppose $\varphi \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)^{\sharp}_J$ is a positive linear functional. For each $\varepsilon > 0$ there exist K > 0, and a projections $p \in \mathcal{P}(M)$, with $\tau(p), \geq 1 - \varepsilon/2$ such that $|\varphi(pxp)| \leq K||x||_1$ for all $x \in M$.

We may similarly find a projection $q \in \mathcal{P}(JMJ)$ and L > 0 such that $\tau(q) \ge 1 - \varepsilon$ and $|\varphi(pqyqp)| \le L||y||_1$ for all $y \in JMJ$. Note that if $x \in M$ has polar decomposition x = v|x|, then by Cauchy-Schwarz we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\varphi(qpxpq)| &\leq \varphi(pv|x|^{1/2}q|x|^{1/2}v^*p)^{1/2}\varphi(p|x|^{1/2}q|x|^{1/2}p)^{1/2} \\ &\leq K||v|x|v^*||_1^{1/2}|||x|||_1^{1/2} = K||x||_1. \end{aligned}$$

Also, note that since $\varphi \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp}$ it follows that taking ε tending to 0, the corresponding net $qp\varphi pq$ converges weak* to φ . Since $qp\varphi pq \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp}$ the result then follows from Lemma 2.5.4.

To prove the general case we set $\tilde{M} = M \oplus N$ and realize $\mathbb{K}(L^2N, L^2M) = (1_M \oplus 0)\mathbb{K}(L^2\tilde{M})(0 \oplus 1_N)$, and $\mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M) = (1_M \oplus 0)\mathbb{B}(L^2\tilde{M})(0 \oplus 1_N)$. If $\varphi \in \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)_J^{M\sharp N}$, then the map φ' defined by $\varphi'(T) = \varphi((1_M \oplus 0)T(0 \oplus 1_N))$ defines an element of $\mathbb{B}(L^2\tilde{M})_J^{\sharp}$, and if $\mu_i \in \mathbb{K}(L^2\tilde{M})_J^{\sharp}$ are such that $\mu_i \to \varphi$ weak*, then the maps $\mu_{i|\mathbb{K}(L^2N, L^2M)}$ are in $\mathbb{K}(L^2N, L^2M)_J^{\sharp}$ and converge weak* to φ .

Theorem 2.5.6. Let M and N be tracial von Neumann algebras. Suppose $\mathbb{X} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ and $\mathbb{Y} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2N)$ are boundary pieces. Fix $T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)$. The following conditions are equivalent:

- 1. $T \in \mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}_{\mathbb{X},\mathbb{Y}}(N,M)$.
- 2. $T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)_{\mathbb{X}-\mathbb{Y}-\text{mix}}$.
- 3. $T \in \overline{\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}\mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{Y}}^{M-N}}^{JMJ-JNJ}$.
- 4. $\varphi(T) = 0$ whenever $\varphi \in \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)_J^{\sharp}$ such that $\varphi_{|\mathbb{XB}(L^2N, L^2M)\mathbb{Y}} = 0$.

Moreover, if M = N, $\mathbb{X} = \mathbb{Y}$ with $M, JMJ \subset M(\mathbb{X})$, and if $T \in M(\mathbb{X})$, then the above conditions are also equivalent to either of the following conditions:

- 5. $\varphi(T) = 0$ for all states $\varphi \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp}$ such that $\varphi_{|\mathbb{X}} = 0$.
- 6. Whenever we have a net of states $\mu_i \in \mathbb{K}(L^2M)_J^{\natural}$ such that $\{\mu_i\}_i$ is uniformly bounded in $M \otimes_{Con} M^{\operatorname{op}}$ and such that $\mu_i(S) \to 0$ for all $S \in \mathbb{X}$, then we have $\mu_i(T) \to 0$.

Proof. The equivalence between (3) and (1) follows from Proposition 2.3.1. An application of the Hahn-Banach theorem gives the equivalence between (3) and (4). By Proposition 2.5.1 we have that $\mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)_{\mathbb{X}-\mathbb{Y}-\text{mix}}$ is a strong M-N bimodule, and it is easy to see that it is also a strong M'-N' bimodule. Since $\mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)_{\mathbb{X}-\mathbb{Y}-\text{mix}}$

contains $\mathbb{XB}(L^2N, L^2M)\mathbb{Y}$ it then follows from Corollary 2.3.2 that $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X},\mathbb{Y}}^{\infty,1}(N,M) = \overline{\mathbb{XB}(L^2N, L^2M)\mathbb{Y}}^{\|\cdot\|_{\infty,1}} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)_{\mathbb{X}-\mathbb{Y}-\text{mix}}$, which shows that (1) \Longrightarrow (2).

To see that (2) \Longrightarrow (4) we suppose that condition (2) is satisfied and take $\varphi \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp}$ such that $\varphi_{|\mathbb{X}\mathbb{B}(L^2N,L^2M)\mathbb{Y}} = 0$. By Lemma 2.5.5 there exists a uniformly bounded net $\{\mu_i\}_i \subset M \otimes_{Con} M^{\mathrm{op}}$ such that $\mu_i \to \varphi$ weak*. Since $\varphi_{|\mathbb{X}\mathbb{B}(L^2N,L^2M)\mathbb{Y}} = 0$ we have that $\mu_i(S) \to 0$ for all $S \in \mathbb{X}\mathbb{B}(L^2N,L^2M)\mathbb{Y}$ and hence $\varphi(T) = \lim_{i \to \infty} \mu_i(T) = 0$.

We now suppose that $M=N, \mathbb{X}=\mathbb{Y}$ with $M,JMJ\subset M(\mathbb{X})$, and $T\in M(\mathbb{X})$. Clearly we have $(4)\Longrightarrow (5)$. Suppose $T\in M(\mathbb{X})$ satisfies (5) and let $\varphi\in\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^\sharp$ be such that $\varphi_{|\mathbb{X}}=0$. Taking the real and imaginary part of φ separately we may assume that φ is Hermitian. We then consider the Jordan decomposition $\varphi_{|M(\mathbb{X})}=\varphi_+-\varphi_-$. By Lemma 2.5.3 we have that φ_+ , and φ_- each restrict to a normal state on both M and JMJ. Since \mathbb{X} is an ideal in $M(\mathbb{X})$ it follows that $(\varphi_\pm)_{|\mathbb{X}}=0$. If we extend φ_+ and φ_- to arbitrary positive linear functionals ψ_+ and ψ_- on $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ respectively that satisfy $\|\psi_+\|=\|\varphi_+\|$ and $\|\psi_-\|=\|\varphi_-\|$, then we have $\psi_\pm\in\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^\sharp$ and hence by (5) we have $\psi_\pm(T)=0$ showing that $\varphi(T)=\varphi_+(T)-\varphi_-(T)=\psi_+(T)-\psi_-(T)=0$.

Finally, the equivalence between (5) and (6) follows from Lemma 2.5.4.

Remark 2.5.7. Given a normal operator M-N and JMJ-JNJ bimodule X, we note that the M-N closure operation for X and JMJ-JNJ closure operation for X commute. Indeed, this follows from Proposition 2.2.3 (2).

Remark 2.5.8. From the previous theorem it follows that $\mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)_{\mathbb{X}-\mathbb{Y}-\text{mix}}$ defines the same subspace whether we view $\mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)$ as an M-N bimodule, or as an JMJ-JNJ bimodule.

Analogous to Proposition 2.3.8, we also have the following version for pairs of boundary pieces.

Proposition 2.5.9. Let M and N be tracial von Neumann algebras. Suppose $\mathbb{X} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ and $\mathbb{Y} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2N)$ are boundary pieces. If $T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)$, then the following are equivalent:

- 1. $T \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X},\mathbb{Y}}(N,M)$.
- 2. $T^*T \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{Y}}(N)$ and $TT^* \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$.
- 3. $T^*T \in \mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}_{\mathbb{Y}}(N)$ and $TT^* \in \mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$.

Proof. The implications $(1) \Longrightarrow (2) \Longrightarrow (3)$ are clear. If (3) holds, then by Proposition 2.3.8 we have $T^*T \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{Y}}(N)$ and $TT^* \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$. Considering the polar decomposition T = V|T| we then have $T = |T^*|^{1/2}V|T|^{1/2} \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X},\mathbb{Y}}(N,M)$.

2.5.3 Mixing Hilbert bimodules

Let M and N be tracial von Neumann algebras and let \mathcal{H} be an M-N correspondence [Con80, Pop86], i.e., \mathcal{H} is a Hilbert space equipped with commuting normal representation of M and N^{op} , which we write as $\mathcal{H} \ni \xi \mapsto x\xi y$ for $x \in M$ and $y \in N$. We recall here some facts regarding correspondences that we will need in this section. We refer the reader to [AP18, Chapter 13] for proofs and further background.

A vector $\xi \in \mathscr{H}$ is left-bounded if the map $L_{\xi}: N \to \mathscr{H}$ given by $L_{\xi}(x) = \xi x$ is bounded from $\|\cdot\|_2$, and hence defines a right N-modular operator in $\mathbb{B}_N(L^2N,\mathscr{H})$. Moreover, if $L \in \mathbb{B}_N(L^2N,\mathscr{H})$, then it is easy to check that $\xi = L(\hat{1}) \in \mathscr{H}$ is left-bounded and $L = L_{\xi}$.

A vector $\eta \in \mathcal{H}$ is similarly defined to be right-bounded if $M \ni x \mapsto x\eta$ is bounded in $\|\cdot\|_2$, and hence defines a left M-modular bounded operator $R_{\xi} \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M,\mathcal{H})$. A vector $\xi \in \mathcal{H}$ is bounded if it is both left and right-bounded. The space of bounded vectors is dense in \mathcal{H} [Pop86].

If $\xi \in \mathscr{H}$ is left-bounded, then we obtain a u.c.p. map $\theta_{\xi}: M \to \mathbb{B}(L^2N)$ by $\theta_{\xi}(x) = L_{\xi}^* x L_{\xi}$. Moreover, since L_{ξ} is right N-modular it follows that $\theta_{\xi}(x) \in JNJ' = N$, for each $y \in N$. If ξ is a bounded vector, then we have $M \ni x \mapsto \theta_{\xi}(x) \in N$ extends to a bounded operator T_{ξ} in $\mathbb{B}(L^2M, L^2N)$, and we may compute this operator explicitly as $T_{\xi} = L_{\xi}^* R_{\xi}$.

The contragredient correspondence is given by the conjugate Hilbert space $\overline{\mathscr{H}}$ equipped with the *N-M* bimodule structure

$$y \cdot \overline{\xi} \cdot x = \overline{x^* \xi y^*},$$

for $x \in M, y \in N$ and $\xi \in \mathcal{H}$. In this case the bounded vectors for $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ are vectors of the form $\overline{\xi}$ where $\xi \in \mathcal{H}$ is a bounded vector, and we have $T_{\overline{\xi}} = T_{\xi}^*$.

Suppose now that \mathscr{H} and \mathscr{K} are M-N and N-P correspondences respectively, and let \mathscr{H}^L denote the space of left-bounded vectors. If $\xi_1, \xi_2 \in \mathscr{H}^L$, then $L^*_{\xi_2} L_{\xi_1} \in JNJ' \cap \mathbb{B}(L^2N) = N$, and so we have a well-defined sesquilinear form on $\mathscr{H}^L \otimes_{\operatorname{alg}} \mathscr{K}$ satisfying

$$\langle \xi_1 \otimes \eta_1, \xi_2 \otimes \eta_2 \rangle = \langle (L_{\xi_2}^* L_{\xi_1}) \eta_1, \eta_2 \rangle$$

for $\xi_1, \xi_2 \in \mathcal{H}^L$, and $\eta_1, \eta_2 \in \mathcal{K}$. The separation and completion then gives a Hilbert space $\mathcal{H} \overline{\otimes}_N \mathcal{K}$, which is the Connes fusion of \mathcal{H} and \mathcal{K} , and is naturally a M-P correspondence satisfying $x(\xi \otimes \eta)y = (x\xi) \otimes (\eta y)$ for $x \in M$, $y \in P$, $\xi \in \mathcal{H}^L$, and $\eta \in \mathcal{K}$. If $\xi \in \mathcal{H}$ and $\eta \in \mathcal{K}$ are bounded, then the elementary tensor $\xi \otimes \eta \in \mathcal{H} \overline{\otimes}_N \mathcal{K}$ is also bounded and we have $T_{\xi \otimes \eta} = T_\eta T_\xi$.

In the case $\mathbb{X} = \mathbb{K}(L^2M)$ and $\mathbb{Y} = \mathbb{K}(L^2M)$ both of the conditions (1) and (4) below have been suggested as appropriate notions of a mixing bimodule [BF11, PS12, OOT17]. We show here that, in fact, these conditions

are equivalent.

Theorem 2.5.10. Let M and N be tracial von Neumann algebras and suppose that $\mathbb{X} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ and $\mathbb{Y} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2N)$ are boundary pieces for M and N respectively such that $M,JMJ \subset M(\mathbb{X})$ and $N,JNJ \subset M(\mathbb{Y})$. Let \mathcal{H} be an M-N correspondence. The following conditions are equivalent:

- 1. The set of bounded vectors $\xi \in \mathcal{H}$ such that $T_{\xi} \in \mathbb{YB}(L^2M, L^2N)\mathbb{X}$ is M-N cyclic for \mathcal{H} .
- 2. The dual operator M-N bimodule $\mathbb{B}_N(L^2N,\mathcal{H})$ is mixing relative to $\mathbb{X} \times \mathbb{Y}$.
- 3. Every bounded vector $\xi \in \mathcal{H}$ satisfies $T_{\xi} \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{Y},\mathbb{X}}(M,N)$.

Moreover, in the case $\mathbb{X} = \mathbb{K}(L^2M)$ and $\mathbb{Y} = \mathbb{K}(L^2N)$ the above conditions are also equivalent to

4. For every sequence $u_n \in \mathcal{U}(N)$ such that $u_n \to 0$ ultraweakly, and for all $\xi, \eta \in \mathcal{H}$ we have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{x \in M, ||x|| < 1} |\langle x \xi u_n, \eta \rangle| = 0.$$
 (2.8)

Proof. Given a bounded vector $\xi \in \mathcal{H}$, $x, c \in M$ and $y, a, b \in N$ we compute

$$\langle (xT_{\xi}^*y)\widehat{ab},\widehat{c}\rangle = \langle \xi yab, x^*c\xi\rangle = \langle (xL_{\xi}y)\widehat{a}, c\xi b^*\rangle.$$

It then follows that for all $\mu \in M \otimes_{Con} N^{op}$ we have

$$\langle \mu(T_{\xi}^*)\widehat{ab},\widehat{c}\rangle = \langle \mu(L_{\xi})\widehat{a},c\xi b^*\rangle.$$

Since the range of $\mu(L_{\xi})$ is contained in the closure of the span of vectors of the form $c\xi b^*$ for $c \in M$ and $b \in N$ it then follows that $T_{\xi}^* \in \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)_{\mathbb{X}-\mathbb{Y}-\mathrm{mix}}$ if and only if $L_{\xi} \in \mathbb{B}(L^2N, \mathscr{H})_{\mathbb{X}-\mathbb{Y}-\mathrm{mix}}$. The set $\mathscr{H}_0 := \{\xi \in \mathscr{H} \mid L_{\xi} \in \mathbb{B}_N(L^2N, \mathscr{H})_{\mathbb{X}-\mathbb{Y}-\mathrm{mix}}\}$ forms a M-N bimodule and so assuming that (1) holds we conclude that this subspace is dense.

Suppose now that $\xi_n \in \mathscr{H}_0$ are such that $\xi_n \to \xi \in \mathscr{H}$ with ξ a left-bounded vector. Let $\varphi_n \in N_*$ be the positive linear functional defined by $\varphi_n(a) = \langle (\xi - \xi_n)a, (\xi - \xi_n) \rangle$. Then we have $\|\varphi_n\|_1 \to 0$ and so by passing to a subsequence we may produce an increasing sequence of projections $p_k \in \mathscr{P}(N)$ such that $\tau(p_k) \to 1$ and for each fixed k we have

$$||L_{\xi p_k} - L_{\xi_n p_k}|| = \sup_{a \in N, ||a||_2 \le 1} ||(\xi - \xi_n) p_k a|| = \sup_{a \in N, ||a||_2 \le 1} \varphi_n(p_k a^* a p_k) \to 0.$$

Since $\xi_n p_k \in \mathcal{H}_0$ for each $n, k \geq 0$ and since $\mathbb{B}_N(L^2 N, \mathcal{H})_{\mathbb{X}-\mathbb{Y}-\text{mix}}$ is a strong right N-module by Proposition 2.5.1, it then follows that $\xi p_k \in \mathcal{H}_0$ for each $k \geq 0$ and also $\xi \in \mathcal{H}_0$. Thus,

$$\mathbb{B}_N(L^2N, \mathcal{H})_{\mathbb{X}-\mathbb{Y}-\text{mix}} = \{L_{\xi} \mid \xi \in \mathcal{H} \text{ is bounded}\} = \mathbb{B}_N(L^2N, \mathcal{H}).$$

We now suppose (2) holds, then we see from above that the $T_{\xi}^* \in \mathbb{B}(L^2N, L^2M)_{\mathbb{X}\text{-}\mathbb{Y}-\text{mix}}$ for each bounded vector ξ . Since $M, JMJ \subset \mathbb{X}$ and $N, JNJ \subset \mathbb{Y}$ we then conclude that for every bounded vector $\xi \in \mathscr{H}$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, there exist projections $p \in \mathscr{P}(M)$, and $q \in \mathscr{P}(N)$ so that $\tau(p), \tau(q) > 1 - \varepsilon$ and $T_{p\xi q} = p(JpJ)T_{\xi}(JqJ)q \in \mathbb{Y}\mathbb{B}(L^2M, L^2N)\mathbb{X}$. Thus, the set of bounded vectors $\xi \in \mathscr{H}$ such that $T_{\xi} \in \mathbb{Y}\mathbb{B}(L^2M, L^2N)\mathbb{X}$ is dense in \mathscr{H} .

We have thus shown the equivalence between (1) and (2). We have also shown that, in fact, these conditions imply also that the set of bounded vectors $\xi \in \mathscr{H}$ such that $T_{\xi} \in \mathbb{YB}(L^2M, L^2N)\mathbb{X}$ is dense in \mathscr{H} . In particular, it then follows that there is a dense subset $\mathscr{H}_1 \subset \mathscr{H}$ such that $T_{\xi \otimes \overline{\eta}} = T_{\eta}^* T_{\xi} \in \mathbb{XB}(L^2M)\mathbb{X}$ for all $\xi, \eta \in \mathscr{H}_1$. Since these elementary tensors span a dense subset of $\mathscr{H} \overline{\otimes}_N \overline{\mathscr{H}}$ we see that $\mathscr{H} \overline{\otimes}_N \overline{\mathscr{H}}$ satisfies the hypotheses of (1), so that by the equivalence between (1) and (2) it follows that if $\xi \in \mathscr{H}$ is any bounded vector, then we have $T_{\xi}^* T_{\xi} = T_{\xi \otimes \overline{\xi}} \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)_{\mathbb{X}-\min} = \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(M)$.

Considering instead $\overline{\mathcal{H}} \otimes_M \mathcal{H}$ we see that we also have $T_{\xi} T_{\xi}^* \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{Y}}^{\infty,1}(N)$ and by Proposition 2.5.9 it then follows that $T_{\xi} \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{Y},\mathbb{X}}(M,N)$, establishing (3). That we also have (3) \Longrightarrow (2) is clear.

We now suppose that $\mathbb{X} = \mathbb{K}(L^2M)$ and $\mathbb{Y} = \mathbb{K}(L^2N)$. Note that clearly (2) \Longrightarrow (4) since for any uniformly bounded sequence $x_n \in M$ we have $x_n \otimes (u_n^*)^{\mathrm{op}} \to 0$ weak* when viewed as an element in $M \otimes_{Con} N^{\mathrm{op}}$.

We now suppose that (4) holds. The result is trivially satisfied if N is completely atomic, and so by restricting to the orthogonal projection of the completely atomic part we may assume that N is diffuse. Note that Equation (2.8) holds also if instead of $u_n \in \mathcal{U}(N)$ we consider $y_n \in N$ contractions such that $y_n \to 0$ ultraweakly. Indeed, by the polarization identity it is enough to check this for $\xi = \eta$, and if Equation (2.8) does not hold, then there exist c > 0 and $x_n \in M$ contractions such that $|\langle x_n \xi y_n, \xi \rangle| \ge c$. By considering separately the real and imaginary parts of x_n and y_n we may assume that $x_n = x_n^*$ and $y_n = y_n^*$ so that $y \mapsto \langle x \xi y, \xi \rangle$ is a Hermitian linear functional.

We let $v_n \in \{y_n\}' \cap N$ be a sequence of self-adjoint unitaries such that $v_n(1-y_n^2)^{1/2} \to 0$ ultraweakly (note that this is possible since $\{y_n\}' \cap N$ is diffuse for each n). Setting $u_n = y_n + iv_n(1-y_n^2)^{1/2} \in \mathscr{U}(N)$ we then have that $u_n \to 0$ ultraweakly and $|\langle x_n \xi u_n, \xi \rangle| \ge |\langle x_n \xi y_n, \xi \rangle| \ge c$, which would then contradict (4).

Thus, we have established that for each bounded vector $\xi \in \mathcal{H}$ and for each uniformly bounded sequence

 $y_n \in N$ we have

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\sup_{x\in M,\|x\|<1}|\langle x\xi y_n,\xi\rangle|=0,$$

i.e., the operator T_{ξ} is compact as an operator from N into $L^{1}M$. By Lemma 2.3.9 we then have that T_{ξ} is compact as an operator from N into $L^{2}M$, which by [Oza10] agrees with the $\|\cdot\|_{\infty,2}$ -closure of $\mathbb{K}(L^{2}N,L^{2}M)$ in $\mathbb{B}(L^{2}N,L^{2}M)$. Cutting down by projections as above then shows that a dense set of bounded vectors $\xi \in \mathcal{H}$ have the property that $T_{\xi} \in \mathbb{K}(L^{2}N,L^{2}M)$ showing that (1) holds.

Example 2.5.11. If \mathscr{H} is an M-N correspondence, then we let $\mathbb{X}_{\mathscr{H}} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ denote the hereditary C^* -algebra generated by operators of the form $T_{\xi}^*T_{\eta}$ where $\xi, \eta \in \mathscr{H}$ are bounded vectors. We similarly let $\mathbb{Y}_{\mathscr{H}} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2N)$ denote the hereditary C^* -algebra generated by operators of the form $T_{\eta}T_{\xi}^*$. Then $\mathbb{X}_{\mathscr{H}}$ and $\mathbb{Y}_{\mathscr{H}}$ give the smallest boundary pieces of M and N respectively so that \mathscr{H} is mixing relative to $\mathbb{X}_{\mathscr{H}} \times \mathbb{Y}_{\mathscr{H}}$.

Note that if $B \subset M$ is a von Neumann subalgebra and we consider L^2M as an M-B correspondence, then the corresponding boundary piece \mathbb{X}_{L^2M} is the one described in Example 2.3.4.

2.6 Properly proximal von Neumann algebras

Let M be a von Neumann algebra, $\mathbb{X} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ a boundary piece, and suppose that \mathscr{V} is a dual normal M-bimodule. A point $\xi \in \mathscr{V}$ is properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X} (or just properly proximal if $\mathbb{X} = \mathbb{K}(L^2M)$) if $[x,\xi] \in \mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{X}-\min}$ for all $x \in M$. We denote the set of properly proximal points by $\mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{X}-\operatorname{prox}}$ (or $\mathscr{V}_{\operatorname{prox}}$ if $\mathbb{X} = \mathbb{K}(L^2M)$). Note that $\mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{X}-\min} \subset \mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{X}-\operatorname{prox}}$, and both are closed subspaces of \mathscr{V} . While $\mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{X}-\operatorname{prox}}$ need not be an M-bimodule, it is M-convex in the sense that if $x_1,\ldots,x_n \in M$ satisfy $\sum_{i=1}^n x_i^* x_i = 1$, then $\sum_{i=1}^n x_i^* \xi x_i \in \mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{X}-\operatorname{prox}}$ for all $\xi \in \mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{X}-\operatorname{prox}}$. Indeed, for all $y \in M$ we have

$$[y, \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i^* \xi x_i] = \sum_{i=1}^{n} y[x_i^*, \xi] x_i + [y, \xi] + \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i^* [x_i, \xi] y \in \mathcal{V}_{\mathbb{X}-\text{mix}}.$$

In practice, explicitly verifying that $[x, \xi] \in \mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{X}-\text{mix}}$ for each $x \in M$ may be cumbersome. The following lemma is a key tool in this respect. This should be compared with Lemma 6.7 in [IPR19].

Lemma 2.6.1. Let M be a tracial von Neumann algebra, let $\mathscr V$ be a dual normal M-bimodule, and fix $\xi \in \mathscr V$. Then $\{x \in M \mid [x, \xi], [x^*, \xi] \in \mathscr V_{\mathbb X-mix}\}$ is a von Neumann subalgebra of M. In particular, $\xi \in \mathscr V_{\mathbb X-prox}$ if and only if $\{x \in M \mid [x^*, \xi], [x, \xi] \in \mathscr V_{\mathbb X-mix}\}$ is ultraweakly dense in M.

Proof. It is easy to check that $M_0 = \{x \in M \mid [x^*, \xi], [x, \xi] \in \mathcal{V}_{\mathbb{X}-\text{mix}} \}$ is a unital *-subalgebra, so we will only show that it is ultraweakly closed. If x is in the ultraweak closure of M_0 , then we may take a net $\{x_i\}_i \subset M_0$ that converges ultraweakly to x. Since $[x_i, \xi] - [x, \xi] = (x_i - x)\xi - \xi(x_i - x)$ converges to 0 in the M-M

topology, and since $\mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{X}-\text{mix}}$ is a strong M-M bimodule it then follows that $[x,\xi] \in \mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{X}-\text{mix}}$. We similarly have $[x^*,\xi] \in \mathscr{V}_{\mathbb{X}-\text{mix}}$, and so $x \in M_0$.

We let $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M) \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ be the set of operators that are properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X} when we view $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ as an M-bimodule under the actions $x \cdot T \cdot y = Jy^*JTJx^*J$, i.e.,

$$\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M) = \{ T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M) \mid [T, JxJ] \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty, 1} \text{ for all } x \in M \}.$$

Note that $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ is an operator system that contains M. In the case when $\mathbb{X} = \mathbb{K}(L^2M)$ we write $\mathbb{S}(M)$ instead of $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{K}(L^2M)}(M)$.

Theorem 2.6.2. Let M be a tracial von Neumann algebra, $\mathbb{X} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ a boundary piece, and let $B \subset M$ be a von Neumann subalgebra. The following are equivalent:

- 1. There exists a B-central state φ on $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ such that $\varphi_{|M}$ is normal.
- 2. There exists a non-zero projection $p \in \mathcal{Z}(B)$ and a B-central state φ on $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ such that $\varphi_{|pMp} = \frac{1}{\tau(p)}\tau$.
- 3. There exists a non-zero projection $p \in \mathcal{Z}(B)$ and an Mp-bimodular u.c.p. map $\Phi : \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M) \to \langle pMp, e_{Bp} \rangle$.
- 4. If E is any normal operator M-system such that there exists a state $\varphi_0 \in (E^{\natural})_{\mathbb{X}-\text{prox}}$ with $\varphi_{0|M} = \tau$, then there exists an B-central state φ on E such that $\varphi_{|M}$ is normal.

Proof. The equivalences between (1), (2), and (3) are standard. To see that (4) \Longrightarrow (1) simply observe that the state $\varphi_0(T) = \langle T \hat{1}, \hat{1} \rangle$ is in $(\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)^{\natural})_{\mathbb{X}-\text{prox}}$, which follows from the remark after Theorem 2.5.6. Conversely, to see that (1) \Longrightarrow (4) note that if E is a normal operator M-system and $\varphi_0 \in (E^{\natural})_{\mathbb{X}-\text{prox}}$ with $\varphi_{0|M} = \tau$, then φ_0 corresponds to an M-bimodular u.c.p. $\Phi_0 : E \to \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ such that $\varphi_0(T) = \langle \Phi_0(T) \hat{1}, \hat{1} \rangle$, for $T \in E$. Since φ_0 is a properly proximal point it follows that the range of Φ_0 is contained in $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$. Indeed, if we view $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ as an M-M bimodule with the bimodule structure given by $x \cdot T \cdot y = Jy^*JTJx^*J$, then for $T \in E$, $a,b,x \in M$, and if $\mu_i \in M \otimes_{Con} M^{op}$ is uniformly bounded such that $\mu_i \to \mu$ in the \mathbb{X} -topology, then since $[x,\varphi_0] \in (E^{\natural})_{\mathbb{X}-\text{mix}}$ we see that

$$\langle \mu_i(x \cdot \phi_0(T) - \phi_0(T) \cdot x) \hat{a}, \hat{b} \rangle = \mu_i([x, \phi_0])(b^*Ta) \to \langle \mu(x \cdot \phi_0(T) - \phi_0(T) \cdot x) \hat{a}, \hat{b} \rangle.$$

Since $a, b \in M$ are arbitrary it follows that $[\phi_0(T), Jx^*J] = x \cdot \phi_0(T) - \phi_0(T) \cdot x \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)_{\mathbb{X}-\text{mix}}$. By Theorem 2.5.6 and Remark 2.5.8 it then follows that $\phi_0(T) \in \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ for each $T \in E$.

If we have a B-central state $\varphi: \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M) \to \mathbb{C}$ with $\varphi_{|M}$ normal, then $\varphi \circ \Phi_0$ gives an B-central state on E with $\varphi \circ \Phi_{0|M}$ normal.

We say that the inclusion $B \subset M$ is properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X} (or just properly proximal if $\mathbb{X} = \mathbb{K}(L^2M)$) if it fails to satisfy the conditions in the previous theorem. We say that M is properly proximal if the inclusion $M \subset M$ is properly proximal. We remark that by condition (3) above proper proximality for M is independent of the given trace.

Remark 2.6.3. If \mathbb{X} and \mathbb{Y} are boundary pieces with $\mathbb{X} \subset \mathbb{Y}$, then we have $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(M) \subset \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{Y}}^{\infty,1}(M)$ and hence $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M) \subset \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{Y}}(M)$. Thus, if $B \subset M$ is properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X} , then it is also properly proximal relative to \mathbb{Y} . In particular, if $B \subset M$ is properly proximal, then the inclusion is properly proximal with respect to any boundary piece. Similarly, if $B \subset Q \subset M$, and $B \subset M$ is properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X} , then $Q \subset M$ is also properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X} .

Also note that if $B \subset Q \subset M$ and we identify $L^2Q = e_QL^2M$, then $\overline{e_Q\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)e_Q} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2Q)$ gives a boundary piece for Q. Indeed, $\overline{e_Q\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)e_Q}$ is a C^* -algebra, and if $0 \le a \le b \in \overline{e_Q\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)e_Q}$, then we may write $a = b^{1/4}cb^{1/4}$ for $c \in \mathbb{B}(L^2Q)$ [Bla06, II.3.2.5], and taking an approximate identity $\{p_i\}_i \subset \overline{e_Q\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)e_Q}$ we then have $a = \lim_{i \to \infty} p_i a p_i \in \overline{e_Q\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)e_Q}$, showing that $\overline{e_Q\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)e_Q}$ is hereditary. Moreover, since $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ contains both M and M in its multiplier algebra we see that $\overline{e_Q\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)e_Q}$ contains both M and M in its multiplier algebra.

We then see that $e_Q \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(M)e_Q \subset \mathbb{K}_{e_Q \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)e_Q}^{\infty,1}(Q)$ and it follows that $e_Q \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)e_Q \subset \mathbb{S}_{e_Q \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)e_Q}(Q)$. We therefore see that if $B \subset M$ is properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X} , then $B \subset Q$ is properly proximal relative to $\overline{e_Q \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)e_Q}$. In particular, if $B \subset M$ is properly proximal, then $B \subset Q$ is also properly proximal (and B is also properly proximal).

The same argument above shows that if $p \in \mathcal{Z}(M)$, then by identifying $L^2(zM) = zL^2M$ we have that $\overline{p^{\perp}\mathbb{X}p^{\perp}}$ is a boundary piece for zM.

Recall from [BIP21] that if Γ is a group, then a boundary piece X for Γ is a non-empty closed $\Gamma \times \Gamma$ invariant subspace of $\beta\Gamma \setminus \Gamma$. We have a bijective correspondence between boundary pieces for Γ and $\Gamma \times \Gamma$ invariant proper closed ideals $c_0\Gamma \subset I \subset \ell^\infty\Gamma$, which is given by $I = \{f \in \ell^\infty\Gamma = C(\beta\Gamma) \mid f_{|X} = 0\} \subset \ell^\infty\Gamma$. A
group Γ is properly proximal relative to X (or relative to I) if there is no left Γ -invariant state on $C(X)^{R(\Gamma)} = (\ell^\infty\Gamma/I)^{R(\Gamma)}$.

We set $\mathbb{S}_X(\Gamma) = \mathbb{S}_I(\Gamma) = \{ f \in \ell^{\infty}\Gamma \mid f - R_t f \in I \text{ for any } t \in \Gamma \}$, which is a C^* -subalgebra of $\ell^{\infty}\Gamma$. The group Γ acts on \mathbb{S}_X by left-translation, and Γ is properly proximal relative to X if and only if there is no Γ -invariant state on $\mathbb{S}_X(\Gamma)$.

Theorem 2.6.4. Let Γ be a group with a $\Gamma \times \Gamma$ -invariant proper closed ideal $c_0\Gamma \subset I \subset \ell^{\infty}\Gamma$, and let \mathbb{X} be a boundary piece for $L\Gamma$. We let $I_{\mathbb{X}} \subset \ell^{\infty}\Gamma$ the closed ideal generated by $E_{\ell^{\infty}\Gamma}(\mathbb{X})$, and we let \mathbb{X}_I denote the $L\Gamma$ -boundary piece $\overline{I\mathbb{B}(\ell^2\Gamma)I}^{\|\cdot\|}$ generated by I. The following statements are true:

- 1. If $L\Gamma$ is properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X} , then Γ is properly proximal relative to $I_{\mathbb{X}}$.
- 2. Γ is properly proximal relative to I if and only if $L\Gamma$ is properly proximal relative to X_I .

Proof. First assume that Γ is not properly proximal relative to $I_{\mathbb{X}}$, i.e., there exists a Γ-left invariant state φ on $\mathbb{S}_{I_{\mathbb{X}}}(\Gamma)$. As $E_{\ell^{\infty}\Gamma}: \mathbb{B}(\ell^{2}\Gamma) \to \ell^{\infty}\Gamma$ is continuous from the $\|\cdot\|_{\infty,1}$ -topology to the norm-topology it follows that $E_{\ell^{\infty}\Gamma}$ maps $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(L\Gamma)$ into $I_{\mathbb{X}}$, and consequently, $E_{\ell^{\infty}\Gamma}$ maps $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(L\Gamma)$ into $\mathbb{S}_{I_{\mathbb{X}}}(\Gamma)$, since if $T \in \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(L\Gamma)$, then $E_{\ell^{\infty}\Gamma}(T) - R_{t}(E_{\ell^{\infty}\Gamma}(T)) = E_{\ell^{\infty}\Gamma}(T - \rho_{t}T\rho_{t}^{*}) \in I_{\mathbb{X}}$, for each $t \in \Gamma$.

We may therefore consider the state $\psi := \varphi \circ E_{\ell^{\infty}\Gamma} : \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(L\Gamma) \to \mathbb{C}$. Observe that for any $x \in L\Gamma$, $E_{\ell^{\infty}\Gamma}(x) = \tau(x)$ and hence $\psi_{|L\Gamma} = \tau$. Moreover, note that $E_{\ell^{\infty}\Gamma}$ is left Γ -equivariant, i.e., $L_s(E_{\ell^{\infty}\Gamma}(T)) = E_{\ell^{\infty}\Gamma}(\lambda_s T \lambda_s^*)$ for any $s \in \Gamma$ and $T \in \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(L\Gamma)$ and thus $\psi(\lambda_s T) = \psi(\lambda_s T \lambda_s \lambda_s^*) = \psi(T\lambda_s)$. Finally, using the fact ψ is normal on $L\Gamma$ and the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we conclude that ψ is $L\Gamma$ -central.

Next, suppose $L\Gamma$ is not properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X}_I and let ψ be an $L\Gamma$ -central state on $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}_I}(L\Gamma)$. We claim that $\mathbb{S}_I(\Gamma) \hookrightarrow \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}_I}(L\Gamma)$ by viewing $f \in \mathbb{S}_I(\Gamma)$ as a multiplier M_f . Indeed, for any $f \in \mathbb{S}_I(\Gamma)$ and $t \in \Gamma$, we have $[M_f, \rho_t] = M_{f-R_t(f)}\rho_t \in \mathbb{X}_I$, and hence $M_f \in \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}_I}(L\Gamma)$ by Lemma 2.6.1. Since $\lambda_t M_f \lambda_t^* = M_{L_t(f)}$ for $t \in \Gamma$ it follows that ψ gives a Γ -invariant state on $\mathbb{S}_I(\Gamma)$. The "only if" direction of the second statement follows from the first statement upon noticing that $E_{\ell^{\infty}}(I\mathbb{B}(\ell^2\Gamma)I) = I\ell^{\infty}\Gamma I = I$.

We recall that an von Neumann subalgebra $N \subset M$ is co-amenable if there exists a conditional expectation from $\langle M, e_N \rangle$ to M (see, e.g., [MP03]).

Lemma 2.6.5. Let (M, τ) be a finite von Neumann algebra with a faithful normal trace τ , $N \subset M$ a von Neumann subalgebra and E an M-system. Suppose there exists an N central state φ on E such that $\varphi_{|M} = \tau$. If $N \subset M$ is co-amenable, then there exists an M-central state ψ on E with $\psi_{|M} = \tau$.

Proof. As in Section 2.4.1, there exists an M-bimodular u.c.p. map $\Phi: E \to \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ such that $\varphi(T) = \langle \Phi(T)\hat{1}, \hat{1} \rangle$ for any $T \in E$. Since φ is N-central, it is clear that $\Phi: E \to \langle M, e_N \rangle$. Denote by \mathscr{E} a conditional expectation $\langle M, e_N \rangle \to M$ given by co-amenability, then $\tau \circ \mathscr{E} \circ \Phi$ is an M-central state on E that restricts to τ on M.

Proposition 2.6.6. *Let* (M, τ) *be a finite factor and* $N \subset M$ *a co-amenable subfactor. If* M *is properly proximal, then so is* N.

Proof. Suppose N is not properly proximal, then there exists an N-central state φ on $\mathbb{S}(N)$ with $\varphi_{|N} = \tau$. Notice that $\mathrm{Ad}(e_N): \mathbb{S}(M) \to \mathbb{S}(N)$ and hence $\psi := \mathrm{Ad}(e_N) \circ \varphi$ is an N-central state on $\mathbb{S}(M)$ with $\psi_{|N} = \tau$. Now it follows from Proposition 2.6.5 that there exists an M-central state on $\mathbb{S}(M)$ and thus M is not properly proximal. **Proposition 2.6.7.** Let M_1 and M_2 be diffuse tracial von Neumann algebras. Then $M = M_1 * M_2$ is properly proximal.

Proof. We will show that the usual paradoxical decomposition that proves nonamenability for $M_1 * M_2$ also works to show proper proximality. For i = 1, 2, let $\mathscr{H}_i = L^2(M_i)$ and $\mathscr{H}_i^0 = \mathscr{H}_i \ominus \mathbb{C} \hat{1} = \overline{M_i^0 \hat{1}}^{\|\cdot\|_2}$, where M_i^0 denotes the kernel of the trace. Recall that $\mathscr{H} = L^2(M_1 * M_2)$ decomposes as

$$\mathscr{H}=\mathbb{C}\,\hat{1}\oplus\bigoplus_{n\geq 1}\left(\bigoplus_{i_1
eq i_2
eq\cdots
eq i_n}\mathscr{H}^0_{i_1}\otimes\cdots\otimes\mathscr{H}^0_{i_n}
ight).$$

Set

$$\mathscr{H}_{\ell}(1) = \mathbb{C}\hat{1} \oplus \bigoplus_{n \geq 1} \left(\bigoplus_{\substack{i_1 \neq i_2 \cdots \neq i_n \\ i_1 \neq 1}} \mathscr{H}_{i_1}^0 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathscr{H}_{i_n}^0 \right),$$

and let $P \in \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ be the orthogonal projection onto $\mathcal{H}_{\ell}(1)^{\perp}$.

If $z \in M_2^0$, then as JzJ and Jz^*J preserve the space $\mathscr{H}_{\ell}(1)$ we have [P,JzJ]=0. Also, if $z \in M_1^0$, then as JzJ and Jz^*J preserve the subspace $\mathscr{H}_{\ell}(1) \ominus \mathbb{C} \hat{1}$ we have $[P,JzJ]=[JzJ,\operatorname{Proj}_{\mathbb{C} \hat{1}}]$ is finite-rank. By Lemma 2.6.1 we then have $P \in \mathbb{S}(M)$.

Similarly, if we by Q the projection onto $H_{\ell}(2)^{\perp}$, where

$$\mathscr{H}_{\ell}(2) = \mathbb{C}\hat{1} \oplus \bigoplus_{n \geq 1} \left(\bigoplus_{\substack{i_1 \neq i_2 \cdots \neq i_n \\ i_1 \neq 2}} \mathscr{H}_{i_1}^0 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathscr{H}_{i_n}^0 \right),$$

then $Q \in \mathbb{S}(M)$. Since M_2 is diffuse, we may choose orthogonal trace-zero unitaries $u_1, u_2 \in \mathcal{U}(M_2)$ so that we then have $u_1^*Pu_1 + u_2^*Pu_2 \leq Q$. Similarly we may choose a trace-zero unitary $v \in \mathcal{U}(M_1)$ and obtain that $v^*Qv \leq P$.

If there were an M-central state φ on $\mathbb{S}(M)$, we would then have $2\varphi(P) \leq \varphi(Q) \leq \varphi(P)$ and hence $\varphi(P+Q)=0$. Since 1-P-Q is the projection onto $\mathbb{C}\hat{1}$ and φ is M-central we have $\varphi(1-P-Q)=0$, which then gives a contradiction.

Theorem 2.6.8. Let M be a finite von Neumann algebra, $\mathbb{X} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ an M-boundary piece and let $\mathscr{G} \subset \mathscr{U}(M)$ be a subgroup. Suppose there exists a state $\varphi \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)^*$ such that

- 1. φ restricts to the canonical traces on M and JMJ.
- 2. $\varphi \circ \operatorname{Ad}(u) = \varphi \circ \operatorname{Ad}(Ju^*J)$ for all $u \in \mathscr{G}$.
- 3. $\varphi_{|\mathbb{X}}=0$,

then $\phi_{|\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)}$ is \mathscr{G}'' -central, so that the inclusion $\mathscr{G}'' \subset M$ is not properly proximal.

Proof. Note that since $\varphi_{|M} = \tau$ is normal, the set of elements $x \in M$ such that $[x, \varphi_{|\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)}] = 0$ forms a von Neumann subalgebra of M, thus it suffices to show that \mathscr{G} is contained in this set. Also, as $\varphi \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{M\sharp M}$ and $\varphi_{|\mathbb{X}} = 0$ we have $\varphi_{|\mathbb{K}^\infty_v, \mathbb{I}_{(M)}} = 0$.

If $T \in \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ and $u \in \mathcal{G}$, then $(Ju^*J)T(JuJ) - T = [Ju^*J,T](JuJ) \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(M)$. Therefore,

$$\varphi \circ \operatorname{Ad}(u)(T) = \varphi \circ \operatorname{Ad}(Ju^*J)(T) = \varphi(T).$$

Corollary 2.6.9. Let M be a tracial von Neumann algebra with property (Gamma). Then M is not properly proximal.

Proof. Suppose M has property (Gamma). Let $u_n \in \mathcal{U}(M)$ such that $u_n \to 0$ ultraweakly and $||[x, u_n]||_2 \to 0$ for all $x \in M$. Let φ be any weak*-limit point of the states $\mathbb{B}(L^2M) \ni T \mapsto \langle T\hat{u_n}, \hat{u_n} \rangle$. Then it is easy to see that φ satisfies the hypotheses of Theorem 2.6.8, for $\mathscr{G} = \mathcal{U}(M)$ and $\mathbb{X} = \mathbb{K}(L^2M)$.

Lemma 2.6.10. Let M be a finite von Neumann algebra and $Q \subset M$ a regular von Neumann subalgebra. If $u_n \in \mathscr{U}(M)$ is such that $||E_Q(au_nb)||_2 \to 0$ for all $a,b,\in M$, then for all $S,T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ of the form $aJbJe_QJcJd$ with $a,b,c,d \in M$ we have $||S^*u_nT||_{\infty,1} \to 0$.

Proof. Suppose $\{u_n\}_n \subset \mathcal{U}(M)$ is given as above. Since $||TxJyJ||_{\infty,1} \leq ||T||_{\infty,1}||x|||y||$, it is enough to check that $||S^*u_nT||_{\infty,1} \to 0$ when S and T are each of the form $aJbJe_O$, with $a,b \in M$.

Also, note that if $a, b, c, d \in M$, then for $x \in M$ we have

$$||e_QaJbJxJcJde_Q||_{\infty,1} = \sup_{y,z\in(Q)_1} |\tau(axdyc^*b^*z)| \le ||bc||_2 ||axd||_2.$$

It therefore follows that by taking spans and using density in $\|\cdot\|_2$, to prove the lemma it suffices to show that $\|S^*u_nT\|_{\infty,1} \to 0$ when S and T are each of the form e_QaJbJ , where $a \in M$ and $b \in \mathscr{N}_M(Q)$. Finally, note that for $b \in \mathscr{N}_M(Q)$ we have $e_QJbJ = JbJbe_Qb^*$, and from this we then see that it suffices to consider the case when S and T are each of the form e_Qa for $a \in M$. This is easily verified, for if $a_1, a_2 \in M$, then

$$||e_O a_1^* u_n a_2 e_O||_{\infty,1} = ||E_O (a_1^* u_n c_a)||_1 \to 0.$$

For the next theorem, recall from Example 2.3.4 that if $Q \subset M$ is a von Neumann subalgebra, then we denote by \mathbb{X}_Q the M-boundary piece consisting of the norm closed span of all operators of the from $x_1Jy_1JTJy_2Jx_2$, with $x_1,x_2,y_1,y_2 \in M$ and $T \in e_Q\mathbb{B}(L^2M)e_Q$.

Theorem 2.6.11. Let M be a finite von Neumann algebra, and $Q \subset M$ a regular von Neumann subalgebra such that M is properly proximal relative to the M-boundary piece \mathbb{X}_Q . If $P \subset M$ is a weakly compact regular von Neumann subalgebra, then $P \prec_M Q$. In particular, if M is properly proximal, then M has no diffuse weakly compact regular von Neumann subalgebras.

Proof. By the weak compactness of $P \subset M$, there exists a state $\varphi : \mathbb{B}(L^2M) \to \mathbb{C}$ satisfying the following properties:

- (i) φ is the canonical normal trace on M and JMJ;
- (ii) $\varphi(xT) = \varphi(Tx)$ for all $T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M), x \in P$;
- (iii) $\varphi \circ \operatorname{Ad}(u)(T) = \varphi \circ \operatorname{Ad}(Ju^*J)(T)$ for all $T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ and $u \in \mathcal{N}_M(P)$.

If $P \not\prec_M Q$, then by Lemma 2.6.10 for each $T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ of the form $a^*Jb^*Je_QJbJa$ with $a,b \in M$ there exists a sequence $\{u_n\}_n \subset \mathcal{U}(P)$ such that $\|T^*u_m^*u_nT\|_{\infty,1}, \|T^*u_n^*u_mT\|_{\infty,1} < 2^{-n}$ whenever n > m, and such that $\|T\widehat{u_n^*}\|_2 < 2^{-n}$ for each $n \ge 1$. We then have

$$\|\frac{1}{N}\sum_{n=1}^{N}u_{n}^{*}Tu_{n}\|_{\infty,2}^{2} \leq \frac{1}{N^{2}}\sum_{n,m=1}^{N}\|u_{m}^{*}Tu_{m}u_{n}^{*}Tu_{n}\|_{\infty,1}$$

$$\leq \frac{2}{N^{2}}\sum_{1\leq m< n\leq N}2^{-n} + \frac{1}{N^{2}}\sum_{n=1}^{N}\|u_{n}^{*}T^{2}u_{n}\|_{\infty,1}$$

$$\leq \frac{2}{N} + \frac{\|T\|^{2}}{N} \to 0.$$

Since φ is continuous in the $\|\cdot\|_{\infty,2}$ -norm on bounded sets it then follows from (ii) that

$$\varphi(T) = \lim_{N \to \infty} \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \varphi(u_n^* T u_n) = 0.$$

If we now have $a,b\in M$ and $T\in e_Q\mathbb{B}(L^2M)e_Q$ with $T\geq 0$, then

$$\varphi(a^*Jb^*JTJbJa) \leq ||T||\varphi(a^*Jb^*Je_AJbJa) = 0$$

and hence $\varphi(a^*Jb^*JTJbJa)=0$. By polarization it then follows that $\varphi(aJbJTJcJd)=0$ for all $a,b,c,d\in M$ and $T\in e_Q\mathbb{B}(L^2M)e_Q$. Since the span of such elements is norm dense in \mathbb{X}_Q it follows that $\varphi_{|\mathbb{X}_Q}=0$, and hence M is not properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X}_Q by Theorem 2.6.8.

2.6.1 Proper proximality relative to the amenable boundary piece

We see from Theorem 2.6.4 that a group Γ is properly proximal if and only if the group von Neumann algebra $L\Gamma$ is properly proximal. In this section give an application of the development of boundary pieces for von Neumann algebras by showing that this also holds for proper proximality relative to a canonical "amenable" boundary piece.

Let Γ be a group, and let $\pi:\Gamma\to\mathscr{U}(\mathscr{H})$ be a universal representation that is weakly contained in the left regular representation, i.e., π is the restriction of the universal representation of $C^*_{\lambda}\Gamma$. Associated to this representation is a boundary piece X_{amen} as described in [BIP21], where a net $(t_i)_i$ has a limit in $X_{\mathrm{amen}}\subset\beta\Gamma$ if and only if $\pi(t_i)\to0$ ultraweakly, i.e., $t_i\to0$ in the weak-topology in $C^*_{\lambda}\Gamma$. Alternatively, we can view the corresponding ideal $I_{\mathrm{amen}}\subset\ell^{\infty}\Gamma$ as the ideal generated by the set $B_r(\Gamma)$ of all matrix coefficients $\varphi_{\xi,\eta}(t)=\langle \pi(t)\xi,\eta\rangle$ for $\xi,\eta\in\mathscr{H}$. Note that since weak containment is preserved under tensor products it follows from Fell's absorption principle that $B_r(\Gamma)$ is an ideal in the Fourier-Stieltjes Algebra $B(\Gamma)$. In particular, $B_r(\Gamma)$ is a self-adjoint subalgebra of $\ell^{\infty}\Gamma$, and so $f\in I_{\mathrm{amen}}$ if and only if $|f|\leq g$ for some $g\in\overline{B_r(\Gamma)}$.

If Γ is a nonamenable group, then the following lemma shows that we often have $c_0\Gamma \subsetneq I_{amen} \subsetneq \ell^{\infty}\Gamma$.

Lemma 2.6.12. Suppose $\Sigma < \Gamma$ is a subgroup. Then Σ is amenable if and only if $1_{\Sigma} \in I_{amen}$.

Proof. If Σ is amenable, then the quasi-regular representation $\ell^2(\Gamma/\Sigma)$ is weakly contained in the left regular representation and 1_Σ is a matrix coefficient. Conversely, if 1_Σ ∈ I_{amen} , then there exists $\varphi \in B_r(\Gamma)$, say $\varphi(t) = \langle \pi(t)\xi, \eta \rangle$ so that 1_Σ ≤ g, where g is some element in $\overline{B_r(\Gamma)}$ with $||g - \varphi||_{\infty} < 1/2$. Hence for all $t \in \Sigma$ we have $\Re(\langle \pi(t)\xi, \eta \rangle) \ge 1/2$. If we let ξ_0 denote the minimal norm element in the closed convex hull of $\{\pi(t)\xi\}_{t \in \Sigma}$, it then follows that ξ_0 is a Σ-invariant vector and is non-zero since $\Re(\langle \xi_0, \eta \rangle) \ge 1/2$. It therefore follows that the trivial representation for Σ is weakly contained in $\pi \prec \lambda$ and hence Σ is amenable.

We now fix a tracial von Neumann algebra M, and by analogy with above we consider a universal M-M correspondence \mathscr{H} that is weakly contained in the coarse correspondence $L^2M \otimes L^2M$. Note that we may assume that as an M-M correspondence we have $\mathscr{H} \cong \overline{\mathscr{H}}$ and we then have a boundary piece $\mathbb{X}_{amen} = \mathbb{X}_{\mathscr{H}}$ as defined in Example 2.5.11

Similar to Lemma 2.6.12, we have the following lemma.

Lemma 2.6.13. Let M be a tracial von Neumann algebra and $A \subset M$ a von Neumann subalgebra such that A does not have an amenable direct summand, and $\mathcal{G} \subset \mathcal{U}(A)$ a subgroup that generates A as a von Neumann algebra. Then there exists a net $\{u_i\}_i \subset \mathcal{G}$ such that $u_i \otimes u_i^{op} \to 0$ in the \mathbb{X}_{amen} -topology.

Proof. Fix a universal M-M correspondence \mathscr{H} that is weakly contained in the coarse correspondence. Note that just as in the case for groups the span B_0 of operators of the form T_{ξ} for some bounded vector $\xi \in \mathscr{H}$

forms a *-subalgebra of $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$. Also, M and JMJ are contained in the multiplier algebra of B_0 in $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$. Thus if we denote by $B=\overline{B_0}$, then we have $\mathbb{X}_{amen}=B\mathbb{B}(L^2M)B$. In particular, a net $\{u_i\}_i\subset \mathscr{G}$ satisfies $u_i\otimes u_i^{\mathrm{op}}\to 0$ in the \mathbb{X}_{amen} -topology if and only if $u_iT_{\xi_1}ST_{\xi_2}u_i^*\to 0$ ultraweakly for any $S\in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ and $\xi_1,\xi_2\in \mathscr{H}$ bounded vectors. Moreover, by the polarization identity we see that this is if and only if for each bounded vector $\xi\in \mathscr{H}$, $S\in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$, and $a\in M$ we have $\|ST_{\xi_1}JaJu_i^*\|_2^2\to 0$, and for this it suffices to consider only the case when S=1.

Therefore, if no such net of unitaries existed, then there would exist bounded vectors $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n \in \mathcal{H}$, $a_1, \ldots, a_n \in M$ and c > 0 such that for all $u \in \mathcal{G}$ we would have $\sum_{k=1}^n \|T_{\xi_k}Ja_kJ\hat{u}\|_2^2 \geq c$. We let $\xi = \bigoplus_{k=1}^n \xi_k \in \bigoplus_{k=1}^n \mathcal{H} \overline{\otimes}_M \overline{\mathcal{H}}$ and we let $\tilde{\xi} = \bigoplus_{k=1}^n a_k^* \xi_k a_k$. We also let \mathcal{C} denote the closed convex set generated by vectors of the form $u^*\xi u$, for $u \in \mathcal{G}$. Then for each $u \in \mathcal{G}$ we have $\langle u^*\xi u, \tilde{\xi} \rangle = \sum_{k=1}^n \|T_{\xi_k}Ja_kJ\hat{u}\|_2^2 \geq c$, and hence for any $\eta \in \mathcal{C}$ we have $\langle \eta, \tilde{\xi} \rangle \geq c > 0$. Hence, if we take $\eta \in \mathcal{C}$ to be the vector of minimal norm, then η is a non-zero vector that is invariant under conjugation by \mathcal{G} . Since \mathcal{G} generates A it then follows that η is a non-zero A-central vector. Since $\bigoplus_{k=1}^n \mathcal{H} \overline{\otimes}_M \overline{\mathcal{H}}$ is weakly contained in the coarse correspondence this would then show that Ap is amenable where $p \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{Z}(A))$ is the non-zero support projection for ξ .

Theorem 2.6.14. Let Γ be a discrete group, then $I_{amen} \subset \ell^{\infty}\Gamma$ is the closed ideal generated by $E_{\ell^{\infty}\Gamma}(\mathbb{X}_{amen})$ and $\mathbb{X}_{amen} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2(L\Gamma))$ contains the boundary piece generated by I_{amen} .

Proof. Let \mathscr{H} be a universal M-M correspondence that is weakly contained in the coarse correspondence, and let $\xi, \eta \in \mathscr{H}$ be bounded vector. Then $\mathscr{H} \overline{\otimes}_M \overline{\mathscr{H}}$ is also weakly contained in the coarse correspondence. In particular if we consider the representation $\pi: \Gamma \to \mathscr{U}(\mathscr{H} \overline{\otimes}_M \overline{\mathscr{H}})$ given by conjugation, then π is weakly contained in the conjugation action associated to the coarse correspondence $L^2M \overline{\otimes} L^2M$, which is easily seen to be a multiple of the left regular representation. For $t \in \Gamma$ we compute

$$E_{\ell^{\infty}\Gamma}(T_{\xi}^*T_{\eta})(t) = E_{\ell^{\infty}\Gamma}(T_{\eta\otimes\overline{\xi}})(t) = \langle T_{\eta\otimes\overline{\xi}}\delta_t, \delta_t \rangle = \langle u_t^*(\eta\otimes\overline{\xi})u_t, \eta\otimes\overline{\xi} \rangle.$$

Since $\pi \prec \lambda$ we then have $E_{\ell^{\infty}\Gamma}(T_{\xi}^*T_{\eta}) \in I_{\mathrm{amen}}$, and it then follows that $E_{\ell^{\infty}\Gamma}(\mathbb{X}_{\mathrm{amen}}) \subset I_{\mathrm{amen}}$.

On the other hand, if $\pi:\Gamma\to\mathscr{U}(\mathscr{H})$ is a representation that is weakly contained in the left regular representation, then we may consider the $L\Gamma$ - $L\Gamma$ correspondence $\ell^2\Gamma\overline{\otimes}\mathscr{H}$ where the first copy of $L\Gamma$ acts as $\lambda_t\otimes\pi(t)$ (which is conjugate to $\lambda_t\otimes 1$ by Fell's absorption principle), and the second copy of $L\Gamma$ as as $\rho_t\otimes 1$. As is well known, if $\pi\prec\lambda$, then $\ell^2\Gamma\overline{\otimes}\mathscr{H}$ is weakly contained in the coarse correspondence. Also, if $\xi\in\mathscr{H}$, then it is easy to check that $\delta_e\otimes\xi$ is a bounded vector and $T_{\delta_e\otimes\xi}$ is the diagonal multiplication operator corresponding to $\Gamma\ni t\mapsto \langle\pi(t)\xi,\xi\rangle$. It then follows that $I_{\rm amen}\subset\mathbb{X}_{\rm amen}$.

Moreover, if $\varphi(t) = \langle \pi(t)\xi, \xi \rangle$ and M_{φ} denotes the diagonal multiplication operator, then since $E_{\ell^{\infty}}(M_{\varphi}) =$

 φ we see that I_{amen} is, in fact, equal to $E_{\ell^{\infty}\Gamma}(\mathbb{X}_{\text{amen}})$.

Corollary 2.6.15. Let Γ be a discrete group, then $L\Gamma$ is properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X}_{amen} if and only if Γ is properly proximal relative to I_{amen} .

Proof. This follows from the previous theorem, together with Theorem 2.6.4. \Box

If Γ is properly proximal, then clearly Γ is properly proximal relative to $I_{\rm amen}$, but also if Γ has a normal amenable subgroup $\Sigma \lhd \Gamma$ such that Γ/Σ is properly proximal, then it follows from [BIP21] that Γ is also properly proximal relative to $I_{\rm amen}$. Examples of groups and von Neumann algebras that are not properly proximal relative to the amenable boundary piece are infinite direct products of nonamenable groups or infinite tensor products of nonamenable Π_1 factors, which follows from the following proposition.

Proposition 2.6.16. Suppose M is a tracial von Neumann algebra and $B_n \subset M$ is a decreasing sequence of von Neumann subalgebras such that each B_n has no amenable summand and such that $\cup_n(B'_n \cap M)$ is ultraweakly dense in M. Then M is not properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X}_{amen} .

Proof. This is similar to the proof of Corollary 2.6.9. Given any asymptotically central net $\{u_i\}_i \subset \mathcal{U}(M)$ we may consider a state φ on $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}_{amen}}(M)$ which is a weak*-limit point of the vector states $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}_{amen}}(M) \ni T \mapsto \langle T\widehat{u_i}, \widehat{u_i} \rangle$. Since each B_n has no amenable summand, it follows from Lemma 2.6.13 that we may find an asymptotically central net $\{u_i\}_i \subset \mathcal{U}(M)$ so that φ vanishes on \mathbb{X}_{amen} , and it then follows that φ satisfies the hypotheses of Theorem 2.6.8.

2.7 Biexact groups and properly proximal von Neumann algebras

Throughout this section we fix a group Γ and we fix a trace-preserving action $\Gamma \curvearrowright B$ of Γ on a tracial von Neumann algebra B.

If A is a C^* -algebra and $\Gamma \curvearrowright A$, then we denote by $A \rtimes_r \Gamma$ the reduced C^* -crossed product, and by $A \rtimes_f \Gamma$ the full C^* -crossed product.

Theorem 2.7.1. Suppose Γ is biexact and B is abelian. Then for every von Neumann subalgebra $P \subset B \rtimes \Gamma$, either the inclusion $P \subset B \rtimes \Gamma$ is properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X}_B or else P has an amenable direct summand.

Proof. Suppose the inclusion $P \subset B \rtimes \Gamma$ is not properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X}_B , and let $\phi : \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}_B}(B \rtimes \Gamma) \to \langle p(B \rtimes \Gamma)p, e_{Pp} \rangle$ be a $p(B \rtimes \Gamma)p$ -bimodular u.c.p. map, where $p \in \mathcal{Z}(P)$ is a non-zero central projection.

If we consider the Γ -equivariant diagonal embedding $\ell^{\infty}\Gamma \subset \mathbb{B}(\ell^{2}\Gamma) \subset \mathbb{B}(L^{2}B) \overline{\otimes} \mathbb{B}(\ell^{2}\Gamma)$, then we see that $\ell^{\infty}\Gamma$ commutes with B, and that $c_{0}\Gamma$ is mapped to \mathbb{X}_{B} . Restricting to $\mathbb{S}(\Gamma)$ then gives a Γ -equivariant embedding into $B' \cap \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}_{B}}(B \rtimes \Gamma)$. We therefore obtain a *-homomorphism $(B \otimes_{\min} \mathbb{S}(\Gamma)) \rtimes_{f} \Gamma \to \mathbb{B}(L^{2}B \overline{\otimes} \ell^{2}\Gamma)$

whose image is contained in $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}_B}(B \rtimes \Gamma)$. Composing this *-homomorphism with the u.c.p. map ϕ then gives a u.c.p. map $\tilde{\phi}: (B \otimes_{\min} \mathbb{S}(\Gamma)) \rtimes_f \Gamma \to \langle p(B \rtimes \Gamma)p, e_{Pp} \rangle$ such that $\tilde{\phi}(t) = pu_t p$ for all $t \in \Gamma$.

Since Γ is biexact, the action $\Gamma \curvearrowright \mathbb{S}(\Gamma)$ is topologically amenable, and since B is abelian the action $\Gamma \curvearrowright B \otimes_{\min} \mathbb{S}(\Gamma)$ is then also topologically amenable. Hence, $(B \otimes_{\min} \mathbb{S}(\Gamma)) \rtimes_f \Gamma = (B \otimes_{\min} \mathbb{S}(\Gamma)) \rtimes_r \Gamma$ is a nuclear C^* -algebra.

We set $\varphi(\cdot) := \frac{1}{\tau(p)} \langle \tilde{\varphi}(\cdot) \hat{p}, \hat{p} \rangle$ and note that for $x \in B \rtimes_r \Gamma$ we have $\varphi(x) = \frac{1}{\tau(p)} \tau(pxp)$. Since $B \rtimes_r \Gamma$ is ultraweakly dense in $B \rtimes \Gamma$ an argument similar to Proposition 3.1 in [BC15] then gives a representation π_{φ} : $(B \otimes_{\min} \mathbb{S}(\Gamma)) \rtimes_r \Gamma \to \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\varphi})$, a state $\tilde{\varphi} \in \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\varphi})_*$ with $\varphi = \tilde{\varphi} \circ \pi_{\varphi}$, and a projection $q \in \pi_{\varphi}((B \otimes_{\min} \mathbb{S}(\Gamma)) \rtimes_r \Gamma)''$ with $\tilde{\varphi}(q) = 1$ such that there is a normal unital *-homomorphism $\iota : B \rtimes \Gamma \hookrightarrow q\pi_{\varphi}((B \otimes_{\min} \mathbb{S}(\Gamma)) \rtimes_r \Gamma)''q$. Since $(B \otimes_{\min} \mathbb{S}(\Gamma)) \rtimes_r \Gamma$ is nuclear, we have that $\pi_{\varphi}((B \otimes_{\min} \mathbb{S}(\Gamma)) \rtimes_r \Gamma)''$ is injective, and so there is a u.c.p. map $\tilde{\iota} : \langle B \rtimes \Gamma, e_B \rangle \to q\pi_{\varphi}((B \otimes_{\min} \mathbb{S}(\Gamma)) \rtimes_r \Gamma)''q$ that extends ι . Notice that $\psi := \tilde{\varphi} \circ \tilde{\iota}$ is then a Pp-central state on $\langle B \rtimes \Gamma, e_B \rangle$ and $\psi(x) = \frac{1}{\tau(p)} \tau(pxp)$ for all $x \in B \rtimes \Gamma$. By Theorem 2.1 in [OP10a] we conclude that $Pp \oplus \mathbb{C}(1-p)$ is amenable relative to B, and since B is abelian we then have that Pp is amenable. \square

2.8 Properly proximal actions and crossed products

Let M be a separable finite von Neumann with normal faithful trace τ and let Γ be a group that acts on M by trace-preserving automorphisms. Note that the action $\Gamma \curvearrowright^{\alpha} (M, \tau)$ is unitarily implemented by the unitaries $\alpha_t^0(\hat{x}) = \widehat{\alpha_t(x)}$. Conjugation by these unitaries then implements an action of Γ on $\mathbb{B}(L^2(M, \tau))$, which preserves the space $\mathbb{S}(M)$.

If $\mathbb{X} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ is a boundary piece such that conjugation by unitaries in the Koopman representation of Γ preserves \mathbb{X} , then the action of Γ on $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ will also preserve $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$. We say that the action $\Gamma \curvearrowright M$ is properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X} if there does not exist a non-zero Γ -invariant projection $p \in \mathcal{Z}(M)$, such that $\Gamma \curvearrowright Mp$ is weakly compact, and such that there does not exist a Γ -invariant M-central state on $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ that vanishes on $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(M)$ and is normal when restricted to M.

Note that the same proof as in Corollary 2.6.9 shows that if $\Gamma \curvearrowright M$ is properly proximal, then $(M \rtimes \Gamma)' \cap M^{\omega}$ cannot be diffuse. In particular, if M is abelian and the action is ergodic, then the the action $\Gamma \curvearrowright M$ is strongly ergodic. Also note that if $\Gamma \curvearrowright \mathscr{Z}(M)$ is ergodic, then the trace τ is the unique Γ -invariant M-central normal state on M.

The definition of proper proximality for actions is slightly more technical than for von Neumann algebras. This is done to accommodate the proof of Lemma 2.8.5 below. We will show in Proposition 2.8.2 that proper proximality for the trivial action is equivalent to proper proximality for the von Neumann algebra.

Note that if M is abelian and if φ is a state on $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ that restricts to the trace on M, then φ vanishes on $\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ if and only if φ vanishes on \mathbb{X} . Indeed, if $T \in \mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$, then for each $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a projection

 $p \in \mathscr{P}(M)$ with $\tau(p) > 1 - \varepsilon$ such that $p(JpJ)T(JpJ)p \in \mathbb{X}$. Since M is abelian we have JpJ = p and by Cauchy-Schwarz $\varphi(T) \leq 2\varepsilon ||T|| + \varphi(pTp)$. Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary this then shows that if φ vanishes on \mathbb{X} , then it must also vanish on $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(M)$. Thus, in the case when M is abelian, the following proposition can give an easier criterion to check whether or not the action is properly proximal.

Proposition 2.8.1. Let (M, τ) be a finite von Neumann algebra, suppose $\Gamma \curvearrowright (M, \tau)$ is a trace-preserving action, and $\mathbb{X} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ is a Γ -invariant boundary piece for M. If there exists a Γ -invariant, M-central state $\varphi : \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M) \to \mathbb{C}$ such that $\varphi_{|M}$ is normal and $\varphi_{|\mathbb{X}} \neq 0$, then there exists a non-zero Γ -invariant projection $p \in \mathscr{Z}(M)$ so that $\Gamma \curvearrowright Mp$ is weakly compact.

Proof. First notice that since $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M) = \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}}(M)$, we may assume $\mathbb{X} = \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}$ and thus $M \subset M(\mathbb{X})$. Let $\varphi : \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M) \to \mathbb{C}$ be a Γ-invariant, M-central state that satisfies $\varphi_{|M} = \tau$ and does not vanish on \mathbb{X} . Take a Γ-approximate unit $\{A_i\}_i \subset \mathbb{X}$ that is quasi-central in $M(\mathbb{X})$. Since M is contained in the multiplier of \mathbb{X} and since $\{A_i\}_i$ is quasi-central in $M(\mathbb{X})$, we obtain a non-zero Γ-invariant and M-central positive linear functional $\tilde{\varphi}$ on $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ with $\tilde{\varphi}_{|M}$ normal by setting

$$\tilde{\varphi}(\cdot) = \lim_{i \to \infty} \varphi(A_i^{1/2} \cdot A_i^{1/2}),$$

for some free ultrafilter ω. Since $\tilde{φ}_{|M}$ is Γ -invariant, if we let p be the support of $\tilde{φ}_{|M}$, then p is Γ -invariant, and $\tilde{φ}_{|Mp}$ is faithful, so that $\Gamma \curvearrowright Mp$ is weakly compact.

Proposition 2.8.2. Let M be a tracial von Neumann algebra, and $\mathbb{X} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ a boundary piece. Then M is not properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X} if and only if there either exists a central projection $p \in \mathscr{Z}(M)$, such that Mp is amenable, or else such that there exists an M-central state $\psi : \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M) \to \mathbb{C}$ such that $\psi_{|M}$ is normal and $\psi_{|\mathbb{K}_{\infty}^{\infty,1}(M)} = 0$.

Proof. Suppose M is not properly proximal relative to $\mathbb X$ and that M has no amenable direct summand. Let $\varphi: \mathbb S_{\mathbb X}(M) \to \mathbb C$ be an M-central state such that $\varphi_{|M}$ is normal. A simple standard argument shows that we may then produce a new M-central state (which we still denote by φ) and a central projection $p \in \mathscr Z(M)$ such that $\varphi(x) = \frac{1}{\tau(p)} \tau(xp)$ for $x \in M$. Since M has no amenable direct summand, Proposition 2.8.1 shows that $\varphi_{|\mathbb X} \neq 0$.

Extend φ to a state, still denoted by φ , on $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$. Since $\varphi_{|\mathscr{Z}(Mp)} = \frac{1}{\tau(p)}\tau$ by the Dixmier property we may produce a net of u.c.p. maps $\alpha_i : \mathbb{B}(L^2M) \to \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ that are convex combinations of conjugation by unitaries in JMJ such that $\lim_{i \to \infty} |\varphi \circ \alpha_i(x) - \frac{1}{\tau(p)}\tau(x)| \to 0$ for each $x \in JMJp$. We may then let $\tilde{\varphi}$ be a weak*-limit point of $\{\varphi \circ \alpha_i\}_i$. Since each α_i is M-bimodular and preserves $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ (see the remark at the beginning of Section 2.6), it follows that $\tilde{\varphi}_{|\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)}$ is again M-central. Also, since each α_i preserves \mathbb{X} it follows

that $\tilde{\varphi}$ again vanishes on \mathbb{X} . Since $\tilde{\varphi}$ restricts to the canonical traces on both Mp and JMJp it then follows from continuity that $\tilde{\varphi}$ also vanishes on $\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$.

It was shown in [IPR19] that proper proximality for a group Γ is an invariant for the orbit equivalence relation associated to any free probability measure-preserving action. Here we show a counterpart for proper proximality of an action.

Proposition 2.8.3. Let $\Gamma \curvearrowright^{\alpha} (M, \tau)$ be a trace-preserving action of Γ on a separable finite von Neumann algebra M with a normal faithful trace τ . Suppose $\mathbb{X} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2(M, \tau))$ is a Γ -boundary piece. Then $\Gamma \curvearrowright M$ is properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X} if and only if $\mathcal{N}_{M \rtimes \Gamma}(M) \curvearrowright M$ is properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X} . In particular, proper proximality for a free probability measure-preserving action is an an invariant of the orbit equivalence relation.

Proof. Since $\Gamma \curvearrowright M$ is weakly compact if and only if $\mathscr{N}_{M \rtimes \Gamma}(M) \curvearrowright M$ is weakly compact [OP10a, Proposition 3.4], we may assume that there is no Γ -invariant non-zero projection $p \in \mathscr{Z}(M)$ such that $\Gamma \curvearrowright Mz$ is weakly compact.

Suppose $\Gamma \curvearrowright M$ is not properly proximal relative to $\mathbb X$ and let φ be a Γ -equivariant and M-central state on $\mathbb S_{\mathbb X}(M)$ with $\varphi_{|M}$ normal and $\varphi_{|\mathbb K_{\mathbb X}^{\infty,1}(M)}=0$. We claim that φ is $\mathscr N_{M\rtimes\Gamma}(M)$ -equivariant. Indeed, take any $u\in \mathscr N_{M\rtimes\Gamma}(M)$ and by [Dye59] there exists a partition of unity $\{p_t\}_{t\in\Gamma}\subset \mathscr P(\mathscr Z(M))$ and unitaries $\{v_t\}_{t\in\Gamma}\subset \mathscr U(M)$ so that $\{\alpha_{t^{-1}}(p_t)\}_{t\in\Gamma}$ also forms a partition of unity and $u=\sum_{t\in\Gamma}p_tv_tu_t$. Let $\alpha_u^0\in\mathbb B(L^2M)$ be a unitary given by $\alpha_u^0(\hat x)=\widehat{uxu^*}$. Notice that $\alpha_u^0=\sum_{t\in\Gamma}p_tv_tJv_tJ\alpha_t^0$. For $F\subset\Gamma$ finite we also set $\alpha_{u,F}^0=\sum_{t\in\Gamma}p_tv_tJv_tJ\alpha_t^0$. We may extend φ to $\mathbb B(L^2M)$, still denoted by φ , and compute that for any $T\in\mathbb B(L^2M)$ and $F\subset\Gamma$ finite

$$\begin{split} |\varphi(\alpha_{u}^{0}T(\alpha_{u}^{0})^{*}) - \varphi(\alpha_{u,F}^{0}T(\alpha_{u,F}^{0})^{*})| &\leq |\varphi((\alpha_{u}^{0} - \alpha_{u,F}^{0})T(\alpha_{u}^{0})^{*})| + |\varphi(\alpha_{u,F}^{0}T(\alpha_{u}^{0} - \alpha_{u,F}^{0})^{*}| \\ &\leq |\varphi((\alpha_{u}^{0} - \alpha_{u,F}^{0})(\alpha_{u}^{0} - \alpha_{u,F}^{0})^{*})|^{1/2} |\varphi(\alpha_{u}^{0}T^{*}T(\alpha_{u}^{0})^{*})|^{1/2} \\ &\qquad + |\varphi(\alpha_{u,F}^{0}TT^{*}(\alpha_{u,F}^{0})^{*})|^{1/2} |\varphi((\alpha_{u}^{0} - \alpha_{u,F}^{0})(\alpha_{u}^{0} - \alpha_{u,F}^{0})^{*})|^{1/2} \\ &\leq 2 \|T\|\varphi(\sum_{t \notin F} p_{t})^{1/2}. \end{split}$$

Notice that for $S \in \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$, we have $\alpha_{u,F}^0 S(\alpha_{u,F}^0)^* = (\sum_{t \in F} p_t) \alpha_u^0 S(\alpha_u^0)^* (\sum_{t \in F} p_t) \in \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ and since $\varphi_{|\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)}$ is M-central we have

$$\begin{split} \varphi(\alpha_{u,F}^{0}S(\alpha_{u,F}^{0})^{*}) &= \sum_{t \in F} \varphi(p_{t}v_{t}Jv_{t}J\alpha_{t}^{0}S(\alpha_{t}^{0})^{*}Jv_{t}^{*}Jv_{t}) = \sum_{t \in F} \varphi(p_{t}v_{t}\alpha_{t}^{0}S(\alpha_{t}^{0})^{*}v_{t}^{*}) + \varphi(K_{t}) \\ &= \sum_{t \in F} \varphi(\alpha_{t}^{0}\alpha_{t-1}(p_{t})S(\alpha_{t}^{0})^{*}) + \varphi(K_{t}) = \varphi(\sum_{t \in F} \alpha_{t-1}(p_{t})S) + \varphi(\sum_{t \in F} K_{t}), \end{split}$$

where $K_t = p_t v_t [Jv_t J, \alpha_t^0 S(\alpha_t^0)^*] Jv_t^* Jv_t \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(M)$. Since φ vanishes on $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(M)$ we then have

$$|\varphi(S) - \varphi(\alpha_u S \alpha_u^*)| \le 2\|S\|\varphi(\sum_{t \notin F} p_t)^{1/2} + \|S\|\varphi(1 - \sum_{t \in F} \alpha_{t-1}(p_t))^{1/2} = 3\|S\|\varphi(\sum_{t \notin F} p_t)^{1/2}.$$

Since $F \subset \Gamma$ was an arbitrary finite set and $\varphi_{|M}$ is normal we conclude that $\varphi_{|\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)}$ is $\mathcal{N}_{M \rtimes \Gamma}(M)$ -invariant. \square

The following lemma is a simple application of the Hahn-Banach Theorem.

Lemma 2.8.4. Let E be an operator system. Suppose $\Gamma \curvearrowright^{\alpha} E$ is an action of Γ on E by complete order isomorphisms. If E does not admit a Γ -invariant state, then there exist $F \subset \Gamma$ finite, $\{T_t\}_{t \in F} \subset E$, and $T_0 \in E_+$ such that $||1 + T_0 + \sum_{t \in F} (T_t - \alpha_t(T_t))|| < 1/4$.

If $\mathbb{X} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ is a boundary piece, then we set $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_J^{\sharp} = \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)^{M\sharp M} \cap \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)^{JMJ\sharp JMJ}$. Recall from Proposition 2.2.10 that $(\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp})^*$ is a von Neumann algebra containing M and JMJ as von Neumann subalgebras, and $(\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_J^{\sharp})^*$ is a corner of this von Neumann algebra with the support projection of $(\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_J^{\sharp})^*$ commuting with both M and JMJ. The following technical lemma is adapted from Theorem 4.3 in [BIP21].

Lemma 2.8.5. Let M be a separable finite von Neumann algebra with normal faithful trace τ . Suppose that $\Gamma \curvearrowright^{\alpha} M$ is trace-preserving action by a group Γ such that $\Gamma \curvearrowright \mathscr{Z}(M)$ is ergodic and let $\mathbb{X} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ be a Γ -boundary piece

Then $\Gamma \curvearrowright M$ is properly proximal relative to $\mathbb X$ if and only if there is no M-central Γ -invariant state φ on

$$\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}}(M) := \left\{ T \in \left(\mathbb{B}(L^2 M)_J^{\sharp} \right)^* \mid [T, a] \in \left(\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_J^{\sharp} \right)^* \text{ for all } a \in JMJ \right\}$$

such that $\varphi_{|M} = \tau$.

Proof. First note that as $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M) = \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}}(M)$ and $\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}}(M) = \widetilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}}(M)$ we may assume that $\mathbb{X} = \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}$. In particular, we may assume that both M and JMJ are contained in the multiplier algebra of \mathbb{X} . Also, note that by considering the natural map from $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ into $(\mathbb{B}(L^2M)^{\sharp}_J)^*$ we get Γ -equivariant M-bimodular u.c.p. maps $\mathbb{B}(L^2M) \to \left(\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)^{\sharp}_J\right)^*$, and $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M) \to \widetilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$. Thus, if there exists an M-central Γ -invariant state φ on $\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ such that $\varphi_{|M} = \tau$, then either $\varphi_{|\left(\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)^{\sharp}_J\right)^*} \neq 0$, in which case restricting to $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ shows that $\Gamma \curvearrowright M$ is weakly compact [OP10a, Proposition 3.2] (and hence not properly proximal), or else $\varphi_{|\left(\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)^{\sharp}_J\right)^*} = 0$, in which case restricting φ to $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ shows that $\Gamma \curvearrowright M$ is not properly proximal.

We now show the converse. So suppose that $\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ has no M-central Γ -invariant state that restricts to the trace on M. Set $\mathscr{G} = \mathscr{N}_{M \rtimes \Gamma}(M)$ and continue to denote by α the trace-preserving action of \mathscr{G} on M given by conjugation. Since $\Gamma \curvearrowright \mathscr{Z}(M)$ is ergodic it follows from [Dye63] that the trace is the unique \mathscr{G} -invariant state on M, and hence there exists no \mathscr{G} -invariant state on $\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$.

Let $M_0 \subset M$ be an ultraweakly dense *-subalgebra that is generated, as an algebra, by a countable set of contractions $S_0 = \{x_0 = 1, x_1, \ldots\}$. By Lemma 2.8.4 there exists a finite set $F \subset \mathcal{G}$, $\{T_g\}_{g \in F} \subset \widetilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$, and $T_0 \in \widetilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_+$, so that $\|1 + T_0 + \sum_{g \in F} (T_g - \alpha_g(T_g))\| < 1/4$. By enlarging F (possibly with repeated elements) we may assume $\|T_g\| \le 1$ for each $g \in F$.

We let I denote the set of all pairs (A, κ) where $A \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp}$ is a finite set and $\kappa > 0$. We define a partial ordering on I by $(A, \kappa) \prec (A', \kappa')$ if $A \subset A'$ and $\kappa' \leq \kappa$.

For each T_g , we may find a net $\{T_g^i\}_{i\in I}\subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ whose weak* limit is T_g ; moreover, by Goldstein's theorem, we may assume $\|T_g^i\|\leq 1$ for all $i\in I$. Since an operator $T\in \left(\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^\sharp\right)^*$ is a positive contraction if and only if $\varphi(T)\in [0,1]$ for all states $\varphi\in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^\sharp$, and since the set of positive contractions is convex, it then follows from the Hahn-Banach theorem that any positive contraction in $\left(\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^\sharp\right)^*$ is in the ultraweak closure of positive contractions in $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$. We may therefore also find a net of positive operators $\{T_0^i\}_{i\in I}\subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ so that $\|T_0^i\|\leq \|T_0\|$, and $T_0^i\to T_0$ weak*.

We also choose a net $\{S_i\}_{i\in I} \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ such that $\|S_i\| < 1/4$, for each $i \in I$, and $S_i \to 1 + T_0 + \sum_{g \in F} (T_g - \alpha_g(T_g))$ weak*.

For any given $g \in \{0\} \cup F$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we have $[T_g, Jx_n J] \in \left((\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}})_J^{\sharp} \right)^*$ and so we may choose a net $\{K_{g,n}^i\}_{i \in I} \subset \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}$ such that $\lim_{i \to \infty} K_{g,n}^i - [T_g^i, Jx_n J] = 0$ weak*. Furthermore, since $\mathbb{B}(L^2 M)_J^{\sharp}$ is the space of linear functionals that are continuous for both the M-M and JMJ-JMJ-topologies we may pass to convex combinations and assume that there exists a net $\{e_i^{n,g}\}_{i \in I}, \subset \mathscr{P}(M)$ such that $e_i^{n,g} \to 1$ strongly, and

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \|e_i^{n,g} J e_i^{n,g} J(K_{g,n}^i - [T_g^i, J x_n J]) J e_i^{n,g} J e_i^{n,g} \| = 0.$$
 (2.9)

Since we also have that $1 + T_0^i + \sum_{g \in F} (T_g^i - \alpha_g(T_g^i)) - S_i$ converges weak* to 0, we may assume that, in addition to (2.9), we also have

$$\left\| e_i^{n,g} J e_i^{n,g} J \left(1 + T_0^i + \sum_{g \in F} (T_g^i - \alpha_g(T_g^i)) - S_i \right) J e_i^{n,g} J e_i^{n,g} \right\| \to 0.$$
 (2.10)

We fix $\varepsilon > 0$ to be chosen later. For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we may then choose $i(n) \in I$ such that setting $f_n = \bigwedge_{g \in F, m \le n} e_{i(n)}^{m,g}$, we have $\tau(f_n) > 1 - \varepsilon 2^{-n-1}$, and

$$\left\| f_n J f_n J \left(K_{g,m}^{i(n)} - [T_g^{i(n)}, J x_m J] \right) J f_n J f_n \right\| < 2^{-n},$$
 (2.11)

for all $m \le n$ and $g \in F$, and also

$$\left\| f_n J f_n J \left(1 + T_0^{i(n)} + \sum_{g \in F} (T_g^{i(n)} - \alpha_g(T_g^{i(n)})) - S_{i(n)} \right) J f_n J f_n \right\| < 2^{-n} / 16.$$
 (2.12)

Setting $p_n = \wedge_{k \ge n} f_k$ we then have that $\{p_n\}_n$ is an increasing sequence, and $\tau(p_n) > 1 - \varepsilon 2^{-n}$, for all $n \ge 1$.

By Lemma 13.7 in [Dav88] there exists $\delta_n > 0$ so that when $K \in \mathbb{X}_+$, and $z \in M(\mathbb{X})$ are contractions satisfying $||[K,z]|| < \delta_n$, then we have $||[K^{1/2},z]|| < 2^{-n}/16(6|F|+4+||T_0||) < 2^{-n}$.

If we consider the unital C^* -subalgebra B generated by

$$\{K_{g,m}^{i(n)}, Jx_nJ, a_k, p_n, Jq_nJ \mid n \ge 1, g \in F, m \le n\},\$$

then B is a separable C^* -algebra and $B \cap \mathbb{X}$ is a closed ideal. It then follows from [Arv77] that there exists an increasing sequence $\{F_n\}_{n\geq 1} \subset \mathbb{X}_+ \cap B$ such that that the following conditions are satisfied:

- (a) $||F_nK_{g,m}^{i(n+1)} K_{g,m}^{i(n+1)}|| < 2^{-n}$ for all $g \in \{0\} \cup F$ and $m \le n+1$;
- (b) $||[F_n, Jx_m J]|| < \delta_n/2 \text{ for } m \le n;$
- (c) $||F_n \alpha_g(F_n)|| < \delta_n/2$ for all $g \in F$;
- (d) $||[F_n, p_m]||, ||[F_n, Jp_m J]|| \le \delta_n/2$ for all $m \le n$.

Set $E_1 = F_1^{1/2}$, $E_n = (F_n - F_{n-1})^{1/2}$ for $n \ge 2$, and define $T_g^0 = \sum_n E_n T_g^{i(n)} E_n$ for $g \in \{0\} \cup F$, where the sum is SOT convergent as $||T_g^i|| \le ||T_g||$ for each g. We claim that $T_g^0 \in \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$. Since $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(M)$ is a strong JMJ-JMJ bimodule it suffices to show that $[T_g^0, Jx_m J] \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(M)$ for any given $x_m \in S_0$. We compute

$$[T_g^0, Jx_m J] = \sum_n E_n T_g^{i(n)} [E_n, Jx_m J] + \sum_n [E_n, Jx_m J] T_g^{i(n)} E_n$$

$$+ \sum_n E_n [T_g^{i(n)}, Jx_m J] E_n.$$
(2.13)

The finite sums in the summations $\sum_n E_n T_k^{i(n)}[E_n, Jx_m J]$ and $\sum_n [E_n, Jx_m J] T_g^{i(n)} E_n$ belong to \mathbb{X} since \mathbb{X} is hereditary. The summations $\sum_n E_n T_g^{i(n)}[E_n, Jx_m J]$ and $\sum_n [E_n, Jx_m J] T_g^{i(n)} E_n$ are norm convergent since $||[E_n, Jx_m J]|| < 2^{-n}$ for sufficiently large n and hence they also belong to \mathbb{X} .

Using a similar argument with (2.11) and (d) we deduce

$$p_{\ell}Jp_{\ell}J\left(\sum_{n}E_{n}K_{g,m}^{i(n)}E_{n}-\sum_{n}E_{n}[T_{g}^{i(n)},Jx_{m}J]E_{n}
ight)Jp_{\ell}Jp_{\ell}\in\mathbb{X},$$

for any fixed $\ell \geq 1$, and hence

$$\left(\sum_{n} E_n K_{g,m}^{i(n)} E_n - \sum_{n} E_n [T_g^{i(n)}, J x_m J] E_n\right) \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty, 1}.$$
(2.14)

On the other hand, since $E_n^2 = F_n - F_{n-1}$, we have from (a) that $||E_n K_{g,m}^{i(n)} E_n|| < 2^{-n+1}$ for large enough n and hence $\sum_n E_n K_{g,m}^{i(n)} E_n$ is also norm convergent, and thus contained in \mathbb{X} as well. This then shows that $[T_g^0, Jx_m J] \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(M)$, for all $g \in \{0\} \cup F$, and $m \geq 0$, verifying the claim that $T_g^0 \in \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$. Note that we also have $T_0^0 \in (\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M))_+$ since T_0^0 is the SOT-limit of positive operators.

We define $S = \sum_{n} E_n S_{i(n)} E_n$. From (2.12), (c) and (d) we have

$$\begin{aligned} & \left\| p_{1}Jp_{1}J\left(1+T_{0}^{0}+\sum_{g\in F}(T_{g}^{0}-\alpha_{g}(T_{g}^{0}))-S\right)Jp_{1}Jp_{1}\right\| \\ &\leq 2\sum_{g\in F}\sum_{n}\left\|E_{n}-\alpha_{g}(E_{n})\right\|+2\left(\sum_{n}\left\|[p_{1},E_{n}]\right\|+\sum_{n}\left\|[Jp_{1}J,E_{n}]\right\|\right)(2+\left\|T_{0}\right\|+2\left|F\right|) \\ & +\left\|\sum_{n}E_{n}p_{1}Jp_{1}J(1+T_{0}^{i(n)}+\sum_{g\in F}(T_{g}^{i(n)}-\alpha_{g}(T_{g}^{i(n)}))-S_{i(n)})Jp_{1}Jp_{1}E_{n}\right\| \\ &\leq 1/16+\left\|\sum_{n}E_{n}p_{1}Jp_{1}J\left(1+T_{0}^{i(n)}+\sum_{g\in F}(T_{g}^{i(n)}-\alpha_{g}(T_{g}^{i(n)}))-S_{i(n)}\right)Jp_{1}Jp_{1}E_{n}\right\| \leq 1/8. \end{aligned}$$

Note that since $E_n \ge 0$ and $\sum_n E_n^2 = 1$, the map $\phi : \ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{B}(L^2M)) \to \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ given by $\phi((z_n)) = \sum_n E_n z_n E_n$ is unital completely positive. In particular, we have that ϕ is a contraction and it follows that $||S|| \le \sup_n ||S_{i(n)}|| \le 1/4$. Thus, from the previous inequalities we conclude that

$$\left\| p_1 J p_1 J \left(1 + T_0^0 + \sum_{g \in F} (T_g^0 - \alpha_t(T_g^0)) \right) J p_1 J p_1 \right\| < 3/8.$$
 (2.15)

Since $\tau(p_1) \geq 1 - \varepsilon$, it follows easily by considering the disintegration into factors that there exist a central projection $z \leq z(p_1)$, with $\tau(z) > 1 - 2\varepsilon$, and two subprojections $q_2, q_3 \leq z$ with $q_2 + q_3 = z$ such that q_2 and q_3 are both Murray-von Neumann subequivalent to p_1 . Take partial isometries v_2, v_3 such that $v_2^*v_2, v_3^*v_3 \leq p_1$ and $v_2v_2^* = q_2$, $v_3v_3^* = q_3$. We define the u.c.p. map $\phi : \mathbb{B}(L^2M) \to \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ by $\phi(T) = Jv_2JTJv_2^*J + Jv_3JTJv_3^*J + z^{\perp}Tz^{\perp}$. Note that ϕ maps $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ into itself, and for all $T \in \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ we have $\phi(T) - T \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(M)$.

It follows from (2.15) that

$$\left\| p_1 z \left(1 + \phi(T_0^0) + \sum_{g \in F} (\phi(T_g^0) - \phi(\alpha_g(T_g^0))) \right) z p_1 \right\| < 3/4.$$
 (2.16)

If we had a Γ -invariant state φ on $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ such that $\varphi_{|M} = \tau$ and $\varphi_{|\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)} = 0$, then from (2.16), the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, and the fact that $\varphi(T) - T \in \mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ for each $T \in \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$, we would then have

$$\begin{aligned} 1 - 3\varepsilon &\leq \tau(p_1 z) = \varphi(p_1 z) \\ &\leq 3/4 + \varphi\left(p_1 z\left(\phi(T_0^0) + \sum_{g \in F} (\phi(T_g^0) - \phi(\alpha_g(T_g^0)))\right) z p_1\right) \\ &= 3/4 + \varphi\left(p_1 z\left(T_0^0 + \sum_{g \in F} (T_g^0 - \alpha_g(T_g^0))\right) p_1 z\right) \\ &\leq 3/4 + 2|F|(1 - \varphi(p_1 z)) \leq 3/4 + 6|F|\varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

Thus, we obtain a contradiction by choosing $\varepsilon > 0$ so that $(3+6|F|)\varepsilon < 1/4$.

The following slight variant of of the previous lemma will be of more use in the sequel.

Lemma 2.8.6. Using the same notation as in the previous lemma, the action $\Gamma \curvearrowright M$ is properly proximal if and only if $\Gamma \curvearrowright M$ is not weakly compact and there is no M-central Γ -invariant state φ on $\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ such that $\varphi_{|M} = \tau$ and $\varphi_{|\binom{\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)^{\sharp}}{J}}^* = 0$.

Proof. Using the previous lemma, suppose $\varphi : \widetilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}}(M) \to \mathbb{C}$ is an M-central Γ -invariant state such that $\varphi_{|M} = \tau$. By considering the natural M and JMJ-bimodular u.c.p. map from $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ into $\left(\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_J^{\sharp}\right)^*$ we see that if φ does not vanish on $\left(\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_J^{\sharp}\right)^*$, then we get a state on $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ that is Γ -invariant, M-central, and normal on M, which shows that $\Gamma \curvearrowright M$ is weakly compact by Proposition 3.2 in [OP10a].

Lemma 2.8.7. Let M be a finite von Neumann algebra and $B \subset M$ a von Neumann subalgera. Let $e_B : L^2M \to L^2B$ denote the orthogonal projection. Then $e_B\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M)e_B \subset \mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(B)$, and $e_B\mathbb{S}(M)e_B \subset \mathbb{S}(B)$.

Proof. For any $T \in \mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M)$, denote by $\{T_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \mathbb{K}(L^2M)$ a sequence that converges to T in $\|\cdot\|_{\infty,1}$. Notice that

$$||e_B(T-T_n)e_B||_{\infty,1} = \sup_{a,b\in(B)_1} \langle e_B(T-T_n)e_B\hat{a},b\rangle \leq ||T-T_n||_{\infty,1},$$

and we conclude that $e_BTe_B \in \mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(B)$. Since JBJ commutes with e_B , we also have $e_B\mathbb{S}(M)e_B \subset \mathbb{S}(B)$.

Theorem 2.8.8. Let M_1 and M_2 be separable finite von Neumann algebras and suppose we have trace-preserving actions $\Gamma \curvearrowright M_i$. Then the action $\Gamma \curvearrowright M_1 \overline{\otimes} M_2$ is properly proximal if and only if the action $\Gamma \curvearrowright M_i$ is properly proximal for each i = 1, 2.

Proof. If the action $\Gamma \curvearrowright M_1 \overline{\otimes} M_2$ is weakly compact, then so is $\Gamma \curvearrowright M_i$, for each i. We may therefore restrict to the case when $\Gamma \curvearrowright M$ is not weakly compact. Also, if $\mathscr{Z}(M_i)^{\Gamma}$ is diffuse for some i, then the same is

true for $\mathscr{Z}(M_1 \overline{\otimes} M_2)^{\Gamma}$, and the result is easy. We may therefore also restrict to the case when $\mathscr{Z}(M_i)^{\Gamma}$ is completely atomic for each i=1,2. It is easy to see that a direct sum of trace-preserving actions is properly proximal if and only if each summand is properly proximal, and hence by restricting to each atom we may further reduce to the case when $\Gamma \curvearrowright Z(M_i)$ is ergodic for each i=1,2.

Suppose $\Gamma \curvearrowright M$ is not properly proximal. By Lemma 2.8.6 there is an M-central Γ -invariant state φ on $\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)$ with $\varphi_{|M} = \tau$ and $\varphi_{|(\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M)_J^{M\sharp M})^*} = 0$. Let $A_i \in \mathbb{K}(L^2M_1) \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M_1)$ be an increasing quasi-central approximate unit. We consider the von Neumann algebra $(\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{M\sharp M})^*$ and let $A \in (\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{M\sharp M})^*$ be the weak*-limit of the increasing net $A_i \otimes 1$. We then define an M_2 -bimodular Γ -equivariant completely positive map $\Phi : \mathbb{S}(M_2) \to (\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{M\sharp M})^*$ by $\Phi(T) = A^{1/2}(1 \otimes T)A^{1/2}$.

Note that for $x_1 \in M_1$ we have

$$[\Phi(T),Jx_1J]=\lim_i [A_i,Jx_1J]\otimes T=0,$$

and for $x_2 \in M_2$ we have

$$[\Phi(T), Jx_2J] = \lim_i A_i \otimes [T, Jx_2J] \in (\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M)_J^{M\sharp M})^*.$$

Since $(\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M)_J^{M\sharp M})^*$ is a strong JMJ-bimodule, we have $[\Phi(T),JxJ] \in (\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M)_J^{M\sharp M})^*$ for $x \in M$ in general. Therefore we have $\Phi: \mathbb{S}(M_2) \to \widetilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)$. If $\varphi(A) \neq 0$, then composing Φ with φ gives an M_2 -central Γ -invariant positive linear functional on $\mathbb{S}(M_2)$ that restricts to $\varphi(A)\tau$ on M_2 . As we have $\Phi: \mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M_2) \to (\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M)_J^{M\sharp M})^*$ this then shows that $\Gamma \curvearrowright M_2$ is not properly proximal.

If we let $B_j \in \mathbb{K}(L^2M_2) \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M_2)$ be an increasing quasi-central approximate unit and if we let $B \in (\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{M\sharp M})^*$ be a weak*-limit of the increasing net $1 \otimes B_j$, then just as above if $\varphi(B) \neq 0$ it would then follow that $\Gamma \curvearrowright M_1$ is not properly proximal.

We now suppose $\varphi(A) = \varphi(B) = 0$ and consider the M_1 -bimodular Γ -equivariant u.c.p. map $\Psi : \mathbb{S}(M_1) \to (\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{M\sharp M})^*$ given by $\Psi(T) = (1-A)^{1/2}(T\otimes 1)(1-A)^{1/2}$. Similar to the calculation above, we have that $[\Psi(T),JxJ] = 0$ for all $x\in M_1\otimes_{\operatorname{alg}}M_2$ and hence $[\Psi(T),JxJ] = 0$ for all $x\in M$. Therefore, $\Psi(T)\in\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)$, and since $\varphi(A)=0$ it then follows that $\varphi\circ\Psi$ defines an M_1 -central Γ -equivariant state on $\mathbb{S}(M_1)$ that restricts to the trace on M_1 . Moreover, since $\varphi(B)=0$ we have that $\varphi\circ\Psi_{|\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M_1)}=0$ and hence $\Gamma\curvearrowright M_1$ is not properly proximal.

Conversely, suppose $\Gamma \curvearrowright M_1$ is not properly proximal. Let $\varphi : \mathbb{S}(M_1) \to \mathbb{C}$ be an M_1 -central Γ -invariant state satisfying $\varphi_{|M_1} = \tau$ and $\varphi_{|\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M_1)} = 0$

We consider the u.c.p. map

$$Ad_{e_1}: \mathbb{B}(L^2(M_1 \overline{\otimes} M_2)) \to \mathbb{B}(L^2(M_1))$$

given by $\operatorname{Ad}_{e_1}(T) = e_1 T e_1$ where $e_1 : L^2(M_1 \overline{\otimes} M_2) \to L^2(M_1)$ is the orthogonal projection. By Lemma 2.8.7 $\operatorname{Ad}_{e_1} \operatorname{maps} \mathbb{S}(M_1 \overline{\otimes} M_2)$ into $\mathbb{S}(M_1)$ and $\operatorname{maps} \mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M_1 \overline{\otimes} M_2)$ into $\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M_1)$. We obtain a state $\psi : \mathbb{S}(M_1 \overline{\otimes} M_2) \to \mathbb{C}$ by setting $\psi = \varphi \circ \operatorname{Ad}_{e_1}$.

Note that $\psi_{|M} = \tau \circ E_{M_1} = \tau$. Also note that since Ad_{e_1} is M_1 -bimodular and Γ -equivariant we see that ψ is M_1 -central. If $u \in \mathscr{U}(M_2)$, then we have $e_1uJuJ = e_1$, and since $\varphi_{|\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M_1)} = 0$ it follows that for $T \in \mathbb{S}(M_1 \overline{\otimes} M_2)$ we have

$$\psi(uT) = \varphi(e_1uTe_1) = \varphi(e_1(uJuJ)T(Ju^*J)e_1) = \varphi(e_1T(Ju^*J)e_1)$$
$$= \varphi(e_1T(Ju^*J)(uJuJ)e_1) = \psi(Tu).$$

Hence, M_2 is also in the centralizer of ψ , so that the centralizer of ψ contains the entirety of $M_1 \overline{\otimes} M_2 = W^*(M_1, M_2)$. Since $\psi_{\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M_1 \overline{\otimes} M_2)} = 0$ this then shows that $\Gamma \curvearrowright M_1 \overline{\otimes} M_2$ is not properly proximal.

Remark 2.8.9. Let M be a properly proximal separable Π_1 factor. Then the amplification M^t is also properly proximal for any t > 0. Indeed, it follows from the previous theorem that $M \otimes M \cong M^t \otimes M^{1/t}$ is properly proximal and thus M^t is also properly proximal. Also, if $N \subset M$ is a finite index subfactor in a separable Π_1 factor M, and if N is properly proximal, then so is $\langle M, e_N \rangle$ since it is an amplification of N. Combining with Proposition 2.6.6, we then see that M is properly proximal as well.

Theorem 2.8.10. Let $\Gamma \curvearrowright (X, \mu)$ be a probability measure preserving action, and let $\pi : (X, \mu) \to (Y, \nu)$ be a factor map with (Y, ν) diffuse. If $\Gamma \curvearrowright (X, \mu)$ is properly proximal, then so is $\Gamma \curvearrowright (Y, \nu)$.

Proof. Suppose $\Gamma \curvearrowright (X, \mu)$ is properly proximal. We set $M = L^{\infty}(X, \mu)$ and $M_1 = L^{\infty}(Y, \nu)$, and we view $M_1 \subset M$ via the embedding $\pi^*(f) = f \circ \pi$. If we consider the map $\operatorname{Ad}_{e_1} : \mathbb{B}(L^2M) \to \mathbb{B}(L^2(M_1))$ as in the second half of the proof of Theorem 2.8.8, then we see from the proof of Theorem 2.8.8 that the only property used to show that $\Gamma \curvearrowright M_1$ is properly proximal is that $M = W^*(M_1, M_1' \cap M)$, which obviously holds here since M is abelian.

Proposition 2.8.11. Suppose $\Gamma \curvearrowright^{\alpha} (M, \tau)$ is a trace-preserving action on a finite von Neumann algebra. If $M \rtimes \Gamma$ is properly proximal, then the action $\Gamma \curvearrowright M$ is properly proximal.

Proof. This is also similar to the second half of the proof of Theorem 2.8.8. Suppose $\Gamma \curvearrowright M$ is not properly proximal, and let $\varphi : \mathbb{S}(M) \to \mathbb{C}$ be a Γ -invariant M-central state such that $\varphi_{|M}$ is normal and $\varphi_{|\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M)} = 0$.

Consider the u.c.p. map $\mathrm{Ad}_{e_M}: \mathbb{B}(L^2(M \rtimes \Gamma)) \to \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ given by $\mathrm{Ad}_{e_M}(T) = e_M T e_M$, where $e_M: L^2M\overline{\otimes}\ell^2\Gamma \to L^2M$ is the orthogonal projection. By Lemma 2.8.7 we have $\mathrm{Ad}_{e_M}: \mathbb{S}(M \rtimes \Gamma) \to \mathbb{S}(M)$ and and $\mathrm{Ad}_{e_M}: \mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M \rtimes \Gamma) \to \mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M)$. We then consider the state $\psi = \varphi \circ \mathrm{Ad}_{e_M}$ on $\mathbb{S}(M \rtimes \Gamma)$.

Note that $\psi_{|M} = \varphi \circ E_M$ is normal and ψ is M-central since Ad_{e_M} is M-bimodular. For any $t \in \Gamma$, denote by $u_t \in \mathscr{U}(M \rtimes \Gamma)$ and $\alpha_t^0 \in \mathscr{U}(\mathbb{B}(L^2M))$ the corresponding unitaries. Notice that $e_M u_t J u_t J = u_t J u_t J e_M$ and $u_t J u_t J_{|L^2M} = \alpha_t^0$. Since $\varphi_{|\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M)} = 0$, it follows that for any $T \in \mathbb{S}(M \rtimes \Gamma)$ we have

$$\psi(u_t T) = \varphi(e_M u_t T e_M) = \varphi(e_M (u_t J u_t J) T (J u_t J)^* e_M) = \varphi(\alpha_t^0 e_M T (J u_t J)^* e_M)
= \varphi(e_M T (J u_t J)^* e_M \alpha_t^0) = \varphi(e_M T (J u_t J)^* u_t J u_t J e_M) = \psi(T u_t).$$

Therefore, $M \rtimes \Gamma$ is contained in the centralizer of ψ . Since $\psi_{|\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M \rtimes \Gamma)} = 0$ this then shows that $M \rtimes \Gamma$ is not properly proximal.

We note here that non-strong ergodicity and the existence of weakly compact factors are not the only obstructions for an action proper proximality. For $d \geq 3$ the group $SL_d(\mathbb{Z}) \ltimes (\mathbb{Z}[\frac{1}{p}])^d$ is not properly proximal by [IPR19], and since $SL_d(\mathbb{Z})$ is properly proximal it then follows from Theorem 2.8.12 that the dual action $SL_d(\mathbb{Z}) \curvearrowright \widehat{(\mathbb{Z}[\frac{1}{p}])^d}$ is not properly proximal. However, this action has stable spectral gap (and hence is strongly ergodic and has no weakly compact diffuse factor) since it is a weak mixing action of a property (T) group.

We also mention that proper proximality of $M \rtimes \Gamma$ does not imply that Γ is properly proximal, as $\Lambda \wr \Gamma$ is always properly proximal for nontrivial Λ and nonamenable Γ [DE21].

Theorem 2.8.12. Let $\Gamma \curvearrowright^{\alpha} (M, \tau)$ be a trace-preserving action of a countable group Γ on a separable finite von Neumann algebra M with a normal faithful trace τ . If $\Gamma \curvearrowright (M, \tau)$ and Γ are both properly proximal, then $M \rtimes \Gamma$ is properly proximal.

Proof. This is similar to the first half of the proof of Theorem 2.8.8. We first note that if $\mathscr{Z}(M)^{\Gamma}$ is diffuse, then the result is easy. As above we may then restrict to the case when $\mathscr{Z}(M)^{\Gamma}$ is completely atomic, and then by considering atoms we may restrict to the case when $\Gamma \curvearrowright \mathscr{Z}(M)$ is ergodic.

Suppose then that $\Gamma \curvearrowright \mathscr{Z}(M)$ is ergodic and $M \rtimes \Gamma$ is not properly proximal, then by Lemma 2.8.6 there exists an M-central Γ -invariant state φ on $\tilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)$ such that $\varphi_{|M} = \tau$ and $\varphi_{|(\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M \rtimes \Gamma)^{\sharp}_{*})^{*}} = 0$.

Let $A_i \in c_0(\Gamma) \subset \mathbb{B}(\ell^2\Gamma)$ be an increasing approximate unit that is almost Γ -invariant. Let A denote the weak*-limit of the increasing net $1 \otimes A_i$ when viewed inside of $\left(\mathbb{B}(L^2M \overline{\otimes} \ell^2\Gamma)_J^\sharp\right)^*$, where we identify $L^2(M \rtimes \Gamma)$ with $L^2M \overline{\otimes} \ell^2\Gamma$ by mapping $\widehat{xu_t}$ to $\widehat{x} \otimes \delta_t$ for each $x \in M$ and $t \in \Gamma$. Note that under this identification we have that M is represented as $M \otimes 1$, and if $x \in M$, then JxJ is represented by the operator $\sum_{t \in \Gamma} J_M \alpha_t(x) J_M \otimes P_t$

where P_t denotes the rank-one projection onto $\mathbb{C}\delta_t \subset \ell^2\Gamma$. In particular, we see that M and JMJ both commute with $\mathbb{C}\otimes \ell^\infty\Gamma$.

We then consider the u.c.p. map $\Phi: \mathbb{B}(L^2M) \to \left(\mathbb{B}(L^2M \overline{\otimes} \ell^2\Gamma)_J^{\sharp}\right)^*$ given by $\Phi(T) = A^{1/2}(T \otimes 1)A^{1/2}$. Since $A_i \in c_0(\Gamma)$ it then follows that Φ is both M and JMJ-bimodular. Also since A_i is almost Γ -invariant it follows that Φ is Γ -equivariant, where the action on $\left(\mathbb{B}(L^2M \overline{\otimes} \ell^2\Gamma)_J^{\sharp}\right)^*$ is given by $\mathrm{Ad}(u_t)$. We also have that the range of Φ maps into the subspace of invariant operators under the action of $\mathrm{Ad}(1 \otimes \rho_t)$. Hence, it follows that the restriction of Φ to $\mathbb{S}(M)$ gives a M-bimodular Γ -equivariant u.c.p. map into $\mathbb{S}(M \times \Gamma)$.

If $\varphi(A) \neq 0$, then considering $\varphi \circ \Phi$ we obtain an M-central Γ -invariant positive linear functional on $\mathbb{S}(M)$ that restricts to $\varphi(A)\tau$ on M. Moreover, since $\varphi_{|(\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M \rtimes \Gamma)_J^\sharp)^*} = 0$ we then have that $\varphi \circ \Phi_{|\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}(M)} = 0$, which shows that $\Gamma \curvearrowright M$ is not properly proximal.

Otherwise, if $\varphi(A) = 0$, then we may consider the Γ -equivariant u.c.p. map $\Psi : \ell^{\infty}\Gamma \to \left(\mathbb{B}(L^2M\overline{\otimes}\ell^2\Gamma)_J^{\sharp}\right)^*$ given by $\Psi(f) = 1 \otimes (1 - A_n)^{1/2}M_f(1 - A_n)^{1/2}$. As above, we see that the restriction of Ψ to $\mathbb{S}(\Gamma)$ maps into $\mathbb{S}(M \rtimes \Gamma)$, and then the state $\varphi \circ \Psi$ defines a Γ -invariant state on $\mathbb{S}(\Gamma)$, which shows that Γ is not properly proximal.

2.9 Proper proximality and deformation/rigidity theory

In this section we show how proper proximality for finite von Neumann algebras naturally fits in to the realm of Popa's deformation/rigidity theory (see [Pop07b]). We focus on two main sources of deformations. Malleable deformations in the sense of Popa [Pop06b], and u.c.p. semigroups arising from closable derivations [Sau90, DL92].

2.9.1 Proper proximality via malleable deformations

The following result shows how one can obtain proper proximality via Popa's malleable deformations. Malleable deformations arise in a number of different contexts in the theory of von Neumann algebras. We refer the reader to [dSHHS21], and the references therein, for recent results regarding malleable deformations.

Proposition 2.9.1. Let $\Gamma \curvearrowright M$ be a trace-preserving action on a separable finite von Neumann algebra, that preserves a boundary piece $\mathbb{X} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ and such that $\Gamma \curvearrowright \mathscr{Z}(M)$ is ergodic. Let $\Gamma \curvearrowright \tilde{M}$ be another trace-preserving action on a finite von Neumann algebra and suppose we have a tracial embedding $M \subset \tilde{M}$, such that the action of Γ on \tilde{M} extends the action on M. Suppose $\{\alpha_n\}_{n\geq 1} \subset \operatorname{Aut}(\tilde{M})$ is a sequence of trace-preserving Γ -equivariant automorphisms such that $\|\alpha_n(x) - x\|_2 \to 0$ for all $x \in M$. If $E_M \circ \alpha_n \in \mathbb{K}^L_{\mathbb{X}}(M,L^2M)$ for any $n \geq 1$, and if $\Gamma \curvearrowright M$ is not properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X} , then there exists a Γ -invariant M-central state on $(JMJ)' \cap \mathbb{B}(L^2\tilde{M} \ominus L^2M)$ that restricts to the trace on M, where Γ acts on $\mathbb{B}(L^2\tilde{M} \ominus L^2M)$ by conjugation with the Koopman representation.

Proof. We let V_n denote the isometry from L^2M to $L^2\tilde{M}$ given by $V_n(\hat{x}) = \widehat{\alpha_n(x)}$ for $x \in M$. We also let $\phi_n : \mathbb{B}(L^2\tilde{M}) \to \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ be the Γ -equivariant u.c.p. map given by $\phi_n(T) = V_n^*TV_n$, for $T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2\tilde{M})$.

If $x \in M$, then we have $||xV_n - V_n x||_{\infty,2} = \sup_{a \in (M)_1} ||x\alpha_n(a) - \alpha_n(xa)||_2 \le ||x - \alpha_n(x)||_2$. It therefore follows that for all $x \in M$ and $T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2\tilde{M})$ we have

$$\|\phi_n(Tx) - \phi_n(T)x\|_{\infty,1}, \|\phi_n(xT) - x\phi_n(T)\|_{\infty,1} \le \|T\| \|x - \alpha_n(x)\|_2. \tag{2.17}$$

We similarly have

$$\|\phi_n(TJxJ) - \phi_n(T)JxJ\|_{\infty,1}, \|\phi_n(JxJT) - JxJ\phi_n(T)\|_{\infty,1} \le \|T\| \|x - \alpha_n(x)\|_2. \tag{2.18}$$

We view each ϕ_n as a u.c.p. map into the von Neumann algebra $(\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp})^*$ and let $\phi: \mathbb{B}(L^2\tilde{M}) \to (\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp})^*$ denote a point ultraweak limit point of $\{\phi_n\}_n$. From (2.17) and (2.18) we have that ϕ is bimodular with respect to both M and JMJ. Moreover, since $e_M \circ \alpha_n \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^L(M, L^2M)$ it follows that $\phi_n(e_M) \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(M)$ for each $n \geq 1$ and hence $\phi(e_M) \in (\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_J^{\sharp})^*$.

If $\Gamma \curvearrowright M$ were not properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X} , then by Lemma 2.8.6, there exists a Γ -invariant M-central state φ on $\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ with $\varphi_{|M} = \tau$ and such that φ vanishes on $(\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_J^\sharp)^*$. Since φ is JMJ-bimodular it follows that $\varphi: JMJ' \cap \mathbb{B}(L^2\tilde{M}) \to \widetilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$. Since φ is M-bimodular and Γ -equivariant it follows that $\varphi \circ \varphi$ is M-central and Γ -invariant, and we also see that $\varphi \circ \varphi_{|M} = \tau$. And since φ vanishes on $(\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_J^\sharp)^*$ and $\varphi(e_M) \in (\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_J^\sharp)^*$ it then follows that the state $\varphi \circ \varphi \circ \mathrm{Ad}(e_M^{\perp})$ verifies the conclusion of the proposition. \square

As an application of the previous proposition, we give here examples of properly proximal actions stemming from Gaussian processes associated to an orthogonal representations. See, e.g., [KL16] for some details on Gaussian actions. Let \mathscr{H} be a real Hilbert space, the Gaussian process gives a tracial abelian von Neumann algebra $A_{\mathscr{H}}$, together with an isometry $S: \mathscr{H} \to L^2_{\mathbb{R}}(A_{\mathscr{H}})$ so that orthogonal vectors are sent to independent Gaussian random variables, and so that the spectral projections of vectors in the range of S generate $A_{\mathscr{H}}$ as a von Neumann algebra.

In this case, the complexification of the isometry S extends to a unitary operator from the symmetric Fock space $\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{H})=\mathbb{C}\Omega\oplus\bigoplus_{n=1}^\infty(\mathscr{H}\otimes\mathbb{C})^{\odot n}$ into $L^2(A_{\mathscr{H}})$. If $\mathscr{H}=\mathscr{H}_1\oplus\mathscr{H}_2$, then conjugation by the unitary implementing the canonical isomorphism $\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{H}_1\oplus\mathscr{H}_2)\cong\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{H}_1)\overline{\otimes}\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{H}_2)$ implements a canonical isomorphism $A_{\mathscr{H}_1\oplus\mathscr{H}_2}\cong A_{\mathscr{H}_1}\overline{\otimes}A_{\mathscr{H}_2}$.

If $V: \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{H}$ is an isometry, then we obtain an isometry $V^{\mathfrak{S}}: \mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{K}) \to \mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{H})$ on the level of the symmetric Fock spaces, and conjugation by this isometry gives an embedding of von Neumann algebras $\mathrm{Ad}(V^{\mathfrak{S}}): A_{\mathcal{K}} \to A_{\mathcal{H}}$. If V were a co-isometry the conjugation by $V^{\mathfrak{S}}$ implements instead a conditional

expectation from $A_{\mathscr{H}}$ to $A_{\mathscr{H}}$. In particular, if $U \in \mathscr{O}(\mathscr{H})$ is an orthogonal operator, then we obtain a trace-preserving *-isomorphism $\alpha_U = \operatorname{Ad}(U^{\mathfrak{S}}) \in \operatorname{Aut}(A_{\mathscr{H}})$. If $\pi : \Gamma \to \mathscr{O}(\mathscr{H})$ is an orthogonal representation, then the Gaussian action associated to π is given by $\Gamma \ni t \mapsto \alpha_{\pi(t)} \in \operatorname{Aut}(A_{\mathscr{H}})$. The corresponding Koopman representation is then canonically isomorphic to the symmetric Fock space representation $\pi^{\mathfrak{S}} : \Gamma \to \mathscr{U}(\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{H}))$.

Every contraction $A: \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{H}$ can be written as the composition of an isometry $V: \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{L}$ followed by a co-isometry $W: \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{H}$ so that conjugation by $A^{\mathfrak{S}}: \mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{K}) \to \mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{H})$ implements a u.c.p. map $\phi_A: \mathbb{B}(L^2A_{\mathcal{H}}) \to \mathbb{B}(L^2A_{\mathcal{K}})$, which maps $A_{\mathcal{H}}$ into $A_{\mathcal{K}}$. Note that the association $A \mapsto \phi_A$ is continuous as a map from the space of contractions endowed with the strong operator topology into the space of u.c.p. maps endowed with the topology of point-ultraweak convergence.

If A is self-adjoint this can be realized explicitly by considering the orthogonal matrix on $\mathscr{H} \oplus \mathscr{H}$ given by $\tilde{A} = \begin{pmatrix} A & -\sqrt{1-A^2} \\ \sqrt{1-A^2} & A \end{pmatrix}$, so that $A = V^* \tilde{A} V$, where $V \xi = \xi \oplus 0$, for $\xi \in \mathscr{H}$.

We recall that an orthogonal representation $\pi:\Gamma\to \mathscr{O}(\mathscr{H})$ is amenable in the sense of Bekka [Bek90] if there exists a state φ on $\mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H}\otimes\mathbb{C})$ that is invariant under the action given by conjugation by $\pi(t)$. If π is a nonamenable representation, then neither is $\pi\otimes\rho$ for any representation ρ [Bek90, Corollary 5.4]. In particular, if π is a nonamenable representation, then neither is the restriction of $\pi^{\mathfrak{S}}$ to $\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{H})\oplus\mathbb{C}\Omega\cong\mathscr{H}$ as it is isomorphic to $\pi\otimes\pi^{\mathfrak{S}}$.

Theorem 2.9.2. Let $\pi: \Gamma \to \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{H})$ be a nonamenable representation on a separable real Hilbert space, then the associated Gaussian action $\Gamma \curvearrowright^{\alpha_{\pi}} A_{\mathcal{H}}$ is properly proximal.

Proof. Note that since π is a nonamenable representation we have that $\Gamma \curvearrowright A_{\mathscr{H}}$ is ergodic (see, e.g., [PS12]). Denote by P_k the orthogonal projection from $L^2A_{\mathscr{H}}$ onto $\mathbb{C}\Omega \oplus \bigoplus_{n=1}^k (\mathscr{H} \otimes \mathbb{C})^{\odot n}$ for each $k \geq 1$ and set P_0 to be the projection onto $\mathbb{C}\Omega$. Consider the hereditary C^* -algebra $\mathbb{X}_F \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2A_{\mathscr{H}})$ generated by $\{P_k\}_{k\geq 0}$ in $\mathbb{B}(L^2A_{\mathscr{H}})$, i.e., $T \in \mathbb{X}_F$ if and only if $\lim_{k \to \infty} \|T - TP_k\| = \lim_{k \to \infty} \|T - P_kT\| = 0$.

To see hat \mathbb{X}_F is a boundary piece it suffices to show that the multiplier algebra contains any von Neumann subalgebra of the form $A_{\mathbb{R}\xi}$ where $\xi \in \mathscr{H} \setminus \{0\}$. Considering the canonical isomorphisms $\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{H}) \cong \mathfrak{S}(\mathbb{R}\xi) \otimes \mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{H} \ominus \mathbb{R}\xi)$ and $A_{\mathscr{H}} \cong A_{\mathbb{R}\xi} \otimes A_{\mathscr{H} \ominus \mathbb{R}\xi}$ we may decompose P_k as $P_k = \sum_{j=0}^k Q_j \otimes R_{k-j} \leq Q_k \otimes 1$ where Q_j denotes the projection onto $\mathbb{C}\Omega \oplus \bigoplus_{n=1}^j (\mathbb{R}\xi \otimes \mathbb{C})^{\odot n}$ and R_{k-j} denotes the projection onto $((\mathscr{H} \ominus \mathbb{R}\xi) \otimes \mathbb{C})^{\odot k-j}$.

Since $\{Q_j\}_{j\geq 0}$ gives an increasing family of finite rank projections such that $\forall_j Q_j = \mathrm{id}_{\mathfrak{S}(\mathbb{R}\xi)}$ we see that for each $a \in A_{\mathbb{R}\xi}$, $j \geq 0$, and $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists k > j so that $\|Q_j a Q_{k-j}^{\perp}\| < \varepsilon$. If $i \leq j$ we have $(1 \otimes R_{j-i})P_k^{\perp} = 0$

 $Q_{k-i+i}^{\perp} \otimes R_{j-i}$ and hence

$$||P_j(a \otimes 1)P_k^{\perp}|| = \max_{0 \le i \le j} ||Q_i a Q_{k-j+i}^{\perp}|| \le ||Q_j a Q_{k-j}^{\perp}|| < \varepsilon.$$

From this fact it is then easy to see that $(a \otimes 1) \in M(\mathbb{X}_F)$, and so we indeed have $A_{\mathbb{R}\xi} \subset M(\mathbb{X}_F)$ for each $\xi \in \mathcal{H} \setminus \{0\}$.

For $t \ge 0$ we consider the orthogonal matrix $\begin{pmatrix} \cos(\pi t/2) & -\sin(\pi t/2) \\ \sin(\pi t/2) & \cos(\pi t/2) \end{pmatrix} \in \mathscr{O}(\mathscr{H} \oplus \mathscr{H})$ and let $\alpha_t \in \operatorname{Aut}(A_{\mathscr{H} \oplus \mathscr{H}})$ be the associated automorphism.

Note that α_t commutes with the action of Γ on $A_{\mathscr{H}}$, and that $\lim_{t\to 0}\|x-\alpha_t(x)\|_2=0$ for each $x\in A_{\mathscr{H}}$. We may compute $E\circ\alpha_t$ explicitly as $E\circ\alpha_t=P_0+\sum_{n=1}^\infty\cos^n(\pi t/2)(P_n-P_{n-1})$, so that $E\circ\alpha_t\in\mathbb{X}_F$ for each 0< t<1. Using the isomorphism $L^2(A_{\mathscr{H}\oplus\mathscr{H}})\cong L^2(A_{\mathscr{H}})\overline{\otimes}L^2(A_{\mathscr{H}})\cong \mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{H})\overline{\otimes}\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{H})$ we obtain an isomorphism of $A_{\mathscr{H}}$ -modules $L^2(A_{\mathscr{H}\oplus\mathscr{H}})\ominus L^2(A_{\mathscr{H}\oplus 0})\cong L^2(A_{\mathscr{H}\oplus 0})\overline{\otimes}(\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{H})\ominus\mathbb{C}\Omega)$. So that we have an isomorphism

$$A'_{\mathscr{H}} \cap \mathbb{B}(L^2(A_{\mathscr{H} \oplus \mathscr{H}}) \ominus L^2(A_{\mathscr{H} \oplus 0})) \cong A_{\mathscr{H}} \overline{\otimes} \mathbb{B}(\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{H}) \ominus \mathbb{C}\Omega),$$

where Γ acts on the latter space by $\alpha_{\pi(t)} \otimes \operatorname{Ad}(\pi(t)^{\mathfrak{S}})$. If we had a Γ -invariant state on $A_{\mathscr{H}} \overline{\otimes} \mathbb{B}(\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{H}) \ominus \mathbb{C}\Omega)$, then restricting it to $\mathbb{B}(\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{H}) \ominus \mathbb{C}\Omega)$ would show that the restriction of the representation $\pi^{\mathfrak{S}}$ to $\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{H}) \ominus \mathbb{C}\Omega$ is amenable, which would then imply that π is an amenable representation, giving a contradiction. Thus, we conclude that there is no Γ -invariant state on $A_{\mathscr{H}} \overline{\otimes} \mathbb{B}(\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{H}) \ominus \mathbb{C}\Omega)$ and it then follows from Proposition 2.9.1 that $\Gamma \curvearrowright A_{\mathscr{H}}$ is properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X}_F .

We now take a Γ -almost invariant approximate identity $A_n \in \mathbb{K}(\mathscr{H})$ with $\|A_n\| < 1$ for each $n \geq 0$, and let $\alpha_{\tilde{A}_n}$ be the automorphisms of $A_{\mathscr{H} \oplus \mathscr{H}}$ as given above. As in the proof of Proposition 2.9.1 we let $V_n: L^2(A_{\mathscr{H}}) \to L^2(A_{\mathscr{H} \oplus \mathscr{H}})$ be given by $V_n(\hat{x}) = \widehat{\alpha_{\tilde{A}_n}(x)}$, for $x \in A_{\mathscr{H}}$. We also denote by $\phi_n: \mathbb{B}(L^2(A_{\mathscr{H} \oplus \mathscr{H}})) \to \mathbb{B}(L^2(A_{\mathscr{H}}))$ the u.c.p. map $\phi_n(T) = V_n^* T V_n$, for $T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2(A_{\mathscr{H} \oplus \mathscr{H}}))$.

We view each ϕ_n as a u.c.p. map into the von Neumann algebra $(\mathbb{X}_F_J^{\sharp})^*$, which we view as a corner of $(\mathbb{B}(L^2(A_{\mathscr{H}}))_J^{\sharp})^*$. We then let $\phi: \mathbb{B}(L^2(A_{\mathscr{H}\oplus\mathscr{H}})) \to (\mathbb{X}_F_J^{\sharp})^*$ be a point ultraweak cluster point of these maps. Since $A_n \to 1$ in the strong operator topology it follows that $\|\alpha_{\tilde{A}_n}(x) - x\|_2 \to 0$ for each $x \in A_{\mathscr{H}\oplus\mathscr{H}}$. Also, since each A_n is compact, and since $\|A_n\| < 1$, it follows that $A_n^{\mathfrak{S}} \in \mathbb{K}(\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{H}))$ and the same computation as above then shows that $E_{A_{\mathscr{H}\oplus\emptyset}} \circ \alpha_{\tilde{A}_n} \in \mathbb{K}(L^2M)$. The proof of Proposition 2.9.1 then shows that ϕ is $A_{\mathscr{H}}$ -bimodular and satisfies $\phi(e_{A_{\mathscr{H}\oplus\emptyset}}) \in (\mathbb{K}(M)_J^{\sharp})^*$.

If we take $t \in \Gamma$, then as $\|\pi(t)A_n\pi(t^{-1}) - A_n\| \to 0$ we have that $\lim_{n \to \infty} \|(\alpha_{\pi(t) \oplus \pi(t)}V_n - V_n\alpha_{\pi(t)})P_k\| = 0$

for each $k \ge 1$, and hence for each $T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2(A_{\mathcal{H} \oplus \mathcal{H}}))$ we have

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \|P_k(\alpha_{\pi(t)}\phi_n(T)\alpha_{\pi(t^{-1})} - \phi_n(\alpha_{\pi(t)\oplus\pi(t)}T\alpha_{\pi(t^{-1})\oplus\pi(t^{-1})}))P_k\| = 0.$$

Since $\{P_k\}_k$ gives an approximate identity for \mathbb{X}_F it then follows by passing to a limit that ϕ is Γ -equivariant.

Suppose now that $\Gamma \curvearrowright A_{\mathscr{H}}$ is not properly proximal, then by Lemma 2.8.5 there exists an $A_{\mathscr{H}}$ -central and Γ -invariant state φ on $\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)$. We may further assume it vanishes on $((\mathbb{K}_{A_{\mathscr{H}}}^{\infty,1})^{\sharp})^*$. As $\Gamma \curvearrowright A_{\mathscr{H}}$ is properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X}_F we must then have that φ is supported on $((\mathbb{X}_F)_J^{\sharp})^*$, but then by considering the composition of φ with the restriction of φ to $A'_{\mathscr{H}} \cap \mathbb{B}(L^2(A_{\mathscr{H} \oplus \mathscr{H}}) \ominus L^2(A_{\mathscr{H} \oplus 0}))$ we obtain a Γ -invariant state on this space, which would give a contradiction, as noted above.

Proof of Theorem 2.1.2. From the proof of Theorems 2.9.1 and 2.9.2 we show, in fact, that if $\pi: \Gamma \to \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{H})$ is an orthogonal representation, then there are $A_{\mathcal{H}}$ -bimodular Γ -equivariant maps $\psi: A_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes \mathbb{B}(\mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{H}) \ominus \mathbb{C}\Omega) \to \tilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}_F}(A_{\mathcal{H}})$ and $\phi: A_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes \mathbb{B}(\mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{H}) \ominus \mathbb{C}\Omega) \to ((\mathbb{X}_F)_J^{\sharp})^* \cap \tilde{\mathbb{S}}(A_{\mathcal{H}})$. If \mathscr{R} is a subequivalence relation of the orbit equivalence relation associated to the action $\Gamma \cap A_{\mathcal{H}}$, then just as above, if the action $\mathcal{N}_{L\mathscr{R}}(A_{\mathcal{H}}) \cap A_{\mathcal{H}}$ is not properly proximal, then we would obtain a $\mathcal{N}_{L\mathscr{R}}(A_{\mathcal{H}})$ -invariant state φ on $A_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes \mathbb{B}(\mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{H}) \ominus \mathbb{C}\Omega)$ such that $\varphi_{|A_{\mathcal{H}}}$ is normal with support $p \in A_{\mathcal{H}}^{\Gamma}$. Under the isomorphism $\mathcal{N}_{L\mathscr{R}}(A_{\mathcal{H}})/\mathscr{U}(A_{\mathcal{H}}) \cong [\mathscr{R}]$, where $[\mathscr{R}]$ denotes the full group of the equivalence relation we then see that φ is $[\mathscr{R}]$ -invariant for the natural action of $[\mathscr{R}]$ on $A_{\mathcal{H}} \otimes \mathbb{B}(\mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{H}) \ominus \mathbb{C}\Omega)$.

By a standard argument using Day's trick (e.g., as in [Bek90]) this would then give a net of vectors $\xi_i \in L^2(A_{\mathscr{H}}) \overline{\otimes} HS(\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{H}) \ominus \mathbb{C}\Omega)$ such that $\langle a\xi_i, \xi_i \rangle = \frac{1}{\tau(p)} \tau(ap)$ for $a \in A_{\mathscr{H}}$ and such that $\{\xi_i\}_i$ is asymptotically $[\mathscr{R}]$ -invariant. If $\pi \prec \lambda$, then this, in turn, gives an asymptotically $[\mathscr{R}]$ -invariant net of vectors in $L^2(A_{\mathscr{H}}) \overline{\otimes} \ell^2 \Gamma$, which would show that \mathscr{R}_p is an amenable equivalence relation [ADR00, Theorem 6.1.4]. A simple maximality argument then gives the result.

More generally, if some tensor power $\pi^{\otimes k}$ satisfies $\pi^{\otimes k} \prec \lambda$, then by considering self-tensor powers of the net $\{\xi_i\}_i$ it would again follow that \mathscr{R}_p is an amenable equivalence relation.

2.9.2 Proper proximality via closable derivations

Let M be a tracial von Neumann algebra and \mathscr{H} an M-M correspondence that has a real structure, i.e., there exists an antilinear isometry $\mathscr{J}:\mathscr{H}\to\mathscr{H}$ such that $\mathscr{J}(x\xi y)=y^*\mathscr{J}(\xi)x^*$ for all $x,y\in M$, $\xi\in\mathscr{H}$. A closable real derivation is an unbounded closable linear map $\delta:L^2M\to\mathscr{H}$, such that the domain $D(\delta)$ is an ultraweakly dense unital *-subalgebra of $M\subset L^2M$, and such that δ preserves the real structure $(\delta(x^*)=$

 $\mathcal{J}(\delta(x))$ for $x \in D(\delta)$) and satisfies Leibniz's formula

$$\delta(xy) = x\delta(y) + \delta(x)y$$
 $x, y \in D(\delta)$.

A result of Davies and Lindsay in [DL92] shows that $D(\overline{\delta}) \cap M$ is then again a *-subalgebra and $\overline{\delta}_{|D(\overline{\delta}) \cap M}$ again gives a closable real derivation. We recycle the following notation from [Pet09b, OP10b]

$$\Delta = \delta^* \overline{\delta}, \quad \zeta_{lpha} = \left(rac{lpha}{lpha + \Delta}
ight)^{1/2}, \quad ilde{\delta}_{lpha} = rac{1}{\sqrt{lpha}} \overline{\delta} \circ \zeta_{lpha}, \quad ilde{\Delta}_{lpha} = rac{1}{\sqrt{lpha}} \Delta^{1/2} \circ \zeta_{lpha}, \quad heta_{lpha} = 1 - ilde{\Delta}_{lpha}.$$

We note that from [Sau90, Sau99] (cf. [Pet09b]) we have that ζ_{α} and θ_{α} are τ -symmetric u.c.p. maps.

For $x, y \in D(\overline{\delta}) \cap M$ we set

$$\Gamma(x^*, y) = \Delta^{1/2}(x^*)y + x^*\Delta^{1/2}(y) - \Delta^{1/2}(x^*y),$$

and recall from [OP10b, p. 850] that we have

$$\|\Gamma(x^*, y)\|_2 \le 4\|x\|^{1/2} \|\delta(x)\|^{1/2} \|y\|^{1/2} \|\delta(y)\|^{1/2}. \tag{2.19}$$

We also recall [OP10b, Lemma 4.1] (cf. [Pet09b, Lemma 3.3]) that for $x, a \in M$ we have the following approximate bimodularity property

$$\|\zeta_{\alpha}(x)\tilde{\delta}_{\alpha}(a) - \tilde{\delta}_{\alpha}(xa)\| \le 10\|a\|\|x\|^{1/2}\|\tilde{\delta}_{\alpha}(x)\|^{1/2},$$
 (2.20)

and

$$\|\tilde{\delta}_{\alpha}(a)\zeta_{\alpha}(x) - \tilde{\delta}_{\alpha}(ax)\| \le 10\|a\|\|x\|^{1/2}\|\tilde{\delta}_{\alpha}(x)\|^{1/2}.$$
 (2.21)

If $x \in M$ is contained in the domain $D(\overline{\delta}) \cap M$, then we have the following estimate, allowing us to replace the term $\zeta_{\alpha}(x)$ from (2.20) and (2.21) with x.

Lemma 2.9.3. For $x \in M \cap D(\overline{\delta})$, $a \in M$, and $\alpha > 1$ we have

$$||x\tilde{\delta}_{\alpha}(a) - \tilde{\delta}_{\alpha}(xa)|| \le \alpha^{-1/4} (2||\delta(x)||^{1/2} + 6||x||^{1/2})||\delta(x)||^{1/2}||a||.$$

and

$$\|\tilde{\delta}_{\alpha}(a)x - \tilde{\delta}_{\alpha}(ax)\| \le \alpha^{-1/4} (2\|\delta(x)\|^{1/2} + 6\|x\|^{1/2}) \|\delta(x)\|^{1/2} \|a\|.$$

Proof. We follow the strategy from [Pet09b] and [OP10b]. We have

$$x\tilde{\delta}_{\alpha}(a) = \alpha^{-1/2}\delta(x\zeta_{\alpha}(a)) - \alpha^{-1/2}\delta(x)\zeta_{\alpha}(a) =: A_1 - A_2.$$

Note that $||A_2|| \le \alpha^{-1/2} ||\delta(x)|| ||a||$. Let $\delta = V\Delta^{1/2}$ be the polar decomposition. Then, one has

$$V^*A_1 = x\tilde{\Delta}_{\alpha}(a) + \alpha^{-1/2}\Delta^{1/2}(x)\zeta_{\alpha}(a) - \alpha^{1/2}\Gamma(x,\zeta_{\alpha}(a))$$
$$=: B_1 + B_2 - B_3.$$

We have $\|B_2\|_2 \le \alpha^{-1/2} \|\delta(x)\| \|a\|$, and by (2.19) we have $\|B_3\|_2 \le 4\alpha^{-1/4} \|a\| \|x\|^{1/2} \|\delta(x)\|^{1/2}$. We have $B_1 - \tilde{\Delta}_{\alpha}(xa) = x\theta_{\alpha}(a) - \theta_{\alpha}(xa)$, and since θ_{α} is a τ -symmetric u.c.p. map, we may use the Stinespring representation $\theta_{\alpha}(y) = W^*\pi(y)W$ to estimate

$$\begin{aligned} \|x\theta_{\alpha}(a) - \theta_{\alpha}(xa)\|_{2}^{2} &= \|\theta_{\alpha}(a^{*}x^{*}) - \theta_{\alpha}(a^{*})x^{*}\|_{2}^{2} \\ &= \|W^{*}\pi(a^{*})(\pi(x^{*})W - W\pi(x^{*}))\hat{1}\|_{2}^{2} \\ &\leq \|a\|^{2}\|(\pi(x^{*})W - W\pi(x^{*}))\hat{1}\|_{2}^{2} \\ &= 2\|a\|^{2}\tau((x - \theta_{\alpha}(x))x^{*}) \\ &\leq 2\|a\|^{2}\|x\|\|x - \theta_{\alpha}(x)\|_{2} \\ &= 2\|a\|^{2}\|x\|\|\tilde{\delta}_{\alpha}(x)\| \leq 2\alpha^{-1/2}\|a\|^{2}\|x\|\|\delta(x)\|. \end{aligned}$$

Combining these estimates gives the first part of the lemma, and the second part follows since δ is a real derivation.

We now show that the argument in Proposition 2.9.1 above can be adapted to deformations associated to closable derivations.

Proposition 2.9.4. Let M be a finite factor, \mathscr{H} an M-M correspondence with a real structure, and δ : $L^2M \to \mathscr{H}$ a closable real derivation. Let A denote the C^* -algebra generated by $D(\overline{\delta}) \cap M$ and suppose that $(M^{\operatorname{op}})' \cap \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})$ has no A-central state ψ such that $\psi_{|A} = \tau$. If $\mathbb{X} \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ is a boundary piece and $\zeta_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{K}^L_{\mathbb{X}}(M, L^2M)$ for each $\alpha > 0$, then M is properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X} .

Proof. For $\alpha > 0$ let $V_{\alpha} : L^2M \to L^2M \oplus \mathscr{H}$ denote the map given by $V_{\alpha}(\hat{x}) = \zeta_{\alpha}(x) \oplus \tilde{\delta}_{\alpha}(x)$. For $x \in M$ we compute

$$\|V_{\alpha}(\hat{x})\|^2 = \tau(\rho_{\alpha}(x)x^*) + \frac{1}{\alpha}\tau(\Delta \circ \rho_{\alpha}(x)x^*) = \|x\|_2^2,$$

where $\rho_{\alpha} = \frac{\alpha}{\alpha + \Delta}$. Hence V_{α} is an isometry. By Lemmas 3.5 in [OP10b] and from (2.20) above we have

$$||V_{\alpha}x - \zeta_{\alpha}(x)V_{\alpha}||_{\infty,2}^{2} = \sup_{\|a\| \le 1} ||\zeta_{\alpha}(xa) - \zeta_{\alpha}(x)\zeta_{\alpha}(a)||_{2}^{2} + ||\tilde{\delta}_{\alpha}(xa) - \zeta_{\alpha}(x)\tilde{\delta}_{\alpha}(a)||^{2}$$

$$\leq 4||x|| ||x - \zeta_{\alpha}(x)||_{2} + 100||a|| ||\tilde{\delta}_{\alpha}(x)||$$

$$\leq 104||x|| ||\tilde{\delta}_{\alpha}(x)||,$$
(2.22)

where the last inequality follows from the fact that $1 - \sqrt{t} \le \sqrt{1 - t}$ for $0 \le t \le 1$ as in [OP10b, p. 850]. It similarly follows that

$$\|V_{\alpha}JxJ - (J \oplus \mathscr{J})\zeta_{\alpha}(x)(J \oplus \mathscr{J})V_{\alpha}\|_{\infty,2}^{2} \le 104\|x\|\|\tilde{\delta}_{\alpha}(x)\|. \tag{2.23}$$

Moreover, if $x \in D(\overline{\delta}) \cap M$, then we may use instead Lemma 2.9.3 to conclude that for $\alpha \ge 1$ we have

$$||V_{\alpha}x - xV_{\alpha}||_{\infty,2} \le \alpha^{-1/4} (2||\delta(x)||^{1/2} + 8||x||^{1/2}) ||\delta(x)||^{1/2}. \tag{2.24}$$

As in the proof of Proposition 2.9.1 we define u.c.p. maps $\phi_{\alpha}: \mathbb{B}(L^2M \oplus \mathscr{H}) \to \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ by $\phi_{\alpha}(T) = V_{\alpha}^*TV_{\alpha}$, and we let $\phi: \mathbb{B}(L^2M \oplus \mathscr{H}) \to (\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp})^*$ be a point ultraweak limit point of $\{\phi_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha}$. If we denote by e the orthogonal projection from $L^2M \oplus \mathscr{H}$ down to L^2M , then by hypothesis we have $eV_{\alpha} = \zeta_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^L(M, L^2M)$ and hence $\phi(e) \in ((\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(M))_J^{\sharp})^*$.

If M is not properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X} , then by Lemma 2.8.6, there exists an M-central state φ on $\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ with $\varphi_{|M} = \tau$ is normal and such that φ vanishes on $((\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(M))_{J}^{\sharp})^{*}$.

For $T \in (M^{\operatorname{op}})' \cap \mathbb{B}(L^2M \oplus \mathscr{H})$ and $x \in M$ we have that $[\phi(T), JxJ]$ is an ultraweak limit point of $[\phi_{\alpha}(T), JxJ]$ and from (2.23) we see that this is an ultraweak limit point of $\phi_{\alpha}([T, (J \oplus \mathscr{J})\zeta_{\alpha}(x)(J \oplus \mathscr{J})]) = 0$. Therefore we see that ϕ maps into $\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}(M) \subset \widetilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$. Also, by (2.24) we see that ϕ is bimodular for the C^* -closure A of $D(\overline{\delta}) \cap M$. Thus, $\phi \circ \phi \circ \operatorname{Ad}(e^{\perp})$ gives an A-central state on $(M^{\operatorname{op}})' \cap \mathbb{B}(L^2M \oplus \mathscr{H})$.

We remark that since ζ_{α} is positive as an operator on L^2M we have that $\zeta_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^L(M, L^2M)$ if and only if $\zeta_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$, and this is if and only if $\frac{\alpha}{\alpha + \Delta} \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$.

The details of the following example for which the previous proposition applies can be found in [Pet09a] (cf. also [CP13]). Suppose Γ is a group, $\pi:\Gamma\to\mathscr{O}(\mathscr{K})$ is an orthogonal representation, and $c:\Gamma\to\mathscr{K}$ is a 1-cocycle. Then $\mathscr{K}\overline{\otimes}\ell^2\Gamma$ is naturally an $L\Gamma$ -correspondence and we obtain a closable real derivation $\delta:\mathbb{C}\Gamma\to\mathscr{K}\overline{\otimes}\ell^2\Gamma$ by setting $\delta(u_t)=c(t)\otimes\delta_t$ for $t\in\Gamma$. It is then not hard to see that $(L\Gamma^{\mathrm{op}})'\cap\mathbb{B}(\mathscr{K}\overline{\otimes}\ell^2\Gamma)=\mathbb{B}(\mathscr{K})\overline{\otimes}L\Gamma$ has a $C^*_{\lambda}\Gamma$ -central state if and only if π is an amenable representation in the sense of Bekka. This then gives another way to show proper proximality for group von Neumann algebras associated with groups

that have property (HH) from [OP10b].

The following lemma will allow us to apply Proposition 2.9.4 when the M-M correspondence \mathcal{H} is weakly contained in the coarse correspondence.

Lemma 2.9.5. Let M be a finite factor, \mathscr{H} an M-M correspondence with a real structure that is weakly contained in the coarse correspondence and suppose $\delta: L^2M \to \mathscr{H}$ is a closable real derivation with $A = D(\overline{\delta}) \cap M$. If $(M^{op})' \cap \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})$ has an A-central state ψ such that $\psi_{|A} = \tau$, then M is amenable.

Proof. As *M-M* correspondences we have $L^2((M^{\operatorname{op}})' \cap \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})) \cong \mathcal{H} \overline{\otimes}_M \overline{\mathcal{H}}$ [Sau83, Proposition 3.1] and so if there existed an *A*-central state on $(M^{\operatorname{op}})' \cap \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H})$ that restricts to the trace on *A*, then by Day's trick [Con76b] there would exist a net of unit vectors $\{\xi_i\}_i \subset \mathcal{H} \overline{\otimes}_M \overline{\mathcal{H}}$ such that $\|[a,\xi_i]\| \to 0$ and $\langle a\xi_i,\xi_i \rangle \to \tau(a)$ for each $a \in A$.

If $a_1, \ldots, a_n \in A$, and $b_1, \ldots, b_n \in A$, we then have

$$\| \sum_{k=1}^{n} a_{k} b_{k}^{*} \|_{2} = \lim_{i \to \infty} \| (\sum_{k=1}^{n} a_{k} b_{k}^{*}) \xi_{i} \|$$

$$= \lim_{i \to \infty} \| \sum_{k=1}^{n} a_{k} \xi_{i} b_{k}^{*} \|$$

$$\leq \| \sum_{k=1}^{n} a_{k} \otimes J b_{k} J \|_{\mathbb{B}(L^{2}M \overline{\otimes} L^{2}M)}$$

$$\to \| \sum_{k=1}^{n} a_{k} \otimes J b_{k} J \|_{\mathbb{B}(L^{2}M \overline{\otimes} L^{2}M)}$$

where the inequality follows since $\mathcal{H} \overline{\otimes}_M \overline{\mathcal{H}}$ is weakly contained in the coarse correspondence.

If we now take unitaries $u_1, \ldots, u_n \in M$, then for $\alpha > 0$ we have $\zeta_{\alpha}(u_1), \ldots, \zeta_{\alpha}(u_n) \in D(\overline{\delta}) \cap M$ and hence

$$\begin{split} \|\sum_{k=1}^{n} \zeta_{\alpha}(u_{k})\zeta_{\alpha}(u_{k}^{*})\|_{2} &\leq \|\sum_{k=1}^{n} \zeta_{\alpha}(u_{k}) \otimes J\zeta_{\alpha}(u_{k})J\|_{\mathbb{B}(L^{2}M \overline{\otimes} L^{2}M)} \\ &\leq \|\sum_{k=1}^{n} u_{k} \otimes Ju_{k}J\|_{\mathbb{B}(L^{2}M \overline{\otimes} L^{2}M)}. \end{split}$$

Since $\zeta_{\alpha}(x) \to x$ strongly as $\alpha \to \infty$, we then conclude that

$$n = \lim_{\alpha \to \infty} \| \sum_{k=1}^n \zeta_{\alpha}(u_k) \zeta_{\alpha}(u_k^*) \|_2 \le \| \sum_{k=1}^n u_k \otimes J u_k J \|_{\mathbb{B}(L^2 M \overline{\otimes} L^2 M)},$$

and hence M is amenable by [Con76a].

We refer to [Cas21], and the references therein, for background and our notation for free orthogonal quantum groups.

Corollary 2.9.6. If $N \ge 3$, then the von Neumann algebra $L_{\infty}(O_N^+)$ associated to the free orthogonal quantum group O_N^+ is properly proximal.

Proof. By [Cas21, Section 7.1] (cf. [FV15]) there exists a $L_{\infty}(O_N^+)$ - $L_{\infty}(O_N^+)$ correspondence $\mathscr H$ with a real structure that is weakly contained in the coarse corrspondence, and a closable real derivation $\delta: L_{\infty}(O_N^+) \to \mathscr H$ so that $\frac{\alpha}{\alpha+\delta^*\bar\delta}$ is compact as an L^2 -operator for each $\alpha>0$. The result then follows from Lemma 2.9.5 and Proposition 2.9.4.

CHAPTER 3

Proper proximality and first ℓ^2 -Betti numbers

3.1 Introduction

The group measure space construction associates to every probability measure preserving (p.m.p.) action $\Gamma \curvearrowright (X, \mu)$ of a countable group Γ , a finite von Neumann algebra $M = L^{\infty}(X) \rtimes \Gamma$ [MvN36]. If the action is free and ergodic, then M is a Π_1 factor and $L^{\infty}(X)$ is a Cartan subalgebra. During the last two decades, Popa's deformation/rigidity theory has led to spectacular progress in the classification and structural results of Π_1 factors (see surveys [Pop07b, Vae10, Ioa18]). In particular, several large families of group measure space Π_1 factors $L^{\infty}(X) \rtimes \Gamma$ have been shown to have a unique Cartan subalgebra, up to unitary conjugacy [OP10a, OP10b, CS13, CSU13, PV14a, PV14b, BIP21]. Such unique Cartan subalgebra results play a crucial role in the classification of group measure space Π_1 factors, as they allow one to reduce the classification of the factors $L^{\infty}(X) \rtimes \Gamma$, up to isomorphism, to the classification of the corresponding actions $\Gamma \curvearrowright X$, up to orbit equivalence [Sin55, FM77].

Partially motivated by this question, Boutonnet, Ioana and Peterson introduce the the notion of properly proximal groups in [BIP21], and they show that, among other results, $L^{\infty}(X) \rtimes \Gamma$ has a unique weakly compact Cartan subalgebra, up to unitary conjugacy, provided Γ is properly proximal and $\Gamma \curvearrowright X$ is a free ergodic p.m.p action. Properly proximal groups form a robust family, which includes lattices in noncompact semisimple Lie groups, nonamenable biexact groups, nonelementary convergence groups [BIP21], CAT(0) cubical groups, nonelementary mapping class groups [HHL20], wreath products $\Lambda \wr \Gamma$ with Λ nontrivial and Γ nonamenable [DKE22], and is stable under measure equivalence and W*-equivalence [IPR19], while as shown in [IPR19], inner amenability is not the only obstruction to proper proximality. Notably, [BIP21] demonstrates the first W*-strong rigidity result for $SL_n(\mathbb{Z})$ with $n \geq 3$.

Another class of groups whose associated Π_1 factors have been extensively studied is the class of groups with positive first ℓ^2 -Betti numbers [Pet09b, PS12, Ioa12a, Ioa12b, CP13, CS13, Vae13]. For a nonamenable countable group Γ , having positive first ℓ^2 -Betti number, $\beta_1^{(2)}(\Gamma) > 0$, is equivalent to the existence of unbounded cocycle into its left regular representation. Popa and Vaes conjecture that $L^{\infty}(X) \rtimes \Gamma$ has a unique Cartan subalgebra, up to unitary conjugacy, for any free ergodic p.m.p. action $\Gamma \curvearrowright X$ given $\beta_1^{(2)}(\Gamma) > 0$ (see also [Ioa18, Probelm I]). In their breakthrough work [PV14a], Popa and Vaes verify this conjecture if Γ is, in addition, weakly amenable.

In this paper, we establish the connection between first ℓ^2 -Betti numbers and proper proximality, under a

mild technical assumption.

Theorem 3.1.1. Let Γ be a countable exact group. If $\beta_1^{(2)}(\Gamma) > 0$, then Γ is properly proximal.

One concrete class of groups that satisfy the assumption of Theorem 3.1.1 is the class of one relator groups with at least 3 generators [Gue02, DL07], which was not known to be properly proximal before.

Since weak amenability implies exactness (see e.g. [Kir95, Proposition 2] and [Oza07]), Theorem 3.1.1 together with [BIP21, Theorem 1.5] implies that for a weakly amenable group Γ with $\beta_1^{(2)}(\Gamma) > 0$, $L\Gamma$ has no Cartan subalgebras and $L^{\infty}(X) \rtimes \Gamma$ has a unique Cartan subalgebra, up unitary conjugacy, for any action free ergodic p.m.p. $\Gamma \curvearrowright (X,\mu)$, which recovers the result in [PV14a] concerning groups with positive first ℓ^2 -Betti numbers. Although it should be noted that [BIP21, Theorem 1.5] follows the same general strategy as laid out in [PV14a].

Our approach to Theorem 3.1.1 is rather indirect. In fact, we first obtain the following cocycle superrigidity result for non-properly proximal groups, from which Theorem 3.1.1 follows in combination with [PS12, Corollary 1.2].

Theorem 3.1.2. Let Γ be a countable group, (X_0, μ_0) be a diffuse standard probability space and $\Gamma \curvearrowright (X_0^{\Gamma}, \mu_0^{\Gamma}) =$: (X, μ) be the Bernoulli action. If Γ is exact and contains a nonamenable non-properly proximal wq-normal subgroup, then $\Gamma \curvearrowright (X, \mu)$ is $\{\mathbb{T}\}$ -cocycle superrigid, i.e., any 1-cocycle $w : \Gamma \times X \to \mathbb{T}$ is cohomologus to a homomorphism.

Another theme that we explore is the rigidity of Bernoulli shifts of non-properly proximal group. Much of the work is heavily inspired by Popa's pioneering work on Bernoulli shifts of rigid groups [Pop06c, Pop06d, Pop07a].

Theorem 3.1.3. Let Γ be a countable group with infinite conjugacy classes (i.c.c.), (X_0, μ_0) be a diffuse standard probability space and $\Gamma \curvearrowright (X_0^\Gamma, \mu_0^\Gamma) =: (X, \mu)$ be the Bernoulli action. Let Λ be a countable group and $\Lambda \curvearrowright (Y, v)$ a free ergodic p.m.p. action such that $L^\infty(Y) \rtimes \Lambda \cong (L^\infty(X) \rtimes \Gamma)^t$ for some $0 < t \le 1$. If Λ is exact and contains a nonamenable, non-properly proximal normal subgroup, then t = 1 and $\Gamma \curvearrowright X$ and $\Lambda \curvearrowright Y$ are conjugate.

In particular, it follows that the fundamental group of $L^{\infty}(X) \rtimes \Gamma$ is trivial if Γ is a countable, nonamenable, i.c.c., exact and non-properly proximal group and $\Gamma \curvearrowright X$ is the Bernoulli action. Furthermore, since proper proximality and exactness are stable under measure equivalence [IPR19, Oza07], Theorem 3.1.3 also implies the following OE-superrigidity result.

Theorem 3.1.4. Let Γ be a countable nonamenable i.c.c. group (X_0, μ_0) be a diffuse standard probability space and $\Gamma \curvearrowright (X_0^{\Gamma}, \mu_0^{\Gamma}) =: (X, \mu)$ be the Bernoulli action. If Γ is exact and non-properly proximal, then

 $\Gamma \curvearrowright X$ is OE-superrigid, i.e., if a free ergodic p.m.p. action $\Lambda \curvearrowright (Y, v)$ is orbit equivalent to $\Gamma \curvearrowright (X, \mu)$, then these two actions are conjugate.

As a consequence, every countable nonamenable i.c.c. exact group has at least one desirable rigidity property, depending on whether or not it is properly proximal: either every group measure space II₁ factor has at most one weakly compact Cartan subalgebra, or else Bernoulli shifts are OE-superrigid.

All the above theorems are derived from the following von Neumann algebraic statement.

Theorem 3.1.5. Let Γ be a countable group, (X_0, μ_0) be a diffuse standard probability space and $\Gamma \curvearrowright (X_0^\Gamma, \mu_0^\Gamma) =$: (X, μ) be the Bernoulli action. Suppose Γ is exact and $N \subset M := L^\infty(X) \rtimes \Gamma$ is a von Neumann subalgebra that has no amenable and no properly proximal direct summand. Then there exists a s-malleable deformation $\{\alpha_t\}_{t\in\mathbb{R}}$ on M such that $\alpha_t \to \mathrm{id}_N$ uniformly on the unit ball of N, as $t \to 0$.

Here, the s-malleable deformation is in the sense of Popa [Pop06a, Pop06c] and this specific deformation is the one associated with Gaussian actions [Fur07] (see Section 3.4 for details). Proper proximality is for von Neumann algebras, in the sense of [DKEP22]. We note that Theorem 3.1.2 follows from Theorem 3.1.5 together with Popa's seminal work on cocycle superrigidity [Pop07a, Pop08], and Theorem 3.1.3 is a combination of Theorem 3.1.5 and with Popa's conjugacy criterion for Bernoulli actions [Pop06d]. Exactness of groups is crucial to our proof as we exploit the fact that $\mathbb{Z} \wr \Gamma$ is biexact relative to Γ , provided Γ is exact.

Let us finish with some comparisons between our results and some existing results on inner-amenable groups. The family of exact, non-properly proximal groups is strictly larger than the family of exact, inner-amenable groups, due to [IPR19], [DTDW20] and [GHW05], as well as the permanence properties of exactness of groups (see e.g. [BO08, Section 5.1]). Moreover, exactness and proper proximality are both stable under measure equivalence and W*-equivalence [Oza07, IPR19], while inner-amenability is not preserved under measure equivalence [DTDW20] and is not known to be stable under W*-equivalence. Therefore, Theorem 3.1.2 can be seen as a generalization of [TD20, Theorem 11] in the case of T-valued cocycles associated with Bernoulli shifts of exact groups. And under the mild assumption on exactness, Theorem 3.1.1 generalizes [Dri22, Corollary F] and Theorem 3.1.5 extends [Dri22, Theorem E] in the case of wreath products.

Comments on the proofs. Let us outline the proof of Theorem 3.1.5, which uses the recently developed notion of proper proximality in [BIP21, IPR19, DKEP22] and Popa's deformation/rigidity theory. The proof is divided into three steps. First we observe in Proposition 3.2.3 that for any von Neumann subalgebra N in $L(\mathbb{Z}\wr\Gamma)$, with Γ exact, if N has no amenable direct summand, then it must be properly proximal relative to $L\Gamma$ in the sense of [DKEP22]. This is a direct adaptation of [DKEP22, Theorem 7.1], since $\mathbb{Z}\wr\Gamma$ is biexact relative to Γ [BO08, Proposition 15.3.6]. Next in Section 3.3, we use techniques from [DKE22], which extends the idea in [DKE21, Lemma 3.3] to the von Neumann algebra setting. Continuing in the above setting with

N properly proximal relative to $L\Gamma$, we show that N either has a properly proximal direct summand or is amenable relative to $L\Gamma$ inside $L(\mathbb{Z}\wr\Gamma)$. In this step, the notion of normal bidual developed in [DKEP22, Section 2] is extensively used. Lastly, using a technique from [Ioa15], we conclude in Section 3.4 that if $N \subset L(\mathbb{Z}\wr\Gamma)$ is amenable relative to $L\Gamma$, then N must be rigid with respect to the s-malleable deformation $\{\alpha_t\}$ associated with $L(\mathbb{Z}\wr\Gamma)$. Altogether, we obtain that if $N \subset L(\mathbb{Z}\wr\Gamma)$ has no amenable or properly proximal direct summand, then N must be α_t -rigid.

3.2 Preliminaries

3.2.1 Popa's intertwining-by-bimodules

Theorem 3.2.1 ([Pop06c]). Let (M, τ) be a tracial von Neumann algebra and $P \subset pMp, Q \subset M$ be von Neumann subalgebras. Then the following are equivalent:

- 1. There exist projections $p_0 \in P$, $q_0 \in Q$, $a *-homomorphism <math>\theta : p_0 P p_0 \to q_0 Q q_0$ and a non-zero partial isometry $v \in q_0 M p_0$ such that $\theta(x)v = vx$, for all $x \in p_0 P p_0$.
- 2. There is no sequence $u_n \in \mathcal{U}(P)$ satisfying $||E_O(x^*u_ny)||_2 \to 0$, for all $x, y \in pM$.

If one of these equivalent conditions holds, we write $P \prec_M Q$.

3.2.2 Relative amenability

Let $P \subset M$ and $Q \subseteq M$ be a von Neumann subalgebras. Following [OP10a], we say that P is amenable relative to Q inside M if there exists a sequence $\xi_n \in L^2(\langle M, e_Q \rangle)$ such that $\langle x\xi_n, \xi_n \rangle \to \tau(x)$, for every $x \in M$, and $\|y\xi_n - \xi_n y\|_2 \to 0$, for every $y \in P$, or equivalently if there exists a P-central state on $\langle M, e_Q \rangle$ that is normal when restricted to M and faithful on $\mathscr{Z}(P' \cap M)$.

3.2.3 Mixing subalgebras of finite von Neumann algebras.

Let M be a finite von Neumann algebra and $N \subset M$ a von Neumann subalgebra. Recall the inclusion $N \subset M$ is mixing if $L^2(M \ominus N)$ is mixing as an N-N bimodule, i.e., for any sequence $u_n \in \mathcal{U}(N)$ converging to 0 weakly, one has $||E_N(xu_ny)||_2 \to 0$ for any $x, y \in M \ominus N$. When M and N are both diffuse, we may replace sequence of unitaries with any uniformly bounded sequence in N converging to 0 weakly by the proof of (4) \Longrightarrow (1) in [DKEP22, Theorem 5.9].

Examples of mixing subalgebras include $L\Lambda \subset L\Gamma$, where $\Lambda < \Gamma$ is almost malnormal i.e., $|t\Lambda t^{-1} \cap \Lambda| < \infty$ for any $t \in \Gamma \setminus \Lambda$ (see e.g. [Bou14, Appendix A]).

3.2.4 Proper proximality

We recall the notion of properly proximal von Neumann algebras from [DKEP22].

3.2.4.1 Boundary pieces

Given M a finite von Neumann algebra, an M-boundary piece \mathbb{X} is a hereditary C^* -subalgebra of $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ such that $\mathbb{M}(\mathbb{X}) \cap M \subset M$ and $\mathbb{M}(\mathbb{X}) \cap JMJ \subset JMJ$ are weakly dense, where $\mathbb{M}(\mathbb{X})$ is the multiplier of \mathbb{X} . To avoid pathological examples, we will always assume that $\mathbb{X} \neq \{0\}$ and it follows that $\mathbb{K}(L^2M) \subset \mathbb{X}$ for any M-boundary piece \mathbb{X} .

Let M be a finite von Neumann algebra and \mathbb{X} an M-boundary piece. Denote by $\mathbb{K}^L_{\mathbb{X}}(M) \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ the $\|\cdot\|_{\infty,2}$ -closure of the norm closed left ideal $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)\mathbb{X}$, where $\|T\|_{\infty,2} = \sup_{a \in (M)_1} \|T\hat{a}\|_2$ for any $T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$, and set $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M) = (\mathbb{K}^L_{\mathbb{X}}(M))^* \cap \mathbb{K}^L_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ to be the hereditary C^* -subalgebra generated by $\mathbb{K}^L_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$. The multiplier algebra of $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ contains both M and JMJ and we denote by $\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ the $\|\cdot\|_{\infty,1}$ -closure of $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$, where $\|T\|_{\infty,1} = \sup_{a,b \in (M)_1} \langle T\hat{a},\hat{b} \rangle$ for $T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$, and $\mathbb{K}^{\infty,1}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ coincides with $\overline{\mathbb{X}}^{\|\cdot\|_{\infty,1}}$. And denote by $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ the following operator system that contains M,

$$\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M) = \{ T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M) \mid [T,x] \in \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(M), \text{ for any } x \in JMJ \}.$$

When $\mathbb{X} = \mathbb{K}(L^2M)$, we omit \mathbb{X} in the above notations for simplicity.

Let $N \subset M$ be a von Neuman subalgebra. We say $N \subset M$ is properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X} if there does not exist any N-central state φ on $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ such that $\varphi_{|M}$ is normal. And we say M is properly proximal if $M \subset M$ properly proximal relative to $\mathbb{K}(L^2M)$. By [DKEP22, Theorem 6.2], a group Γ is properly proximal in the sense of [BIP21] if and only if $L\Gamma$ is properly proximal.

One particular type of boundary pieces arise from subalgebras. Let $N \subset M$ be a von Neumann subalgebra and we may associate with N an M-boundary piece \mathbb{X}_N , which is the hereditary C*-subalgebra of $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ generated by $xJyJe_N$ for $x,y \in M$, where $e_N \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ is the orthogonal projection from L^2M onto L^2N .

Remark 3.2.2. Let Γ be a group that is not properly proximal, then $L\Gamma$ has no properly proximal direct summand. Indeed, suppose $z \in \mathscr{Z}(L\Gamma)$ in a nonzero central projection such that $zL\Gamma$ is not properly proximal, i.e., there exists a $zL\Gamma$ -central state $\varphi : \mathbb{S}(zL\Gamma) \to \mathbb{C}$ that is normal on $zL\Gamma$. We may consider the Γ-equivariant embedding $i : \mathbb{S}(\Gamma) \to \mathbb{S}(L\Gamma)$ and $E := \mathrm{Ad}(z) : \mathbb{S}(L\Gamma) \to \mathbb{S}(zL\Gamma)$ [DKEP22, Section 6]. Then $\varphi \circ E \circ i : \mathbb{S}(\Gamma) \to \mathbb{C}$ is then a Γ-invariant state, showing Γ is not properly proximal. A similar argument shows that if Γ is nonamenable, then $L\Gamma$ has no amenable direct summand.

Recall that a group Γ is biexact relative to a subgroup $\Lambda < \Gamma$ if the left action of Γ on $\mathbb{S}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma) = \{f \in \ell^{\infty}\Gamma \mid f - R_t f \in c_0(\Gamma, \{\Lambda\})\}$ is topologically amenable, where $c_0(\Gamma, \{\Lambda\})$ is functions on Γ that converge to 0 when $t \in \Gamma$ escapes subsets of Γ that are small relative to Λ (See [BO08, Chapter 15] for the precise definition). We remark that this is equivalent to $\Gamma \curvearrowright \mathbb{S}_I(\Gamma)$ is amenable. Indeed, since we may embed $\ell^{\infty}\Gamma \hookrightarrow I^{**}$ in a

 Γ -equivariant way, we have $\Gamma \curvearrowright I^{**} \oplus (\mathbb{S}_I(\Gamma)/I)^{**} = \mathbb{S}_I(\Gamma)^{**}$ is amenable, and it follows that $\Gamma \curvearrowright \mathbb{S}_I(\Gamma)$ is an amenable action [BEW19, Proposition 2.7].

The following is an easy adaptation of [DKEP22, Theorem 7.1]. For completeness, we include the proof.

Proposition 3.2.3. Suppose a group Γ is biexact relative to a subgroup $\Lambda < \Gamma$. Then for every von Neumann subalgebra $N \subset L\Gamma$, either the inclusion $N \subset L\Gamma$ is properly proximal relative to $\mathbb{X}_{L\Lambda}$ or else N has an amenable direct summand.

Proof. Suppose the inclusion $N \subset L\Gamma$ is not properly proximal relative to $\mathbb{X}_{L\Lambda}$, and let $\phi : \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}_{L\Lambda}}(L\Gamma) \to \langle p(L\Gamma)p, e_{Np} \rangle$ be a $p(L\Gamma)p$ -bimodular u.c.p. map, where $p \in \mathscr{Z}(N)$ is a non-zero central projection.

If we consider the Γ -equivariant diagonal embedding $\ell^{\infty}\Gamma \subset \mathbb{B}(\ell^{2}\Gamma)$, we see that $c_{0}(\Gamma,\{\Lambda\})$ is mapped to $\mathbb{X}_{L\Lambda}$. Restricting to $\mathbb{S}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma)$ then gives a Γ -equivariant embedding into $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}_{L\Lambda}}(L\Gamma)$. We therefore obtain a *-homomorphism $\mathbb{S}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma) \rtimes_{f} \Gamma \to \mathbb{B}(\ell^{2}\Gamma)$ whose image is contained in $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}_{L\Lambda}}(L\Gamma)$. Composing this *-homomorphism with the u.c.p. map ϕ then gives a u.c.p. map $\tilde{\phi}: \mathbb{S}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma) \rtimes_{f} \Gamma \to \langle p(L\Gamma)p, e_{Np} \rangle$ such that $\tilde{\phi}(t) = pu_{t}p$ for all $t \in \Gamma$.

Since Γ is biexact relative to Λ , the action $\Gamma \curvearrowright \mathbb{S}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma)$ is topologically amenable. Hence, $\mathbb{S}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma) \rtimes_{f} \Gamma = \mathbb{S}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma) \rtimes_{r} \Gamma$ is a nuclear C^{*} -algebra. We set $\varphi(\cdot) := \frac{1}{\tau(p)} \langle \tilde{\varphi}(\cdot) \hat{p}, \hat{p} \rangle$ and note that for $x \in C_{r}^{*}\Gamma$ we have $\varphi(x) = \frac{1}{\tau(p)} \tau(pxp)$. Since $C_{r}^{*}\Gamma$ is weakly dense in $L\Gamma$ an argument similar to Proposition 3.1 in [BC15] then gives a representation $\pi_{\varphi} : \mathbb{S}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma) \rtimes_{r} \Gamma \to \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\varphi})$, a state $\tilde{\varphi} \in \mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\varphi})_{*}$ with $\varphi = \tilde{\varphi} \circ \pi_{\varphi}$, and a projection $q \in \pi_{\varphi}(\mathbb{S}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma) \rtimes_{r} \Gamma)''$ with $\tilde{\varphi}(q) = 1$ such that there is a normal unital *-homomorphism $i : L\Gamma \hookrightarrow q\pi_{\varphi}(\mathbb{S}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma) \rtimes_{r} \Gamma)''q$.

Since $\mathbb{S}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma) \rtimes_r \Gamma$ is nuclear, we have that $\pi_{\varphi}(\mathbb{S}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma) \rtimes_r \Gamma)''$ is injective, and so there is a u.c.p. map $\tilde{i}: \mathbb{B}(\ell^2\Gamma) \to q\pi_{\varphi}(\mathbb{S}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma) \rtimes_r \Gamma)''q$ that extends i. Notice that $\psi := \tilde{\varphi} \circ \tilde{i}$ is then an Np-central state on $\mathbb{B}(\ell^2\Gamma)$ and $\psi(x) = \frac{1}{\tau(p)}\tau(pxp)$ for $x \in L\Gamma$. Therefore, Np is amenable.

3.2.4.2 A bidual characterization

Next we collect some basics of the normal bidual from [DKEP22, Section 2].

Given a finite von Neumann algebra M and a C^* -subalgebra $A \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ such that M and JMJ are contained in the multiplier algebra $\mathbb{M}(A)$, we recall that $A^{M\sharp M}$ (resp. $A^{JMJ\sharp JMJ}$) denotes the space of $\varphi\in A^*$ such that for each $T\in A$ the map $M\times M\ni (a,b)\mapsto \varphi(aTb)$ (resp. $JMJ\times JMJ\ni (a,b)\mapsto \varphi(aTb)$) is separately normal in each variable. When there is no confusion about the von Neumann algebra that we are referring to, we will denote $A^{M\sharp M}$ by A^\sharp and $A^{M\sharp M}\cap A^{JMJ\sharp JMJ}$ by A^\sharp_J .

We may view $(A_J^{\sharp})^*$ as a von Neumann algebra as follows. Denote by $p_{\text{nor}} \in \mathbb{M}(A)^{**}$ the supremum of support projections of states in $\mathbb{M}(A)^*$ that restrict to normal states on M and JMJ, so that M and JMJ

may be viewed as unital von Neumann subalgebras of $p_{\text{nor}}\mathbb{M}(A)^{**}p_{\text{nor}}$, which is canonically identified with $(\mathbb{M}(A)_J^{\sharp})^*$. Let $q_A \in \mathscr{P}(\mathbb{M}(A)^{**})$ be the central projection such that $q_A(\mathbb{M}(A)^{**}) = A^{**}$ and we may then identify $(A_J^{\sharp})^*$ with $p_{\text{nor}}q_A\mathbb{M}(A)^{**}p_{\text{nor}} = p_{\text{nor}}A^{**}p_{\text{nor}}$. Furthermore, if $B \subset A$ is another C*-subalgebra with $M, JMJ \subset \mathbb{M}(B)$, we may identify $(B_J^{\sharp})^*$ with $q_Bp_{\text{nor}}A^{**}p_{\text{nor}}q_B$, which is a non-unital subalgebra of $(A_J^{\sharp})^*$.

If we denote by $\iota: \mathbb{M}(A) \to \mathbb{M}(A)^{**}$ the canonical embedding, we may then view $\mathbb{M}(A)$ as an operator subsystem of $(\mathbb{M}(A)_J^{\sharp})^*$ through the isometric u.c.p. map $\iota_{\mathrm{nor}}: \mathbb{M}(A) \ni T \to p_{\mathrm{nor}}\iota(T)p_{\mathrm{nor}} \in (\mathbb{M}(A)_J^{\sharp})^*$, and the its restriction to A gives a natural embedding of $A \subset (A_J^{\sharp})^*$ as an operator system.

It is worth noting that ι_{nor} and ι are different in a few ways. On one hand, $\iota: \mathbb{M}(A) \to \mathbb{M}(A)^{**}$ is a *-homomorphism while $\iota_{\text{nor}}: \mathbb{M}(A) \to (\mathbb{M}(A)_J^{\sharp})^*$ is a u.c.p. map; on the other hand, ι_{nor} gives rise to normal faithful representations when restricted to M and JMJ, but $\iota_{|M}$ and $\iota_{|JMJ}$ are not normal in general.

The following is a bidual characterization of properly proximal.

Lemma 3.2.4. [DKEP22, Lemma 8.5] Let M be a separable tracial von Neumann algebra with an M-boundary piece \mathbb{X} . Then M is properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X} if and only if there is no M-central state φ on

$$\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}}(M) := \left\{ T \in \left(\mathbb{B}(L^2 M)_J^{\sharp} \right)^* \mid [T, a] \in \left(\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_J^{\sharp} \right)^* \text{ for all } a \in JMJ \right\}$$

such that $\varphi_{|M}$ is normal.

When $\mathbb{X} = \mathbb{K}(L^2M)$, we will abbreviate \mathbb{X} for simplicity. It is worth noting that $\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ is a von Neumann algebra which contains M as a von Neumann subalgebra, while $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ is only an operator system. Following the above discussion, we note that $\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ may be identified with

$$\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}}(M) = \{T \in p_{\mathrm{nor}}\mathbb{B}(L^2M)^{**}p_{\mathrm{nor}} \mid [T,a] \in q_{\mathbb{X}}\big(\mathbb{M}(\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M))\big)^{**}q_{\mathbb{X}}, \text{ for any } a \in JMJ\},$$

where $q_{\mathbb{X}}$ is the identity of $(\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_J^{\sharp})^* \subset (\mathbb{M}(\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M))_J^{\sharp})^*$. If we set $q_{\mathbb{K}} = q_{\mathbb{K}(L^2M)}$ to be the identity of $(\mathbb{K}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp})^* \subset (\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp})^*$, then using the above description of $\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$, we have $q_{\mathbb{X}}^{\perp}\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)q_{\mathbb{X}}^{\perp} \subset q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp}\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)$, as $q_{\mathbb{X}}$ commutes with M and JMJ.

Lemma 3.2.5. Let M be a separable tracial von Neumann algebra. Suppose M has no properly proximal direct summand, then there exists an M-central state φ on $\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)$ such that $\varphi_{|M}$ is faithful and normal.

Proof. First we show that there exists an M-central state φ on $\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)$ such that $\varphi_{|\mathscr{Z}(M)}$ is faithful. Consider a pair (φ,p) , where $\varphi \in \widetilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)^*$ is an M-central state such that $\varphi_{|M}$ is normal and $p \in \mathscr{Z}(M)$ is support projection of φ . And we may order such pairs by the order on $\mathscr{Z}(M)$, i.e., $(\varphi_1,p_1) \leq (\varphi_2,p_2)$ if $p_1 \leq p_2$. If $\{(\varphi_i,p_i)\}_{i\in I}$ is a chain, then we may find a subsequence $p_{i(n)}$ such that $\lim_n p_{i(n)} = \bigvee_{i\in I} p_i$, and $\varphi_0(\cdot) = \bigvee_{i\in I} p_i$.

 $\sum_{n\geq 1} 2^{-n} \varphi_{i(n)}(p_{i(n)} \cdot p_{i(n)})$ then is an M-central state on $\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)$ such that $\varphi_{0|M}$ is normal and $\bigvee_{i\in I} p_i$ is the support of φ_0 . Suppose (φ,p) is a maximal element and $q=p^\perp>0$. Denote by $E_q: \mathrm{Ad}(q): \mathbb{B}(L^2M) \to \mathbb{B}(L^2(qM))$ and one checks that $(E_q)^*$ maps $\mathbb{B}(L^2(qM))_J^\sharp$ to $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^\sharp$. Therefore dualizing E_q yeilds a u.c.p. map $\widetilde{E}_q: (\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^\sharp)^* \to (\mathbb{B}(L^2(qM))_J^\sharp)^*$, and $(\widetilde{E}_q)_{|\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)}: \widetilde{\mathbb{S}}(M) \to \widetilde{\mathbb{S}}(qM)$. Since qM is not properly proximal, there exists a state $\psi \in \widetilde{\mathbb{S}}(qM)^*$ that is qM-central and $\psi_{|qM}$ is normal. Set $\varphi'(T) = \varphi(pTp) + \psi(\widetilde{E}_q(qTq))$, which is an M-central state on $\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)$ that is normal on M with support strictly larger than p, which is a contradiction.

Now suppose φ is such a state with $\varphi_{|\mathscr{Z}(M)}$ faithful, and $\varphi(p)=0$ for some $p\in\mathscr{P}(M)$, then we may write the central support $z(p)=\sum_{i=1}^{\infty}v_iv_i^*$, where $v_i\in M$ are partial isometries such that $v_i^*v_i\leq p$. Since φ is normal and tracial on M, we have $\varphi(z(p))=\sum_{i=1}^{\infty}\varphi(v_iv_i^*)\leq \sum_{i=1}^{\infty}\varphi(p)=0$, which shows that $p\leq z(p)=0$.

3.3 From non-proper proximality to relative amenability

In this section, we connect non-proper proximality with relative amenability using the following result.

Proposition 3.3.1. Let Γ be a nonamenable countable group and $\Lambda < \Gamma$ an infinite almost malnormal subgroup. Let $M = L\Gamma$, $\mathbb{X} = \mathbb{X}_{L\Lambda}$ the M-boundary piece associated with $L\Lambda$, and $N \subset M$ a von Neumann subalgebra. Suppose $N \subset M$ is properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X} . If N does not have any properly proximal direct summand, then N is amenable relative to $L\Lambda$ inside M.

The above proposition, which grew out of discussions with Srivatsav Kunnawalkam Elayavalli. A more general version appears in [DKE22] and we only present the form that is sufficient for our purpose. Before proceeding to the proof, we collect a few auxiliary lemmas.

3.3.1 Boundary pieces in the bidual

Let M be a finite von Neumann algebra, \mathbb{X} an M-boundary piece, $N \subset M$ a von Neumann subalgebra and $E := \mathrm{Ad}(e_N) : \mathbb{B}(L^2M) \to \mathbb{B}(L^2N)$. Notice that $(E^*)_{|\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^\sharp} : \mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^\sharp \to \mathbb{B}(L^2N)_J^\sharp$ since E is a normal conditional expectation when restricted to M and JMJ, and a state $\varphi \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)^*$ lies in $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^\sharp$ if and only if $\varphi_{|M|}$ and $\varphi_{|JMJ}$ are normal. Thus we may consider the u.c.p. map

$$\tilde{E} := (E^*_{|\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp}})^* : \left(\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp}\right)^* \to \left(\mathbb{B}(L^2N)_J^{\sharp}\right)^*.$$

Lemma 3.3.2. Using the above notations, we have $\widetilde{E}_{|\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)}:\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)\to\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}(N)$.

Proof. First observe that \tilde{E} is weak* continuous and $E: \mathbb{K}(L^2M) \to \mathbb{K}(L^2N)$. It follows that \tilde{E} maps $(\mathbb{K}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp})^*$ to $(\mathbb{K}(L^2N)_J^{\sharp})^*$. Furthermore, since $\tilde{E}_{|JNJ} = \operatorname{id}_{JNJ}$, we have $\tilde{E}([T,x]) = [\tilde{E}(T),x]$ for any $x \in JNJ$ and $T \in (\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp})^*$. The statement follows from the definition of $\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)$.

Recall from Section 3.2.4.2 that $\iota : \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M) \to \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)^{**}$ is the canonical embedding, $p_{\text{nor}} \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)^{**}$ is the projection such that $p_{\text{nor}}\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)^{**}p_{\text{nor}} = (\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_J^{\sharp})^*$ and the embedding $\iota_{\text{nor}} : \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M) \to (\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_J^{\sharp})^*$ is given by $\iota_{\text{nor}} = \operatorname{Ad}(p_{\text{nor}}) \circ \iota$.

Lemma 3.3.3. Let M be a finite von Neumann algebra and \mathbb{X} an M-boundary piece. Let $\mathbb{X}_0 \subset \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ be a \mathbb{C}^* -subalgebra and $\{e_n\}_{n\in I}$ an approximate unit of \mathbb{X}_0 . If $\mathbb{X}_0 \subset \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(M)$ is dense in $\|\cdot\|_{\infty,1}$ and $\iota(e_n)$ commutes with p_{nor} for each $n \in I$, then $\lim_n \iota_{nor}(e_n) \in (\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_J^{\sharp})^*$ is the identity, where the limit is in the weak* topology.

Proof. Since $\iota_{\text{nor}}(\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)) \subset (\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_{J}^{\sharp})^{*}$ is weak* dense and functionals in $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_{J}^{\sharp}$ are continuous in $\|\cdot\|_{\infty,1}$ topology by [DKEP22, Proposition 3.1], we have $\iota_{\text{nor}}(\mathbb{X}_{0}) \subset (\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_{J}^{\sharp})^{*}$ is also weak* dense. Let $e = \lim_{n} \iota_{\text{nor}}(e_{n}) \in (\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_{J}^{\sharp})^{*}$ be a weak* limit point and for any $T \in \mathbb{X}_{0}$, we have

$$e \iota_{\text{nor}}(T) = \lim_{n} p_{\text{nor}} \iota(e_n) \iota(T) p_{\text{nor}} = \lim_{n} p_{\text{nor}} \iota(e_n T) p_{\text{nor}} = \iota_{\text{nor}}(T),$$

and similarly $\iota_{\text{nor}}(T)e = \iota_{\text{nor}}(T)$. By density of $\iota_{\text{nor}}(\mathbb{X}_0) \subset (\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_J^{\sharp})^*$, we conclude that e is the identity in $(\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_J^{\sharp})^*$.

Lemma 3.3.4. Let M be a finite von Neumann algebra and $B \subset M$ a von Neumann subalgebra. Let $e_B \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ be the orthogonal projection onto L^2B . Then $\iota(e_B) \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)^{**}$ commutes with p_{nor} .

Proof. Suppose $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)^{**}\subset \mathbb{B}(\mathscr{H})$ and notice that $\xi\in\mathscr{H}$ is in the range of p_{nor} if and only if $M\ni x\to \langle \iota(x)\xi,\xi\rangle$ and $JMJ\ni x\to \langle \iota(x)\xi,\xi\rangle$ are normal. For $\xi\in p_{\text{nor}}\mathscr{H}$, we have $\varphi(x):=\langle \iota(x)\iota(e_B)\xi,\iota(e_B)\xi\rangle=\langle \iota(E_B(x))\xi,\xi\rangle$ is also normal for $x\in M$ and JMJ, which implies that $\iota(e_B)p_{\text{nor}}=p_{\text{nor}}\iota(e_B)p_{\text{nor}}$. It follows that $\iota(e_B)$ and p_{nor} commutes.

Lemma 3.3.5. Let Γ be a group and $\Lambda < \Gamma$ a subgroup. Let $M = L\Gamma$, $B = L\Lambda$ and $\mathbb{X} = \mathbb{X}_B$. Denote by $\{t_k\}_{k \in K}$ a representative of Γ/Λ , i.e., $\Gamma = \sqcup_{k \in K} t_k \Lambda$ and $u_k := \lambda_{t_k} \in L\Gamma$ the canonical unitaries. For each finite subset $F \subset K$, let $e_F = \bigvee_{k,\ell \in F} u_k Ju_\ell Je_B Ju_\ell^* Ju_k^*$. Then $\lim_F \iota_{\text{nor}}(e_F) \in (\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)_J^{\sharp})^*$ is the identity.

Proof. Denote by $\mathbb{X}_0 \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ the hereditary C*-subalgebra generated by $xJyJe_N$ for $x,y \in C_r^*(\Gamma)$. It is clear that \mathbb{X}_0 is an M-boundary piece and by hereditariness we have $e_F \in \mathbb{X}_0$ for each F.

First we show that $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}_0}^{\infty,1}(M) = \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(M)$, where $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}_0}^{\infty,1}(M)$ is obtained from \mathbb{X}_0 in the way described in Section 3.2.4.1. Notice that $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)\mathbb{X}_0 \subset \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^L(M)$ is dense in $\|\cdot\|_{\infty,2}$. Indeed, for any contractions $T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ and $x,y \in L\Gamma$, we may find a net of contractions $T_i \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)\mathbb{X}_0$ such that $T_i \to Te_NxJyJ$ in $\|\cdot\|_{\infty,2}$, as it follows directly from [DKEP22, Proposition 3.1], the non-commutative Egorov theorem and the Kaplansky

density theorem. It then follows that $\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}_0}(M) \subset \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(M)$ is dense in $\|\cdot\|_{\infty,1}$ and hence $\overline{\mathbb{X}_0}^{\infty,1} = \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}_0}^{\infty,1}(M) = \mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}^{\infty,1}(M)$ by [DKEP22, Proposition 3.6].

Next we show that $\{e_F\}_F$ forms an approximate unit of \mathbb{X}_0 . Indeed, every element in \mathbb{X}_0 can be written as a norm limit of linear spans consisting of elements of the from $x_1Jy_1JTJy_2Jx_2$, where $x_i,y_i \in C_r^*(\Gamma)$ and $T \in \mathbb{B}(L^2B)$. Write each x_i,y_i as summations of $u_k\lambda_t$, $t \in \Lambda$, it suffices to check $e_F(u_kJu_\ell Je_B)$ and $(e_BJu_\ell Ju_k)e_F$ agree with $u_kJu_\ell Je_B$ and $e_BJu_\ell Ju_k$ when F is large enough, respectively, which follows easily from the construction of e_F .

By Lemma 3.3.4, it is easy to check that $\iota(e_F)$ commutes with p_{nor} for every F. And it follows from Lemma 3.3.3 that $\lim_F \iota_{\text{nor}}(e_F) \in (\mathbb{K}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)^{\sharp}_{I})^*$ is the identity.

Lemma 3.3.6. Let Γ be a group and $\Lambda < \Gamma$ a subgroup. Denote by $q_{\mathbb{K}} \in (\mathbb{K}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp})^*$ the identity, $M = L\Gamma$ and $B = L\Lambda$. Then $p_{t,s} = q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp} l_{\text{nor}}(\lambda_t \rho_s e_B \rho_s^* \lambda_t^*) \in (\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp})^*$ is a projection for $t,s \in \Gamma$. Moreover, if $\Lambda < \Gamma$ is almost malnormal, then $p_{t,s} p_{t',s'} = 0$ if $t \neq t'$ or $s \neq s'$.

Proof. Since p_{nor} commutes with $\iota(M)$ and $\iota(JMJ)$ and $q_{\mathbb{K}} \in (\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp})^*$ is a central projection, together with Lemma 3.3.4, we see that $p_{t,s}$ is a projection.

Note that $p_{t,s}p_{t',s'} = q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp}p_{\text{nor}}\iota(\text{Proj}_{t\Lambda s \cap t'\Lambda s'})p_{\text{nor}}$, where $\text{Proj}_{t\Lambda s \cap t'\Lambda s'}$ denotes the orthogonal projection onto the $\text{sp}\{t\Lambda s \cap t'\Lambda s'\}$, which is finite dimensional if $t \neq t'$ or $s \neq s'$ by the almost malnormality of $\Lambda < \Gamma$. And it follows that $p_{t,s}p_{t',s'} = 0$.

3.3.2 Proof of Proposition 3.3.1

Proof. Since *N* has no properly proximal direct summand, there exists an *N*-central state μ on $\tilde{\mathbb{S}}(N)$ such that $\mu_{|N|}$ is normal and faithful by Lemma 3.2.5.

Let $E:=\operatorname{Ad}(e_N):\mathbb{B}(L^2M)\to\mathbb{B}(L^2N)$ and for the corresponding bidual $\tilde{E}:\left(\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^\sharp\right)^*\to\left(\mathbb{B}(L^2N)_J^\sharp\right)^*$, we have a u.c.p. map $\tilde{E}_{|\tilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)}:\tilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)\to\tilde{\mathbb{S}}(N)$ by Lemma 3.3.2. Thus $\phi=\mu\circ \tilde{E}_{|\tilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)}:\tilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)\to\mathbb{C}$ defines a N-central state that is faithful and normal on M. Let $q_\mathbb{K}\in\left(\mathbb{K}(L^2M)_J^\sharp\right)^*$, and $q_\mathbb{K}\in\left(\mathbb{K}_\mathbb{K}(M)_J^\sharp\right)^*$ be the corresponding identities in these von Neumann algebras. Note that $q_\mathbb{K}\leq q_\mathbb{K}$ and $q_\mathbb{K}$ commutes with M and JMJ.

First we analyze the support of φ . Observe that $\varphi(q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp})=1$. Indeed, if $\varphi(q_{\mathbb{K}})>0$, i.e., φ does not vanish on $(\mathbb{K}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp})^*$, then we may restrict φ to $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$, which embeds into $(\mathbb{K}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp})^*$ as a normal operator M-system [DKEP22, Section 8], and this shows that N would have an amenable direct summand. We also have $\varphi(q_{\mathbb{K}})=1$, since if $\varphi(q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp})>0$, we would then have an N-central state

$$rac{1}{oldsymbol{\phi}(q_{\mathbb{X}}^{\perp})}oldsymbol{\phi}\circ \mathrm{Ad}(q_{\mathbb{X}}^{\perp}): ilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)
ightarrow \mathbb{C},$$

whose restriction to M is normal. This contradicts the assumption that $N \subset M$ is properly proximal relative to \mathbb{X} , since $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ embeds unitally into $\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}_{\mathbb{X}}(M)$ through ι_{nor} in Section 3.3.1. Therefore we conclude that $\varphi(q_{\mathbb{X}}q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp})=1$.

Let $B := L\Lambda \subset M$ and $e_B : L^2M \to L^2B$ the orthogonal projection.

Claim. There exists a u.c.p. map $\phi: \langle M, e_B \rangle \to q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp} q_{\mathbb{X}} \tilde{\mathbb{S}}(M) q_{\mathbb{X}}$ such that $\phi(x) = q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp} q_{\mathbb{X}} x$ for any $x \in M$.

This claim clearly implies that N is amenable relative to B inside M, as $v = \varphi \circ \phi \in \langle M, e_B \rangle^*$ is an N-central state, which is a normal faithful state when restricted to M.

Proof of claim. Recall from Section 3.2.4.2 that we may embed $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ into $(\mathbb{B}(L^2M)^{\sharp})^*$ through the u.c.p. map ι_{nor} , which is given by $\iota_{\text{nor}} = \operatorname{Ad}(p_{\text{nor}}) \circ \iota$, where $\iota : \mathbb{B}(L^2M) \to \mathbb{B}(L^2M)^{**}$ is the canonical *-homomorphism into the universal envelope, and p_{nor} is the projection in $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)^{**}$ such that $p_{\text{nor}}\mathbb{B}(L^2M)^{**}p_{\text{nor}} = (\mathbb{B}(L^2M)^{\sharp})^*$. We have that $(\iota_{\text{nor}})_{|M}$ and $(\iota_{\text{nor}})_{|JMJ}$ are faithful normal representations of M and JMJ, respectively, and to eliminate possible confusion, we will denote by $\iota_{\text{nor}}(M)$ and $\iota_{\text{nor}}(JMJ)$ the copies of M and JMJ in $(\mathbb{B}(L^2M)^{\sharp}_J)^*$. Restricting ι_{nor} to C^* -subalgebra $A \subset \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ satisfying $M, JMJ \subset \mathbb{M}(A)$ give rise to the embedding of A into $(A_J^{\sharp})^*$. Furthermore, although ι_{nor} is not a *-homomorphism, by Lemma 3.3.4, sp Me_BM is in the multiplicative domain of ι_{nor} .

Denote by $\{t_k\}_{k\geq 0} \subset \Gamma$ a representative of the cosets Γ/Λ with t_0 being the identity of Γ , i.e., $\Gamma = \bigsqcup_{k\geq 0} t_k \Lambda$, and $u_k := \lambda_{t_k} \in \mathcal{U}(L\Gamma)$. We will construct the map ϕ in the following steps.

Step 1. For each $n \ge 0$, consider the u.c.p. map $\psi_n : \langle M, e_B \rangle \to \langle M, e_B \rangle$ given by $\psi_n(x) = (\sum_{k \le n} u_k e_B u_k^*) x (\sum_{\ell \le n} u_\ell e_B u_\ell^*)$, and notice that ψ_n maps $\langle M, e_B \rangle$ into the *-subalgebra $A_0 := \text{sp}\{u_k a e_B u_\ell^* \mid a \in B, k, \ell \ge 0\}$.

Step 2. By Lemma 3.3.6, we have $\{\iota_{\text{nor}}(Ju_kJe_BJu_k^*J)\}_{k\geq 0} \subset (\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp})^*$ are pairwise orthogonal projections. Set $e = \sum_{k\geq 0} \iota_{\text{nor}}(Ju_kJe_BJu_k^*J) \in (\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp})^*$ and notice that e is independent of the choice of the representative Γ/Λ . Put $\phi_0: A_0 \to q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp}(\mathbb{B}(L^2M)_J^{\sharp})^*$ to be $\phi_0(u_rae_Bu_\ell^*) = q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp}\iota_{\text{nor}}(u_ra)e\iota_{\text{nor}}(u_\ell^*)$

It is easy to see that ϕ_0 is well-defined. We then check that ϕ_0 is a *-homomorphism. For any $x \in M$, we claim that

$$q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp}e\iota_{\text{nor}}(x)e = q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp}\iota_{\text{nor}}(E_B(x))e. \tag{3.1}$$

Indeed,

$$\begin{split} &q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp}e\iota_{\mathrm{nor}}(x)e\\ =&q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp}\sum_{k,\ell\geq 0}\iota_{\mathrm{nor}}\big((Ju_{k}Je_{B}Ju_{k}^{*}J)x(Ju_{\ell}Je_{B}Ju_{\ell}^{*}J)\big)\\ =&q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp}\iota_{\mathrm{nor}}(E_{B}(x))\sum_{k\geq 0}\iota_{\mathrm{nor}}(Ju_{k}Je_{B}Ju_{k}^{*}J)+\sum_{k\neq \ell}\iota_{\mathrm{nor}}\big((Ju_{k}Je_{B}Ju_{k}^{*}J)x(Ju_{\ell}Je_{B}Ju_{\ell}^{*}J)\big). \end{split}$$

Since $\Lambda < \Gamma$ is almost malnormal which implies that $L^2(M \ominus B)$ is a mixing B-bimodule, one may check that $(Ju_kJe_BJu_k^*J)(x-E_B(x))(Ju_\ell Je_BJu_\ell^*J) \in \mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ is a compact operator from M to L^2M if $\ell \neq k$. We also have

 $(Ju_kJe_BJu_k^*J)E_B(x)(Ju_\ell Je_BJu_\ell^*J)=0$ if $\ell\neq k$, and it follows that $\sum_{k\neq\ell}q_\mathbb{K}^\perp\iota_{\mathrm{nor}}(Ju_kJe_BJu_k^*JxJu_\ell Je_BJu_\ell^*J)=0$. It then follows from (3.1) that ϕ_0 is a *-homomorphism.

We also show ϕ_0 is norm continuous. Set $\sum_{i=1}^d u_{k_i} a_i e_B u_{\ell_i}^* \in A_0$, and note that we may assume $k_i \neq k_j$ and $\ell_i \neq \ell_j$ for $i \neq j$. Consider $P_k = q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp} \sum_{i=1}^d \iota_{\text{nor}}(\operatorname{Proj}_{t_{\ell_i} \Lambda t_k^{-1}})$ and $Q_k = q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp} \sum_{i=1}^d \iota_{\text{nor}}(\operatorname{Proj}_{t_{\ell_i} \Lambda t_k^{-1}})$, where $\operatorname{Proj}_{t_{\ell_i} \Lambda t_k^{-1}} \in \mathbb{B}(\ell^2 \Gamma)$ is the orthogonal projection onto the subspace $\operatorname{sp}\{\delta_i \mid t \in t_{\ell_i} \Lambda t_k^{-1}\}^{\|\cdot\|}$, i.e., $\operatorname{Proj}_{t_{\ell_i} \Lambda t_k^{-1}} = Ju_k Ju_{\ell_i} e_B u_{\ell_i}^* Ju_k^* J$. By Lemma 3.3.6, we have P_k and Q_k are a projections and $P_k P_r = Q_k Q_r = 0$ if $k \neq r$. Moreover, note that for each i, $\iota_{\text{nor}}(e_B u_{\ell_i}^* Ju_k^* J) P_k = q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp} \iota_{\text{nor}}(e_B u_{\ell_i}^* Ju_k^* J)$ and $\iota_{\text{nor}}(e_B u_{k_i}^* Ju_k^* J) Q_k = q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp} \iota_{\text{nor}}(e_B u_{k_i}^* Ju_k^* J)$. Let \mathscr{H} be the Hilbert space where $(\mathbb{B}(L^2 M)_J^{\sharp})^*$ is represented on. For ξ , $\eta \in (\mathscr{H})_1$, we compute

$$\begin{split} |\langle \phi_{0}(\sum_{i=1}^{d}u_{k_{i}}a_{i}e_{B}u_{\ell_{i}}^{*})\xi,\eta\rangle| &\leq \sum_{k\geq0}|\sum_{i=1}^{d}\langle q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp}\iota_{\text{nor}}(e_{B}u_{\ell_{i}}^{*}Ju_{k}^{*}J)\xi,\iota_{\text{nor}}(Ju_{k}Ju_{k_{i}}e_{B}a_{i})^{*}\eta\rangle| \\ &= \sum_{k\geq0}|\sum_{i=1}^{d}\langle \iota_{\text{nor}}(e_{B}u_{\ell_{i}}^{*}Ju_{k}^{*}J)P_{k}\xi,\iota_{\text{nor}}(Ju_{k}Ju_{k_{i}}e_{B}a_{i})^{*}Q_{k}\eta\rangle| \\ &\leq \sum_{k\geq0}||\iota_{\text{nor}}(Ju_{k}J(\sum_{i=1}^{d}u_{k_{i}}a_{i}e_{B}u_{\ell_{i}}^{*})Ju_{k}^{*}J)\|||P_{k}\xi|||Q_{k}\eta|| \\ &\leq \|\sum_{i=1}^{d}u_{k_{i}}a_{i}e_{B}u_{\ell_{i}}^{*}\|(\sum_{k\geq0}\|P_{k}\xi\|^{2})^{1/2}(\sum_{k\geq0}\|Q_{k}\eta\|^{2})^{1/2} \\ &\leq \|\sum_{i=1}^{d}u_{k_{i}}a_{i}e_{B}u_{\ell_{i}}^{*}\|, \end{split}$$

where the last inequality follows from the orthogonality of $\{P_k\}$ and $\{Q_k\}$.

Lastly, notice that ϕ_0 maps A_0 into $q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp} \tilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)$. In fact, for any $s \in \Gamma$, we have

$$\iota_{\mathrm{nor}}(\rho_s)e\iota_{\mathrm{nor}}(\rho_s^*)=\sum_{k>0}\iota_{\mathrm{nor}}(J(\lambda_su_k)Je_BJ(\lambda_su_k)^*J)=e,$$

as $\bigsqcup_{k>0} st_k \Lambda_j = \Gamma$, and it follows that $\phi_0(A_0)$ commutes with $\iota_{nor}(JMJ)$.

Therefore, we conclude that ϕ_0 is a norm continuous *-homomorphism from A_0 to $q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp} \tilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)$ and hence extends to the C*-algebra $A := \overline{A_0}^{\|\cdot\|}$.

Step 3. For each $n \ge 0$, set $\phi_n := \phi_0 \circ \psi_n : \langle M, e_B \rangle \to q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp} \tilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)$, which is c.p. and subunital by construction. We may then pick $\phi \in CB(\langle M, e_B \rangle, q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp} \tilde{\mathbb{S}}(M))$ a weak* limit point of $\{\phi_n\}_n$, which exists as $q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp} \tilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)$ is a von Neumann algebra.

We claim that

$$\mathrm{Ad}(q_{\mathbb{X}})\circ\phi:\langle M,e_{B}\rangle\to q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp}q_{\mathbb{X}}\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}(M)q_{\mathbb{X}}$$

is an M-bimodular u.c.p. map, which amounts to showing $\phi(x) = q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp} q_{\mathbb{K}} \iota_{\text{nor}}(x)$ for any $x \in M$.

In fact, for any $x \in M$, we have

$$\begin{split} \phi(x) &= \lim_{n \to \infty} \phi_0 \left(\sum_{0 \le k, \ell \le n} (u_k E_B(u_k^* x u_\ell) e_B u_\ell^*) \right) \\ &= q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp} \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{0 \le k, \ell \le n} \iota_{\text{nor}}(u_k E_B(u_k^* x u_\ell)) e \iota_{\text{nor}}(u_\ell^*) \\ &= q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp} \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{0 \le k, \ell \le n} \left(\iota_{\text{nor}}(u_k) e \iota_{\text{nor}}(u_k^*) \right) \iota_{\text{nor}}(x) \left(\iota_{\text{nor}}(u_\ell) e \iota_{\text{nor}}(u_\ell^*) \right), \end{split}$$

where the last equation follows from (3.1). Finally, note that by Lemma 3.3.6 $\{p_k\}_{k\geq 0}$ is a family of pairwise orthogonal projections, where

$$p_k := q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp} \iota_{\text{nor}}(u_k) e \iota_{\text{nor}}(u_k^*) = q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp} \sum_{r \geq 0} \iota_{\text{nor}}(J u_r J u_k e_B u_k^* J u_r^* J),$$

and
$$\sum_{k\geq 0} p_k = \sum_{k,r\geq 0} q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp} \iota_{\text{nor}}(Ju_r Ju_k e_B u_k^* Ju_r^* J) = q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp} q_{\mathbb{K}}$$
 by Lemma 3.3.5. Therefore, we conclude that $\phi(x) = q_{\mathbb{K}}^{\perp} q_{\mathbb{K}} \iota_{\text{nor}}(x)$, as desired.

3.4 From relative amenability to rigidity

In this section, we show that for von Neumann algebras arising from Gaussian actions, the associated smalleable deformations converge uniformly on subalgebras that are amenable relative to the acting group, provided that the orthogonal representations are weakly contained in the left regular.

First we recall the construction of Gaussian actions and the associated s-malleable deformations [Fur07, PS12]. See e.g., [KL16] for details on Gaussian actions.

Let \mathscr{H} be a real Hilbert space, the Gaussian process gives a tracial abelian von Neumann algebra $A_{\mathscr{H}}$, together with an isometry $S:\mathscr{H}\to L^2_{\mathbb{R}}(A_{\mathscr{H}})$ so that orthogonal vectors are sent to independent Gaussian random variables, and so that the spectral projections of vectors in the range of S generate $A_{\mathscr{H}}$ as a von Neumann algebra.

In this case, the complexification of the isometry S extends to a unitary operator from the symmetric Fock space $\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{H}) = \mathbb{C}\Omega \oplus \bigoplus_{n=1}^{\infty} (\mathscr{H} \otimes \mathbb{C})^{\odot n}$ into $L^2(A_{\mathscr{H}})$. If $\mathscr{H} = \mathscr{H}_1 \oplus \mathscr{H}_2$, then conjugation by the unitary implementing the canonical isomorphism $\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{H}_1 \oplus \mathscr{H}_2) \cong \mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{H}_1) \overline{\otimes} \mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{H}_2)$ implements a canonical isomorphism $A_{\mathscr{H}_1 \oplus \mathscr{H}_2} \cong A_{\mathscr{H}_1} \overline{\otimes} A_{\mathscr{H}_2}$.

If $V: \mathcal{K} \to \mathcal{H}$ is an isometry, then we obtain an isometry $V^{\mathfrak{S}}: \mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{K}) \to \mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{H})$ on the level of the symmetric Fock spaces, and conjugation by this isometry gives an embedding of von Neumann algebras $\mathrm{Ad}(V^{\mathfrak{S}}): A_{\mathcal{K}} \to A_{\mathcal{H}}$. If V were a co-isometry the conjugation by $V^{\mathfrak{S}}$ implements instead a conditional expectation from $A_{\mathcal{H}}$ to $A_{\mathcal{K}}$. In particular, if $U \in \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{H})$ is an orthogonal operator, then we obtain a trace-

preserving *-isomorphism $\sigma_U = \operatorname{Ad}(U^{\mathfrak{S}}) \in \operatorname{Aut}(A_{\mathscr{H}})$. If $\pi : \Gamma \to \mathscr{O}(\mathscr{H})$ is an orthogonal representation, then the Gaussian action associated to π , denoted by σ_{π} , is given by $\Gamma \ni t \mapsto \sigma_{\pi(t)} \in \operatorname{Aut}(A_{\mathscr{H}})$. When π is the left regular representation, the Gaussian action coincides with the Bernoulli action with diffuse base.

Now let $\pi: \Gamma \to \mathscr{O}(\mathscr{H})$ be a fixed orthogonal representation of a countable group Γ and $\Gamma \curvearrowright \sigma_{\pi} A_{\mathscr{H}}$ the associated Gaussian action. We recall the construction of the s-malleable deformation from [PS12].

Consider orthogonal matrices

$$V = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathscr{O}(\mathscr{H} \oplus \mathscr{H}) \text{ and } U_t = \begin{pmatrix} \cos(\pi t/2) & -\sin(\pi t/2) \\ \sin(\pi t/2) & \cos(\pi t/2) \end{pmatrix} \in \mathscr{O}(\mathscr{H} \oplus \mathscr{H}),$$

for $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Let $\alpha_t = \sigma_{U_t}$ and $\beta = \sigma_V$ be the associated automorphisms of $A_{\mathscr{H} \oplus \mathscr{H}} \cong A_{\mathscr{H}} \otimes A_{\mathscr{H}}$, and both extend to $\operatorname{Aut}((A_{\mathscr{H}} \otimes A_{\mathscr{H}}) \rtimes_{\sigma_{\pi} \otimes \sigma_{\pi}} \Gamma)$, still denoted by α_t and β , as V and U_t commute with $(\pi \oplus \pi)(\Gamma)$ and $\sigma_{\pi \oplus \pi} = \sigma_{\pi} \otimes \sigma_{\pi}$. And α_t and β form a s-malleable deformation in the sense of Popa [Pop06c] for $M := A_{\mathscr{H}} \rtimes_{\sigma_{\pi}} \Gamma$ inside $\tilde{M} := (A_{\mathscr{H}} \otimes A_{\mathscr{H}}) \rtimes_{\sigma_{\pi} \otimes \sigma_{\pi}} \Gamma$.

The following is an abstraction of [Ioa15, Corollary 2.12]. Nevertheless we include the proof for completeness.

Lemma 3.4.1. Let (M, τ) be a tracial von Neumann algebra, $B \subset M$ and $N \subset pMp$ von Neumann subalgebras with $p \in \mathscr{P}(M)$. Suppose there exist another tracial von Neumann algebra $(\tilde{M}, \tilde{\tau})$ such that $M \subset \tilde{M}$ and $\tilde{\tau}_{|M} = \tau$, and a net of trace preserving automorphisms $\{\theta_t\}_{t \in \mathbb{R}} \subset \operatorname{Aut}(\tilde{M})$ such that $\theta_{t|B} \in \operatorname{Aut}(B)$, and such that $\theta_{t|M} \to \operatorname{id}_M$ in the point- $\|\cdot\|_2$ topology, as $t \to 0$. If N is amenable relative to B inside M, the for any $0 < \delta \le 1$, one of the following is true.

- 1. There exists $t_{\delta} > 0$ such that $\inf_{u \in \mathcal{U}(N)} \|E_M(\theta_{t_{\delta}}(u))\|_2 > (1 \delta) \|p\|_2$.
- 2. There exists a net $\{\eta_k\} \subset \mathcal{K}^{\perp}$, where \mathcal{K} is the closure of $Me_B\tilde{M}$ inside $L^2(\langle \tilde{M}, e_B \rangle)$, such that $\|x\eta_k \eta_k x\|_2 \to 0$ for all $x \in N$, $\limsup_k \|y\eta_k\|_2 \le 2\|y\|_2$ for all $y \in pMp$ and $\limsup_k \|p\eta_k\|_2 > 0$.

Proof. Since N is amenable relative to B, there exists a net $\{\xi_n\}_{n\in I}\in L^2(p\langle M,e_B\rangle p)$ such that $\|x\xi_n-\xi_nx\|_2\to 0$ for all $x\in N$ and $\langle y\xi_n,\xi_n\rangle, \langle \xi_ny,\xi_n\rangle\to \tau(y)$ for all $y\in pMp$ by [OP10a]. We may extend α_t to an automorphism on $\langle \tilde{M},e_B\rangle$ as α_t leaves B globally fixed. Denote by e the orthogonal projection from $L^2(\langle \tilde{M},e_B\rangle)$ to \mathcal{K} .

Claim. For any $x \in N$, $y \in \tilde{M}$, $t \in \mathbb{R}$, we have

- 1. $\lim_n \|y\alpha_t(\xi_n)\|_2^2 = \tau(y^*y\alpha_t(p)) \le \|y\|_2^2$ and $\lim_n \|\alpha_t(\xi_n)y\|_2^2 = \tau(yy^*\alpha_t(p)) \le \|y\|_2^2$.
- 2. $\limsup_{n} ||y(e\alpha_t(\xi_n))||_2 \le ||y||_2$.

3. $\limsup_{n} \|x\alpha_{t}(\xi_{n}) - \alpha_{t}(\xi_{n})x\|_{2} \leq 2\|\alpha_{t}(x) - x\|_{2}$.

Proof of the claim. (1) Note that since $\xi_n \in p\mathcal{K}$, we have

$$||y\alpha_t(\xi_n)||_2^2 = \langle \alpha_t^{-1}(y^*y)\xi_n, \xi_n \rangle = \langle E_M(\alpha_t^{-1}(y^*y))p\xi_n, p\xi_n \rangle \to \tau(pE_M(\alpha_t^{-1}(y^*y))p) = \tau(y^*y\alpha_t(p)),$$

and the second one follows similarly.

(2) Observe that $(\tilde{M} \ominus M) \mathcal{K} \perp \mathcal{K}$, and hence

$$||ye\alpha_t(\xi_n)||_2^2 = \langle y^*ye\alpha_t(\xi_n), e\alpha_t(\xi_n) \rangle = \langle E_M(y^*y)e\alpha_t(\xi_n), e\alpha_t(\xi_n) \rangle$$
$$= \langle eE_M(y^*y)^{1/2}\alpha_t(\xi_n), eE_M(y^*y)^{1/2}\alpha_t(\xi_n) \rangle \leq ||E_M(y^*y)^{1/2}\alpha_t(\xi_n)||_2^2,$$

and $||E_M(y^*y)^{1/2}\alpha_t(\xi_n)||_2 \le ||E_M(y^*y)^{1/2}||_2 = ||y||_2$ by (1).

(3) Compute

$$||x\alpha_t(\xi_n) - \alpha_t(\xi_n)x||_2 \le ||(x - \alpha_t(x))\alpha_t(\xi_n)||_2 + ||\alpha_t(\xi_n)(x - \alpha_t(x))||_2 + ||x\xi_n - \xi_n x||_2$$

For each pair of (t,n) with t > 0 and $n \in \mathbb{N}$, let $\eta_{t,n} = \alpha_t(\xi_n) - e\alpha_t(\xi_n)$. Fix a $0 < \delta \le 1$ and consider the following two cases.

Case 1. There exists t > 0 such that $\limsup_{n} \|\eta_{t,n}\|_2 < \delta \|p\|_2/2$.

Case 2. For all t > 0, $\limsup_{n} \|\eta_{t,n}\|_2 \ge \delta \|p\|_2/2$.

In Case 1, fix $x \in \mathcal{U}(N)$ and compute

$$||E_{M}(\alpha_{t}(x))\alpha_{t}(\xi_{n})||_{2} \geq ||eE_{M}(\alpha_{t}(x))\alpha_{t}(\xi_{n})||_{2} = ||e\alpha_{t}(x)e\alpha_{t}(\xi_{n})||_{2} \geq ||e\alpha_{t}(x)\alpha_{t}(\xi_{n})||_{2} - ||\eta_{t,n}||_{2}$$
$$\geq ||e(\alpha_{t}(\xi_{n})\alpha_{t}(x))||_{2} - ||x\xi_{n} - \xi_{n}x||_{2} - ||\eta_{t,n}||_{2},$$

and

$$\|e(\alpha_t(\xi_n)\alpha_t(x))\|_2 = \|e(\alpha_t(\xi_n))\alpha_t(x)\|_2 \ge \|\alpha_t(\xi_n)\alpha_t(x)\|_2 - \|\eta_{t,n}\|_2 = \|\xi_n x\|_2 - \|\eta_{t,n}\|_2.$$

Altogether, we conclude that for any $x \in \mathcal{U}(N)$,

$$||E_{M}(\alpha_{t}(x))||_{2} \geq \lim_{n} ||E_{M}(\alpha_{t}(x))\alpha_{t}(\xi_{n})||_{2} \geq \lim_{n} \inf(||\xi_{n}x||_{2} - 2||\eta_{t,n}||_{2} - ||x\xi_{n} - \xi_{n}x||_{2})$$

$$= ||p||_{2} - 2\lim\sup_{n} ||\eta_{t,n}||_{2} - \lim\sup_{n} ||x\xi_{n} - \xi_{n}x||_{2} > (1 - \delta)||p||_{2}.$$

In Case 2, let $k = (X, Y, \varepsilon)$ be a triple such that $X \subset N$, $Y \subset pMp$ are finite subsets and $\varepsilon > 0$. Then we

may find $0 < t_k \le 1$ such that $||x - \alpha_{t_k}(x)||_2 < \varepsilon/2$ for all $x \in X$ and $||\alpha_{t_k}(p) - p||_2 < (1 - \sqrt{1 - \delta^2/4})||p||_2/2$. Observe that for any $x \in X$

$$||x\eta_{t_k,n} - \eta_{t_k,n}x||_2 = ||(1-e)(x\alpha_{t_k}(\xi_n) - \alpha_{t_k}(\xi_n)x)||_2 \le ||x\alpha_{t_k}(\xi_n) - \alpha_{t_k}(\xi_n)x||_2,$$

and by (3)

$$\limsup_{n} \|x\alpha_{t_k}(\xi_n) - \alpha_{t_k}(\xi_n)x\|_2 \leq 2\|x - \alpha_{t_k}(x)\|_2 < \varepsilon.$$

For $y \in Y$, by (1) and (2) we have

$$||y\eta_{t_k,n}||_2 \le ||y\alpha_{t_k}(\xi_n)||_2 + ||ye\alpha_{t_k}(\xi_n)||_2 \le 2||y||_2.$$

Furthermore, from (1) we also have

$$\limsup_{n} \|p\eta_{t_{k},n}\| \ge \limsup_{n} (\|p\alpha_{t_{k}}(\xi_{n})\|_{2} - \|e\alpha_{t_{k}}(\xi_{n})\|_{2}) = \|p\alpha_{t_{k}}(p)\|_{2} - \liminf_{n} \|e\alpha_{t_{k}}(\xi_{n})\|_{2},$$

and

$$\liminf_{n} \|e\alpha_{t_k}(\xi_n)\|_2^2 = \liminf_{n} (\|\alpha_{t_k}(\xi_n)\|_2^2 - \|\eta_{t_k,n}\|_2^2) = \lim_{n} \|\xi_n\|_2^2 - \limsup_{n} \|\eta_{t_k,n}\|_2^2 \le (1 - \delta^2/4) \|p\|_2^2.$$

It follows that

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{n} \|p\eta_{t_{k},n}\| &\geq \|p\alpha_{t_{k}}(p)\|_{2} - \sqrt{1 - \delta^{2}/4} \|p\|_{2} \\ &\geq \|p\|_{2} - \|p - \alpha_{t_{k}}(p)\|_{2} - \sqrt{1 - \delta^{2}/4} \|p\|_{2} \\ &> (1 - \sqrt{1 - \delta^{2}/4}) \|p\|_{2}/2. \end{split}$$

Altogether, we may find some $n \in I$ such that by putting $\eta_k = \eta_{t_k,n}$ we have

- 1. $||x\eta_k \eta_k x||_2 \le \varepsilon$ for all $x \in X$,
- 2. $||y\eta_k||_2 \le 2||y||_2 + \varepsilon$ for all $y \in Y$,
- 3. $\|p\eta_k\| \ge (1 \sqrt{1 \delta^2/4}) \|p\|_2/2$.

Proposition 3.4.2. Let Γ be a nonamenable group and $\pi: \Gamma \to \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{H})$ be a orthogonal representation such that $\pi \prec \lambda$. Denote by $\Gamma \curvearrowright {}^{\sigma_{\pi}}A_{\mathcal{H}}$ the associated Gaussian action and $M = A_{\mathcal{H}} \rtimes_{\sigma_{\pi}} \Gamma$. Suppose $N \subset pMp$ is a von Neumann subalgebra, for some $p \in \mathcal{P}(M)$, with no amenable direct summand, such that N is amenable

relative to $L\Gamma$ inside M. Then we have $\alpha_t \to id_N$ uniformly on the unit ball of N as $t \to 0$, where α_t is the s-malleable deformation described above.

Proof. Let $\tilde{M} = (A_{\mathscr{H}} \otimes A_{\mathscr{H}}) \rtimes_{\sigma_{\pi} \otimes \sigma_{\pi}} \Gamma$ and α_{t} , $\beta \in \operatorname{Aut}(\tilde{M})$ be as above. Suppose there exists some $0 < \delta \leq 1$ such that case (1) of Lemma 3.4.1 does not hold. Then we have that there exists $\{\eta_{k}\} \in \mathscr{K}^{\perp}$ as in the second case of Lemma 3.4.1. Note that the M-M bimodule $L^{2}(\langle \tilde{M}, e_{L\Gamma} \rangle) \ominus \mathscr{K}$ is isomorphic to $L^{2}(\tilde{M} \ominus M) \otimes_{L\Gamma} L^{2}\tilde{M}$. It is shown in [Bou12, Lemma 3.3] that $L^{2}(\tilde{M} \ominus M)$ is weakly contained in the coarse M-M bimodule as $\pi \prec \lambda$, and hence we have

$$L^2(\langle \tilde{M}, e_{L\Gamma} \rangle) \ominus \mathcal{K} \prec L^2 M \otimes (L^2 M \otimes_{L\Gamma} L^2 \tilde{M}) \prec L^2 M \otimes L^2 M$$

as M-M bimodules. It follows that there exists a u.c.p. map

$$\phi: \mathbb{B}(L^2M) \to \mathbb{B}(L^2(\langle \tilde{M}, e_{L\Gamma} \rangle) \ominus \mathscr{K}) \cap (M^{\mathrm{op}})',$$

such that $\phi_{|M}=\operatorname{id}_M.$ Therefore, we obtain a state φ on $\mathbb{B}(L^2M)$ given by

$$\varphi(\cdot) = \lim_{k} \|p\eta_k\|_2^{-2} \langle \varphi(\cdot)p\eta_k, p\eta_k \rangle,$$

which is N-central and restricts to a normal state on pMp. This contradicts the assumption that N has no amenable direct summands.

Therefore, we have that $\lim_{t\to 0}\inf_{u\in\mathscr{U}(N)}\|E_M(\alpha_t(u))\|_2 = \|p\|_2$. It follows that $\sup_{u\in\mathscr{U}(N)}\|\alpha_t(u) - E_M(\alpha_t(u))\|_2 \to 0$ as $t\to 0$ and hence $\alpha_t\to \mathrm{id}$ uniformly on $(N)_1$ by Popa's transversality inequality [Pop08, Lemma 2.1].

Corollary 3.4.3. Let $M, p \in \mathcal{P}(M)$ and $N \subset pMp$ be as in Proposition 3.4.2. Denote $Q = \mathcal{N}_{pMp}(N)''$. If π is mixing, then $Q \prec_M L\Gamma$. Moreover, if Γ is an i.c.c. group, then there exists $u \in \mathcal{U}(M)$ such that $u^*Qu \subset L\Gamma$. Proof. Since $A_{\mathscr{H}}$ is abelian, N is diffuse and Q is type II₁, the assertion $Q \prec_M L\Gamma$ follows directly from [Bou12, Theroem 3.4] and Proposition 3.4.2. And the proof for the moreover part is contained in [Bou13, Proposition 2.3].

3.5 Proofs of main theorems

Now we are ready to prove Theorem 3.1.5 and its corollaries.

Proof. First we may realize M as $L(\mathbb{Z}\wr\Gamma)$ and note that $\mathbb{Z}\wr\Gamma$ is biexact relative to Γ [BO08, Corollary 15.3.9]. By Proposition 3.2.3 we have that $N\subset M$ is properly proximal relative to $\mathbb{X}_{L\Gamma}$ as N has no amenable direct

summand, where $\mathbb{X}_{L\Gamma}$ is the M-boundary piece associated with $L\Gamma$. Moreover, since $\Gamma < \mathbb{Z} \wr \Gamma$ is almost malnormal and N has no properly proximal direct summand, we have N is amenable relative to $L\Gamma$ inside M by Proposition 3.3.1. The rest follows from Proposition 3.4.2 by setting $\pi = \lambda$.

Proof of Theorem 3.1.2. Let $\sigma: \Gamma \curvearrowright X$ be the Bernoulli action, $M = L^{\infty}(X) \rtimes_{\sigma} \Gamma$. Set $\tilde{M} = (L^{\infty}(X) \overline{\otimes} L^{\infty}(X)) \rtimes_{\tilde{\sigma}} \Gamma$, where $\tilde{\sigma} = \sigma \otimes \sigma$. If we denote by $\sigma_t \in \mathscr{U}(L^2(X))$ for each $t \in \Gamma$ the unitary that implements the action σ , then we have $M \subset \tilde{M}$ is generated by canonical unitaries $\{u_t = \tilde{\sigma}_t \otimes \lambda_t \mid t \in \Gamma\}$ and $L^{\infty}(X) \otimes \mathbb{C}$, where $\tilde{\sigma}_t = \sigma_t \otimes \sigma_t$.

Let $\Gamma_0 < \Gamma$ be a nonamenable wq-normal subgroup that is not properly proximal. If $\omega : \Gamma \times X \to \mathbb{T}$ is a 1-cocycle associated with σ , then for each $t \in \Gamma$, we may consider $\omega_t \in \mathscr{U}(L^{\infty}(X))$ given by $\omega_t(x) = \omega(t, t^{-1}x)$ and $\widetilde{L(\Gamma_0)} := \{\widetilde{u}_t := \omega_t u_t \mid t \in \Gamma_0\}'' \subset M$, which is a von Neumann subalgebra isomorphic to $L(\Gamma_0)$.

Since $L(\Gamma_0) \cong L(\Gamma_0)$ has no amenable and no properly proximal direct summand by Remark 3.2.2, it follows from Theorem 3.1.5 that α_t converges to identity uniformly on the unit ball of $L(\Gamma_0)$. The result follows from [Pop07a].

Proof of Theorem 3.1.1. This is an immediate result of Theorem 3.1.2 and [PS12, Theorem 1.1]. \Box

Proof of Theorem 3.1.3. Since Λ is exact, we have $L^{\infty}(Y) \rtimes_r \Lambda$ is an exact C*-algebra (e.g. [BO08, Theorem 10.2.9]) and it follows that $(L^{\infty}(X) \rtimes \Gamma)^t \cong L^{\infty}(Y) \rtimes \Lambda$ is a weakly exact von Neumann algebra [Kir95]. Since weak exactness is stable under amplifications and passes to von Neumann subalgebras (with normal conditional expectations) [BO08, Corollary 14.1.5], we have $L\Gamma$ is weakly exact, which implies Γ is exact [Oza07].

Let $M = L^{\infty}(X) \rtimes \Gamma$, $N = L^{\infty}(Y) \rtimes \Lambda$ and $\Lambda_0 \lhd \Lambda$ be the nonamenable normal subgroup that is not properly proximal. Since $N \cong M^t$, we may denote by $\theta : N^{1/t} \to M$ a *-isomorphism, and identify $N^{1/t}$ with $p\mathbb{M}_n(N)p$, where $n = \lceil 1/t \rceil$, $p = \operatorname{diag}(1, \dots, 1, p_0) \in \mathbb{M}_n(N)$ and $p_0 \in L(\Lambda_0)$ with $\tau_N(p_0) = 1/t - \lfloor 1/t \rfloor$.

Note that by Remark 3.2.2, $\theta(p\mathbb{M}_n(L(\Lambda_0))p) \subset M$ satisfies the assumption of Theorem 3.1.5, and hence by Corollary 3.4.3 we may find some $u \in \mathscr{U}(M)$ such that $\alpha(p\mathbb{M}_n(L\Lambda)p) \subset L\Gamma$, where $\alpha := \mathrm{Ad}(u) \circ \theta$. Set $e = \mathrm{diag}(1,0,\ldots,0) \in \mathbb{M}_n(L\Lambda)$ and we have $\alpha(L\Lambda) = \alpha(e\mathbb{M}_n(L\Lambda)e) \subset qL\Gamma q$, where $q = \alpha(e) \in L\Gamma$ and $\tau_M(q) = \tau_{N^{1/t}}(e) = t$.

It then follows from Popa's conjugacy criterion for Bernoulli actions [Pop06d, Theorem 0.7] (see also [Ioa11, Theorem 6.3]) that t=1 and there exist a unitary $v\in M$, a character $\eta\in\Lambda$ and a group isomorphism $\delta:\Lambda\to\Gamma$ such that $\alpha(L^\infty(Y))=vL^\infty(X)v^*$ and $\alpha(\lambda_t)=\eta(t)v\lambda_{\delta(t)}v^*$ for any $t\in\Lambda$.

Proof of Theorem 3.1.4. A direct consequence of Theorem 3.1.3, [IPR19] and [Oza07]. □

References

- [AD87] C. Anantharaman-Delaroche, *Systèmes dynamiques non commutatifs et moyennabilité*, Math. Ann. **279** (1987), no. 2, 297–315.
- [AD95] ______, Amenable correspondences and approximation properties for von Neumann algebras, Pacific J. Math. **171** (1995), no. 2, 309–341.
- [ADR00] C. Anantharaman-Delaroche and J. Renault, *Amenable groupoids*, Monographies de L'Enseignement Mathématique, vol. 36, L'Enseignement Mathématique, Geneva, 2000, With a foreword by Georges Skandalis and Appendix B by E. Germain.
 - [AO75] Charles A. Akemann and Phillip A. Ostrand, *On a tensor product C*-algebra associated with the free group on two generators*, J. Math. Soc. Japan **27** (1975), no. 4, 589–599.
 - [AP18] Claire Anantharaman and Sorin Popa, *An introduction to II*₁ *factors*, book preprint, https://www.math.ucla.edu/popa/Books/IIunV15.pdf, 2018.
- [Arv77] William Arveson, Notes on extensions of C*-algebras, Duke Math. J. 44 (1977), no. 2, 329–355.
- [BC15] Rémi Boutonnet and Alessandro Carderi, *Maximal amenable von Neumann subalgebras arising from maximal amenable subgroups*, Geom. Funct. Anal. **25** (2015), no. 6, 1688–1705.
- [BCI17] Rémi Boutonnet, Ionuţ Chifan, and Adrian Ioana, II_1 factors with nonisomorphic ultrapowers, Duke Math. J. **166** (2017), no. 11, 2023–2051.
- [Bek90] Mohammed E. B. Bekka, *Amenable unitary representations of locally compact groups*, Invent. Math. **100** (1990), no. 2, 383–401.
- [BEW19] Alcides Buss, Siegfried Echterhoff, and Rufus Willett, *Injectivity, crossed products, and amenable group actions*, 2019, arXiv:1904.06771.
 - [BF11] Jon P. Bannon and Junsheng Fang, *Some remarks on Haagerup's approximation property*, J. Operator Theory **65** (2011), no. 2, 403–417.
- [BIP21] Rémi Boutonnet, Adrian Ioana, and Jesse Peterson, *Properly proximal groups and their von Neumann algebras*, Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4) **54** (2021), no. 2, 445–482.
- [Bla06] B. Blackadar, *Operator algebras*, Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences, vol. 122, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2006, Theory of *C**-algebras and von Neumann algebras, Operator Algebras and Non-commutative Geometry, III.
- [BMO20] Jon Bannon, Amine Marrakchi, and Narutaka Ozawa, *Full factors and co-amenable inclusions*, Comm. Math. Phys. **378** (2020), no. 2, 1107–1121.
 - [BO08] Nathanial P. Brown and Narutaka Ozawa, *C*-algebras and finite-dimensional approximations*, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, vol. 88, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2008
- [Bou12] Rémi Boutonnet, On solid ergodicity for Gaussian actions, J. Funct. Anal. 263 (2012), no. 4, 1040–1063.
- [Bou13] _____, W*-superrigidity of mixing Gaussian actions of rigid groups, Adv. Math. **244** (2013), 69–90. MR 3077866
- [Bou14] ______, Several rigidity features of von Neumann algebras, Theses, Ecole normale supérieure de lyon ENS LYON, 2014.

- [BS92] David P. Blecher and Roger R. Smith, *The dual of the Haagerup tensor product*, J. London Math. Soc. (2) **45** (1992), no. 1, 126–144.
- [Cas21] Martijn Caspers, *Gradient forms and strong solidity of free quantum groups*, Math. Ann. **379** (2021), no. 1-2, 271–324.
- [CES87] Erik Christensen, Edward G. Effros, and Allan Sinclair, *Completely bounded multilinear maps* and C*-algebraic cohomology, Invent. Math. **90** (1987), no. 2, 279–296.
- [Cho83] Marie Choda, *Group factors of the Haagerup type*, Proc. Japan Acad. Ser. A Math. Sci. **59** (1983), no. 5, 174–177.
- [CI10] Ionut Chifan and Adrian Ioana, *Ergodic subequivalence relations induced by a Bernoulli action*, Geom. Funct. Anal. **20** (2010), no. 1, 53–67.
- [Con76a] A. Connes, Classification of injective factors. Cases II_1 , II_{∞} , III_{λ} , $\lambda \neq 1$, Ann. of Math. (2) **104** (1976), no. 1, 73–115.
- [Con76b] ______, On the classification of von Neumann algebras and their automorphisms, Symposia Mathematica, Vol. XX, 1976, pp. 435–478.
- [Con78] _____, On the cohomology of operator algebras, J. Functional Analysis **28** (1978), no. 2, 248–253.
- [Con80] _____, A factor of type II₁ with countable fundamental group, J. Operator Theory **4** (1980), no. 1, 151–153.
- [CP13] Ionut Chifan and Jesse Peterson, *Some unique group-measure space decomposition results*, Duke Math. J. **162** (2013), no. 11, 1923–1966.
- [CS13] Ionut Chifan and Thomas Sinclair, On the structural theory of II₁ factors of negatively curved groups, Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4) **46** (2013), no. 1, 1–33 (2013).
- [CSU13] Ionut Chifan, Thomas Sinclair, and Bogdan Udrea, On the structural theory of II₁ factors of negatively curved groups, II: Actions by product groups, Adv. Math. **245** (2013), 208–236. MR 3084428
- [CW80] A. Connes and B. Weiss, *Property T and asymptotically invariant sequences*, Israel J. Math. **37** (1980), no. 3, 209–210.
- [Dav88] Kenneth R. Davidson, *Nest algebras*, Pitman Research Notes in Mathematics Series, vol. 191, Longman Scientific & Technical, Harlow; copublished in the United States with John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1988, Triangular forms for operator algebras on Hilbert space.
- [DE21] Changying Ding and Srivatsav Kunnawalkam Elayavalli, *Proper proximality for various families of groups*, arXiv:2107.02917, 2021.
- [Din22] Changying Ding, First ℓ^2 -betti number and proper proximality, 2022, In preparation.
- [DKE21] Changying Ding and Srivatsav Kunnawalkam Elayavalli, *Proper proximality for various families of groups*, 2021.
- [DKE22] _____, An upgrading theorem for properly proximal von Neumann algebras, 2022, In preparation.
- [DKEP22] Changying Ding, Srivatsav Kunnawalkam Elayavalli, and Jesse Peterson, *Properly proximal von Neumann algebras*, 2022, arXiv:2204.00517.
 - [DL92] E. Brian Davies and J. Martin Lindsay, *Noncommutative symmetric Markov semigroups*, Math. Z. **210** (1992), no. 3, 379–411.

- [DL07] Warren Dicks and Peter A. Linnell, L^2 -Betti numbers of one-relator groups, Math. Ann. 337 (2007), no. 4, 855–874. MR 2285740
- [DP20] Sayan Das and Jesse Peterson, *Poisson boundaries of* II₁ *factors*, arXiv:2009.11787, to appear in Compositio Mathematica, 2020.
- [DP22] Changying Ding and Jesse Peterson, *Biexactness for von Neumann algebras*, in preparation, 2022.
- [Dri22] Daniel Drimbe, Measure equivalence rigidity via s-malleable deformations, 2022.
- [dSHHS21] Rolando de Santiago, Ben Hayes, Daniel J. Hoff, and Thomas Sinclair, *Maximal rigid subalge-bras of deformations and L*²-cohomology, Anal. PDE **14** (2021), no. 7, 2269–2306.
- [DTDW20] Bruno Duchesne, Robin Tucker-Drob, and Phillip Wesolek, A new lattice invariant for lattices in totally disconnected locally compact groups, Israel J. Math. 240 (2020), no. 2, 539–565. MR 4193142
 - [DV18] Tobe Deprez and Stefaan Vaes, *Inner amenability, property gamma, McDuff* II₁ *factors and stable equivalence relations*, Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems **38** (2018), no. 7, 2618–2624.
 - [Dye59] H. A. Dye, On groups of measure preserving transformations. I, Amer. J. Math. 81 (1959), 119–159.
 - [Dye63] _____, On groups of measure preserving transformations. II, Amer. J. Math. **85** (1963), 551–576.
 - [Eff75] Edward G. Effros, *Property* Γ *and inner amenability*, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. **47** (1975), 483–486.
 - [ER88] Edward G. Effros and Zhong-Jin Ruan, *Representations of operator bimodules and their applications*, J. Operator Theory **19** (1988), no. 1, 137–158.
 - [FM77] Jacob Feldman and Calvin C. Moore, *Ergodic equivalence relations, cohomology, and von Neumann algebras. II*, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **234** (1977), no. 2, 325–359. MR 578730
 - [Fur07] Alex Furman, *On Popa's cocycle superrigidity theorem*, Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN (2007), no. 19, Art. ID rnm073, 46.
 - [FV15] Pierre Fima and Roland Vergnioux, A cocycle in the adjoint representation of the orthogonal free quantum groups, Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN (2015), no. 20, 10069–10094.
 - [Gab00] Damien Gaboriau, $Sur la (co-)homologie L^2$ des actions préservant une mesure, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. **330** (2000), no. 5, 365–370.
 - [Gab10] ______, Orbit equivalence and measured group theory, Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians. Volume III, Hindustan Book Agency, New Delhi, 2010, pp. 1501– 1527.
 - [Ge96] Liming Ge, Prime factors, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 93 (1996), no. 23, 12762–12763.
- [GHW05] Erik Guentner, Nigel Higson, and Shmuel Weinberger, *The Novikov conjecture for linear groups*, Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. (2005), no. 101, 243–268. MR 2217050
 - [Gue02] Erik Guentner, Exactness of the one relator groups, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 130 (2002), no. 4, 1087–1093. MR 1873783
- [HHL20] Camille Horbez, Jingyin Huang, and Jean Lécureux, *Proper proximality in non-positive curva-ture*, arXiv:2005.08756, 2020.

- [HI16] Cyril Houdayer and Yusuke Isono, *Bi-exact groups, strongly ergodic actions and group measure space type III factors with no central sequence*, Comm. Math. Phys. **348** (2016), no. 3, 991–1015.
- [HPP22] Patrick Hiatt, Jesse Peterson, and Sorin Popa, *Some classes of smooth bimodules over* II₁ *factors and their associated 1-cohomology spaces*, in preparation, 2022.
- [Ioa11] Adrian Ioana, W^* -superrigidity for Bernoulli actions of property (T) groups, J. Amer. Math. Soc. **24** (2011), no. 4, 1175–1226. MR 2813341
- [Ioa12a] _____, Compact actions and uniqueness of the group measure space decomposition of II_1 factors, J. Funct. Anal. **262** (2012), no. 10, 4525–4533. MR 2900475
- [Ioa12b] ______, Uniqueness of the group measure space decomposition for Popa's $\mathscr{H}\mathscr{T}$ factors, Geom. Funct. Anal. **22** (2012), no. 3, 699–732. MR 2972606
- [Ioa15] ______, Cartan subalgebras of amalgamated free product II₁ factors, Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4) **48** (2015), no. 1, 71–130, With an appendix by Ioana and Stefaan Vaes. MR 3335839
- [Ioa18] ______, Rigidity for von neumann algebras, Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians. Volume II, 2018, pp. 1635–1668.
- [IPR19] Ishan Ishan, Jesse Peterson, and Lauren Ruth, *Von Neumann equivalence and properly proximal groups*, arXiv:1910.08682, 2019.
- [Jol02] Paul Jolissaint, *Haagerup approximation property for finite von Neumann algebras*, J. Operator Theory **48** (2002), no. 3, suppl., 549–571.
- [JP72] B. E. Johnson and S. K. Parrott, *Operators commuting with a von Neumann algebra modulo the set of compact operators*, J. Functional Analysis **11** (1972), 39–61.
- [Kir95] Eberhard Kirchberg, Exact C*-algebras, tensor products, and the classification of purely infinite algebras, Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians, Vol. 1, 2 (Zürich, 1994), Birkhäuser, Basel, 1995, pp. 943–954.
- [KL16] David Kerr and Hanfeng Li, *Ergodic theory*, Springer Monographs in Mathematics, Springer, Cham, 2016, Independence and dichotomies.
- [Mag97] Bojan Magajna, *Strong operator modules and the Haagerup tensor product*, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) **74** (1997), no. 1, 201–240.
- [Mag98] _____, A topology for operator modules over W^* -algebras, J. Funct. Anal. **154** (1998), no. 1, 17–41.
- [Mag00] _____, C*-convex sets and completely bounded bimodule homomorphisms, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A **130** (2000), no. 2, 375–387.
- [Mag05] _____, Duality and normal parts of operator modules, J. Funct. Anal. **219** (2005), no. 2, 306–339.
- [McD69a] Dusa McDuff, A countable infinity of Π_1 factors, Ann. of Math. (2) **90** (1969), 361–371.
- [McD69b] _____, Uncountably many II₁ factors, Ann. of Math. (2) **90** (1969), 372–377.
 - [MP03] Nicolas Monod and Sorin Popa, *On co-amenability for groups and von Neumann algebras*, C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Soc. R. Can. **25** (2003), no. 3, 82–87.
 - [MR17] Tao Mei and Éric Ricard, *Free Hilbert transforms*, Duke Mathematical Journal **166** (2017), no. 11, 2153 2182.
- [MvN36] F. J. Murray and J. v. Neumann, *On rings of operators*, Annals of Mathematics **37** (1936), no. 1, 116–229.

- [MvN37] F. J. Murray and J. von Neumann, *On rings of operators. ii*, Transactions of the American Mathematical Society **41** (1937), no. 2, 208–248.
- [MvN43a] _____, On rings of operators. iv, Annals of Mathematics 44 (1943), no. 4, 716–808.
- [MvN43b] F. J. Murray and J. von Neumann, On rings of operators. IV, Ann. of Math. (2) 44 (1943), 716–808.
- [OOT17] Rui Okayasu, Narutaka Ozawa, and Reiji Tomatsu, *Haagerup approximation property via bi-modules*, Math. Scand. **121** (2017), no. 1, 75–91.
- [OP10a] Narutaka Ozawa and Sorin Popa, *On a class of* II₁ *factors with at most one Cartan subalgebra*, Ann. of Math. (2) **172** (2010), no. 1, 713–749.
- [OP10b] _____, On a class of II_1 factors with at most one Cartan subalgebra, II, Amer. J. Math. 132 (2010), no. 3, 841–866.
- [Oza04] Narutaka Ozawa, Solid von Neumann algebras, Acta Math. 192 (2004), no. 1, 111-117.
- [Oza07] _____, Weakly exact von Neumann algebras, J. Math. Soc. Japan **59** (2007), no. 4, 985–991.
- [Oza10] ______, *A comment on free group factors*, Noncommutative harmonic analysis with applications to probability II, Banach Center Publ., vol. 89, Polish Acad. Sci. Inst. Math., Warsaw, 2010, pp. 241–245.
- [Oza16] ______, A remark on fullness of some group measure space von Neumann algebras, Compos. Math. **152** (2016), no. 12, 2493–2502.
- [Pau02] Vern Paulsen, *Completely bounded maps and operator algebras*, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, vol. 78, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2002.
- [Pet09a] Jesse Peterson, A 1-cohomology characterization of property (T) in von Neumann algebras, Pacific J. Math. **243** (2009), no. 1, 181–199.
- [Pet09b] _____, L^2 -rigidity in von Neumann algebras, Invent. Math. 175 (2009), no. 2, 417–433.
- [Pop86] Sorin Popa, *Correspondences*, INCREST preprint No. 56/1986, 1986, www.math.ucla.edu/~popa/preprints.html.
- [Pop87] _____, The commutant modulo the set of compact operators of a von Neumann algebra, J. Funct. Anal. **71** (1987), no. 2, 393–408.
- [Pop06a] _____, On a class of type II_1 factors with Betti numbers invariants, Ann. of Math. (2) **163** (2006), no. 3, 809–899.
- [Pop06b] _____, Some rigidity results for non-commutative Bernoulli shifts, J. Funct. Anal. **230** (2006), no. 2, 273–328.
- [Pop06c] ______, Strong rigidity of II_1 factors arising from malleable actions of w-rigid groups. I, Invent. Math. **165** (2006), no. 2, 369–408.
- [Pop06d] ______, Strong rigidity of II_1 factors arising from malleable actions of w-rigid groups. II, Invent. Math. **165** (2006), no. 2, 409–451.
- [Pop07a] ______, Cocycle and orbit equivalence superrigidity for malleable actions of w-rigid groups, Invent. Math. 170 (2007), no. 2, 243–295.
- [Pop07b] ______, Deformation and rigidity for group actions and von Neumann algebras, International Congress of Mathematicians. Vol. I, Eur. Math. Soc., Zürich, 2007, pp. 445–477.
- [Pop07c] ______, On Ozawa's property for free group factors, Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN (2007), no. 11, Art. ID rnm036, 10.

- [Pop08] _____, On the superrigidity of malleable actions with spectral gap, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 21 (2008), no. 4, 981–1000.
- [Pop10] _____, On spectral gap rigidity and Connes invariant $\chi(M)$, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 138 (2010), no. 10, 3531–3539.
- [Pop21] _____, UCLA lecture notes, seminar: Functional analysis, January 8, 2021.
- [PS12] Jesse Peterson and Thomas Sinclair, *On cocycle superrigidity for Gaussian actions*, Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems **32** (2012), no. 1, 249–272.
- [PV14a] Sorin Popa and Stefaan Vaes, *Unique Cartan decomposition for* II₁ *factors arising from arbitrary actions of free groups*, Acta Math. **212** (2014), no. 1, 141–198.
- [PV14b] _____, Unique Cartan decomposition for II₁ factors arising from arbitrary actions of hyperbolic groups, J. Reine Angew. Math. **694** (2014), 215–239.
- [Sau83] Jean-Luc Sauvageot, Sur le produit tensoriel relatif d'espaces de Hilbert, J. Operator Theory 9 (1983), no. 2, 237–252.
- [Sau90] ______, Quantum Dirichlet forms, differential calculus and semigroups, Quantum probability and applications, V (Heidelberg, 1988), Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1442, Springer, Berlin, 1990, pp. 334–346.
- [Sau99] _____, Strong Feller semigroups on C*-algebras, J. Operator Theory **42** (1999), no. 1, 83–102.
- [Sin55] I. M. Singer, Automorphisms of finite factors, Amer. J. Math. 77 (1955), 117–133.
- [Sin11] Thomas Sinclair, *Strong solidity of group factors from lattices in* SO(n, 1) *and* SU(n, 1), J. Funct. Anal. **260** (2011), no. 11, 3209–3221.
- [Smi91] R. R. Smith, Completely bounded module maps and the Haagerup tensor product, J. Funct. Anal. **102** (1991), no. 1, 156–175.
- [SZ79] Şerban Strătilă and László Zsidó, *Lectures on von Neumann algebras*, Editura Academiei, Bucharest; Abacus Press, Tunbridge Wells, 1979, Revision of the 1975 original, Translated from the Romanian by Silviu Teleman.
- [TD20] Robin D. Tucker-Drob, *Invariant means and the structure of inner amenable groups*, Duke Math. J. **169** (2020), no. 13, 2571–2628. MR 4142752
- [Vae10] Stefaan Vaes, *Rigidity for von Neumann algebras and their invariants*, Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians. Volume III, Hindustan Book Agency, New Delhi, 2010, pp. 1624–1650.
- [Vae12] _____, An inner amenable group whose von Neumann algebra does not have property Gamma, Acta Math. **208** (2012), no. 2, 389–394.
- [Vae13] _____, One-cohomology and the uniqueness of the group measure space decomposition of a II $_1$ factor, Math. Ann. **355** (2013), no. 2, 661–696. MR 3010143
- [vN40] J. v. Neumann, On rings of operators. iii, Annals of Mathematics 41 (1940), no. 1, 94–161.
- [Voi96] D. Voiculescu, *The analogues of entropy and of Fisher's information measure in free probability theory. III. The absence of Cartan subalgebras*, Geom. Funct. Anal. **6** (1996), no. 1, 172–199.